0KG Technology Holdings Limite
BRI EHEERBIRAS] r

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RHSEESEMBIIZERAF)
Stock Code B&fA1X5% - 1499

Annual Report

2021

F IR



Corporate Information

Chairman’s Statement

Management Discussion and Analysis

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Corporate Governance Report

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Directors’ Report

Independent Auditors’ Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Five Years Financial Summary

REER

ESENERS

EEEFmRDN

13
t

=

A

SREEEBEFE

E=

o>
O

E4

>

~

RIE-HERERARS

R BRI EE

AFEHHEHRE

Contents

=k

23

30

57
101
131
140
141
143
144
146

253

HMEBZERERAE

- —EER



Corporate Information

AEER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xu Mingxing

Mr. Tang Yue (appointed on 20 July 2020)
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang

Executive Director

Mr. Ren Yunan (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Zhouxin

Mr. Lee Man Chiu

Mr. Jiang Guoliang

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Zhouxin (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Chiu
Mr. Jiang Guoliang

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Zhouxin (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Chiu
Mr. Jiang Guoliang

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lee Man Chiu (Chairman)
Mr. Li Zhouxin
Mr. Jiang Guoliang

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Shi Shaoming
Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Ren Yunan
Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report

EFXTg

FRITES
HRAERE

BEEE M- EFCA-+HESD

B E

BITES

RIEB L EFSL/ERTHAEE)

BIFHITES
FEMEE
EBEE
BERSTE

BEREET
AL ()

FXERE
BERLE

RREEE
AL ()

FXRE
BERSTE

FNESE

FBEE (F/E)
FEMEE
BERTE

BtEARME

aLBREE
FERLL

RENAR

RIS RE
FERZL



HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL
PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 902-903, 9th Floor, Sino Plaza
255-257 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN

ISLANDS

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350
Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F

Two Chinachem Exchange Square
338 King's Road

North Point, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

31st Floor, Gloucester Tower, The Landmark
11 Pedder Street, Central, Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.okg.com.hk

STOCK CODE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
1499

Corporate Information

AFER

MEBRERTEERME

£ FT5E255-2575%
151 B 5918902-903%F

FAEBRERDBIREICHE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350
Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands

EARARMBRETDE

HEHSERLBRAT
HH168

2 783385%

EMZ 7 EIH2H
33183301-04F

FEERIRTT
B4 LB ERRTERAT
RESRT (B8 HRAT

4]

E#E s MEBRERAR
BBHE T
EBRIRBTHI15E
BEEISEELTITAES1E

LE) G
www.okg.com.hk

R (PR

ERMESRBRAERAR
1499

BN R ERARAE
B -FFR



Chairman’s Statement

FEE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
OKG Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | would like to present to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) the annual report (the “Report”) of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Year”).

The world has stepped into post-pandemic era in 2021, while COVID-19
has brought new normal to the world. The uncertainty and downward
pressure on the global economic growth are increasing. Countries have
been facing many serious external challenges as the change of political
situation and the influence of geopolitical. The Group has responded
calmly and reviewed the situation regularly, adhered to the rationalizing
layout and steadily advancing the business.

The Group recorded a total revenue of approximately HK$453.0 million
for the Year, representing a decrease of approximately HK$117.4 million
over the same period of last year and a decrease of 20.6% year-over-
year. The Group’s revenue from building construction, foundation
works and ancillary services decreased approximately 47.8% year-over
year. Revenue from construction wastes handling services increased
approximately 4.3% year-over-year. Revenue from the technical services
segment was approximately HK$28.2 million, increased approximately
14.9% compared to the same period of last year, representing an increase
in the proportion of total of revenue to 6.2% from 4.3% in the same
period last year. In addition, OKLink Trust Limited (“OKLink Trust”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has commenced the
provision of the trust and custody services after obtaining the Trust or
Company Service Provider (“TCSP”) license and being registered as a
trust company under section 78(1) of the Trustee Ordinance (Chapter 29
of the laws of Hong Kong) and contributed approximately HK$1.4 million
in revenue to the Group in the Year.
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During the Year, China has accelerated the deployment of strategic
blockchain technology, which has been leveraged to a national strategic
level and included in the category of China’s “new infrastructure”. The
blockchain industry is ushering in favorable policy dividends, and the
future market scale is considerable, which provides favorable environment
for companies with leading technology and advanced layout. During the
Year, the Group has conformed to the positive development of blockchain
industry, and actively deployed the research and the development and
application of technologies underlying blockchain. In September 2020,
OKLink Fintech Limited (“OKLink Fintech”, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) officially launched the “Chaintelligence (5 =
KBR)”, which provides users with transaction graphs, address analysis
and blockchain monitoring functions. Moreover, it is also the first free
and open visualised tool for all users to monitor blockchain data and
transaction behavior on the entire network. The “Chaintelligence” aims
to use the blockchain technology to assist law enforcement authorities in
blockchain environment, to crack down illegal mining, to provide smart
police assistance and continuously expand the diversified application
scenarios of blockchain, and to promote the new infrastructure industries
based on blockchain, so as to create new value to the industry for
exploring “blockchain +” business.

During the Year, the Group has been recognised by the industry. In March
2021, OKLink Fintech was awarded the “2020 Financial Technology
Pioneer Award” at the 14th Golden Cicada Award organised by the China
Times. This award has reflected the industry’s high recognition of the
Group’s contribution to the blockchain technology and the development
of digital economy.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to steadily operate building
construction, foundation works and ancillary services and construction
wastes handling services in Hong Kong, invest prudently and monitor
the returns on the investments. At the same time, following the trend
of rapid development of the blockchain industry, the Group will seize
the opportunity to play a pioneering role for the domestic blockchain
industry, and further strengthen the Group’s business upgrading and
transformation in the financial technology and the blockchain businesses,
as well as actively deploy the blockchain infrastructure construction to
help develop blockchain industry and empower the real economy, and
eventually benefit social life with the advanced blockchain technology.
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Chairman's Statement

EREREE

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our Shareholders, customers and business partners, and also extend
my heartfelt thanks to all managements and staff for their diligence and
valuable contributions for the Year.

Ren Yunan
Chairman
Hong Kong, China, 28 June 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s major sources of revenue were from construction wastes
handling services, foundation, building construction works and ancillary
services, technology services, investment in securities, lending business
and trust and custody services.

During the Year, the Group has commenced to provide trust and custody
services through OKLink Trust. In addition, the Group has also provided
building construction works services in the Year. Save for the above,
the Group had no material change in its business nature and principal
activities.

Construction Wastes Handling Services

The Group’s construction wastes handling services mainly include the
management and operation of public fill reception facilities such as
public fill banks and temporary construction waste sorting facilities, for
construction and demolition materials.

During the Year, revenue from this segment amounted to approximately
HK$234.3 million, which increased approximately HK$9.6 million as
compared with approximately HK$224.7 milion for the corresponding
period in 2020. The increase was mainly due to the increase in revenue
from on-going projects during the Year.

Gross profit of this segment for the Year was approximately HK$5.4
million, which decreased approximately 76.5% as compared with
approximately HK$23.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2020.
The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to the increase in the
subcontracting costs. Gross profit margin of this segment for the Year
was approximately 2.3%, representing a decrease of 7.9 percentage
points from approximately 10.2% for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERERRA

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Foundation, Building Construction Works and
Ancillary Services

The foundation works of the Group mainly include site formation works,
excavation and lateral support (‘ELS”) works, piling construction, pile
caps or footing construction and reinforced concrete structure works and
ancillary services mainly include hoarding and demolition works and lease
of machinery. After Progressive Building & Foundation Company Limited,
an indirectly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has been registered as
a general building contractor under section 8A of Buildings Ordinance
(Chapter 123 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group has also participated
in some residential development projects and provided building
construction works services during the Year.

During the Year, revenue from this segment was approximately
HK$170.0 million, representing a decrease of 47.8% as compared with
approximately HK$325.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in the number of projects
undertaken and the newly awarded projects during the Year were still in
the initial stages.

Gross profit of this segment during the Year was approximately HK$12.1
million, which decreased approximately 23.9% as compared with
approximately HK$15.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. Gross
profit margin of this segment for the Year was approximately 7.1%,
representing an increase of 2.2 percentage points from approximately that
of 4.9% for the year ended 31 March 2020.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

New Projects Awarded

During the Year, the Group had been awarded 6 new contracts with total
contract value of approximately HK$236.5 million. The details of the new

projects are as follows:

Type of Projects
EHEEE

Site Location

R E

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Type of Works
Ti25ER

Foundation and Ancillary Works
ME R ETIRZ

Foundation and Ancillary Works

MEREETR

Building Construction Works
BFEEATE

Building Construction Works
BFRETRE

Foundation and Ancillary Works
ME R ETIRZ

Foundation and Ancillary Works

MEREETR

Southern District
[E]E

Tseung Kwan O District
HERE

Yau Tsim Mong District
SHAHTE

Yuen Long District
TCHAE

Islands District

BEEE

Tuen Mun District

BRIE

Foundation, ELS and Pile Cap Works
ME T2 ZIE kAR AT RIEETRRZ

Foundation and ELS Works
HWETERZERABAITTRE

Carcass Works
FRETHRE

Construction of Basement and G/F Slab

HNE R IR R &

Piling Works
BETRE

Foundation and ELS Works
HWETERZERABAITTRE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERERRA

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Projects in Progress

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 7 projects in progress with total
contract value amounted to approximately HK$795.5 million. The details

of projects in progress are as follows:

Type of Projects
RISk il

Site Location

R E

X 7% [C1EE (48)

£#1EH

A E T —FZRB=+—H AEERFTEETE
HE  BENBENTHBIEER T - TEEEN
SEBW

Type of Works
Ti2ER!

Foundation and Ancillary Works
ME R ETIZ

Foundation and Ancillary Works

MEREETR

Building Construction Works
BFEEATRE

Building Construction Works
BFRETRE

Foundation and Ancillary Works
ME R ETIZ

Foundation and Ancillary Works

MEREETR

Construction Wastes Handling Services

YRR IEARTS

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Southern District
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Tseung Kwan O District
HERE

Yau Tsim Mong District
SHAETE

Yuen Long District
TCHAE

Islands District

BEEE

Tuen Mun District

Bri&

Tuen Mun District
Br&

Foundation, ELS and Pile Cap Works
A T2 21 R AIRATE R IEE T2

Foundation and ELS Works
HETRERZRERABAITTRE

Carcass Works
FEETE

Construction of Basement and G/F Slab
N E R AR RS

Piling Works
BETRE

Foundation and ELS Works
HETRERZRERABAITTIRE

Fill Bank Operation
IERHEEE



BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Completed Projects

During the Year, the Group completed 10 projects with total contract value
amounted to approximately HK$403.5 million. The details of completed

Management Discussion and Analysis
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projects are as follows:

Type of Projects
EHEEE

Site Location

R E

Type of Works
Ti2%85!

Foundation and Ancillary Works
ME R ETIRZ

Foundation and Ancillary Works

MEREETR

Foundation and Ancillary Works
MEREETR

Foundation and Ancillary Works
ME R ETIR

Foundation and Ancillary Works

wEREETRR

Foundation and Ancillary Works
ME R ETIRZ

Foundation and Ancillary Works

MEREETR

Foundation and Ancillary Works

MEREETR

Foundation and Ancillary Works

wEKNEETRR

Foundation and Ancillary Works
ME AL E T2

Yau Tsim Mong District
THARH&

Kowloon City District
hERE

Kwun Tong District
HIEE

Yuen Long District
TCHAE

Kwun Tong District

HEE

Sha Tin District
WEHE

Kwai Tsing District
xE&

Sai Kung District

FAEE

Sha Tin District

WEE

Kowloon City District
NEEHIE

Foundation, ELS and Pile Cap Works
ME T2 ZIE kAR AT RIEETRRZ

Foundation, ELS and Pile Cap Works
R T2 ~ 218 R A A A FE R iE0E T2

Foundation, ELS and Pile Cap Works
METE 2R RARATEREETLRE

Foundation, ELS and Pile Cap Works
B T2 21 R A M A FE R ta1E T2

Demolition Works and Construction of
the Hoarding Works
HREBEIRKERTERER

Piling and ELS Works
TRz R A A TR

Piling and ELS Works
TERZRE R AR AT IR

Site Formation and Foundation, ELS,
Pile Caps and Tie Beam Works

38 B i 3t B ~ 12 4E R R AT ~ 1B 1E
FRERTE

Foundation, ELS, Pile Cap,
Slope and Drainage Works

A T2~ 21 R AR AT ~ 1518 ~ BHR
FeHEKET2

Foundation, ELS, Pile Cap and Tree Works
HE T2 ~ 218 RAIm RS 1518 R g
1%z

BRI ERERAIRAR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERERRA

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Technology Services

The Group’s technology services income mainly includes (i) income
generated by developing the USDK smart contract, managing the USDK
smart contract to effect minting and burning of USDK; and (ji) providing
the technology development and I.T. infrastructure services.

During the Year, revenue from this segment amounted to approximately
HK$28.2 million which was increased by approximately HK$3.7 million
or 14.9% as compared with approximately HK$24.5 million for the
corresponding period in 2020. The increase in revenue was mainly
attributable from the income of providing technology development and
I.T. infrastructure services. Gross profit of this segment was approximately
HK$9.2 million which increased by approximately HK$0.2 million or 2.2%
as compared with approximately HK$9.0 million for corresponding period
in 2020.

Investments in Securities

During the Year, the Group maintained the business segment of
investment in securities in order to diversify the Group’s business. The
Group invested in a portfolio of listed securities in Hong Kong and
overseas.

The Group has made several investments in the securities of the
blockchain industry. As at 31 March 2021, the Group managed a
portfolio of listed securities with total market value of approximately
HK$10.3 million (2020: approximately HK$4.6 million). During the Year,
revenue from investment in securities was approximately HK$14.8 million,
including a realized gain of approximately HK$4.2 million and a gain on fair
value change of approximately HK$10.6 million, compared with a loss on
fair value change of approximately HK$10.2 million for the corresponding
period in 2020. The Group reviewed the performance of its investment
portfolio and evaluated the investment potentials of other investment
opportunities available to the Group as part of the routine exercise with a
view to optimise the expected return and minimise the risks.

Lending Business

During the Year, the Group continued to carry out its money lending
business, which maintains a money lender’s licence in Hong Kong, under
the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
In addition, the Group has also lent its digital assets to the counterparties
(the “Counterparties”) in form of Bitcoin (the “BTC”) and stablecoins as
the loan principal through other parties’ platforms (the “Platforms”) in
the Year. For certain loans made in stablecoins, the Counterparties were
required to deposit BTC to the Platforms as collaterals.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Lending Business (continued)

During the Year, revenue and gross profit from this segment was
approximately HK$4.4 million (2020: approximately HK$5.8 million) and
approximately HK$3.8 million (2020: approximately HK$4.8 million),
respectively. The Directors believe that the lending business benefits to the
Group in exploring opportunities to widen its revenue base and minimise
the risks of the Group overall, so as to enhance the capital use of the
Group as well as for the interests of the Company and its shareholders
overall.

Trust and Custody Services

The Group’s trust and custody services were being carried out through
OKLink Trust. OKLink Trust has been registered as a Trust Company
under section 78(1) of the Trustee Ordinance (Chapter 29 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) on 17 June 2020. The trust and custody services provided
by the Group typically include the safekeeping, settlement and other
customised services of its clients’ assets. The types of assets custodied
under this business include digital assets and fiat currencies. At the
end of the Year, the total assets of the Group’s custody clients were
approximately HK$108.2 million.

During the Year, the revenue generated from the provision of trust and
custody services was approximately HK$1.4 million.

The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic

The outbreak of the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) brought challenges
to the global business environment. The Governments of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (‘HKSAR”) and the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”) have implemented various contingency measures
during the Year. The Group also has taken a series of precautionary
and risk mitigation measures, including but not limited to, remote work
arrangements, online meetings, reduction of unnecessary contacts and
body temperature measurements. In addition, construction workers in
Hong Kong were required to hold negative COVID-19 test results before
getting back to work starting from 22 February 2021, as required by the
Construction Industry Council and Hong Kong Construction Association.
Accordingly, the Group has asked the site staffs to take a regular
COVID-19 test every 14 days.

The interruption of business activities and border crossing restrictions
slowed down the Group’s business developments, deteriorated
market conditions and inevitably caused delay of construction works.
The Group will continuously review the latest health and regulatory
protocols and reschedule site activities, to manage the impacts to its
business operations. Moreover, the Group will continue to take timely
and necessary actions to mitigate any COVID-19 related risks, to ensure
adequate resources for its business developments.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERERRA

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$453.0 million for the
Year, representing a decrease of approximately 20.6% as compared with
approximately HK$570.3 million for the corresponding period in 2020. The
decrease was mainly resulted from the decrease in the revenues of the
Group’s foundation, building construction works and ancillary services.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$46.6 million, representing an increase of approximately 9.4% as
compared with approximately HK$42.6 million for the corresponding
period in 2020. The gross profit margin increased by 2.8 percentage
points to 10.3% for the Year from 7.5% for the same period of last year.
Such increase was mainly due to the increase in the revenues from
investment in securities, which has a higher gross profit margin.

Other income, gains and losses

Other income, gains and losses of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$16.2 million, representing an increase of approximately 224.0% as
compared with approximately HK$5.0 million for the corresponding period
in 2020. The increase was mainly due to the government subsidy received
from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund of
HKSAR Government.

Administrative and other operating expenses

The administrative and other operating expenses of the Group for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$104.1 million, representing an increase
of approximately 13.9% compared with approximately HK$91.4 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020. Such increase was mainly due to the
increase in the staff costs.

Impairment losses under Expected Credit Loss
(“ECL”) model

Impairment losses under ECL model derived from trade receivables,
loan receivables and contract assets of the Group. The Group classified
them as in default when there was an evidence indicating the assets are
credit impaired. The Group recorded an impairment loss of approximately
HK$46.9 million during the Year, increased approximately HK$41.5 million
compared with HK$5.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
increase of impairment loss in the Year was mainly due to the increase in
credit risks on the relevant foundation works in certain projects.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Finance costs

Finance costs for the Group during the Year amounted to approximately
HK$7.9 million, representing a decrease of approximately 13.2%
compared with approximately HK$9.1 million for the corresponding period
in 2020. The decrease is mainly attributed to the decrease of interest on
lease liabilities.

Income tax credit/(expense)

Income tax credit for the Group during the Year amounted to
approximately HK$2.5 million, compared to income tax expense of
approximately HK$3.3 million for the corresponding period in 2020.

Loss for the Year

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$93.9 million for
the Year, compared to a loss of approximately HK$61.6 million for the
corresponding period in 2020. The increase in the loss for the Year was
mainly attributable to the increase of the non-cash impairment loss under
the ECL model as mentioned on “Impairment losses under ECL model”.

Capital Structure and Share Options

During the Year, the Company had the following changes in its share
capital:

(i) Exercise of Share Options

During the Year, 52,710,000 share options were exercised at a
subscription price of HK$0.205 per share, resulting in the issue of
52,710,000 new shares at par value of HK$0.005 each for a total
cash consideration of approximately HK$10,806,000. Details and
movements of the share options during the Year are set out in the
paragraph headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” on pages 119 to
120 of this Report.

(ii) Repurchase and Cancellation of Shares

On 19 October 2020, the Company repurchased a total of
8,070,000 shares (the “Repurchased Shares”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) at an
aggregate consideration (excluded expenses) of approximately
HK$1,161,000, and the Repurchased Shares were cancelled on
1 December 2020. Accordingly, the issued share capital of the
Company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares.
Details of the repurchase are set out in the paragraph headed
“PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES” on page 118 of this Report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERERRA

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Capital Structure and Share Options
(continued)

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Company’s issued share capitals
were approximately HK$26,853,000 and approximately HK$26,629,000
respectively, and the numbers of its issued ordinary shares were
5,370,510,000 shares of HK$0.005 each and 5,325,870,000 shares of
HK$0.005 each respectively.

Liquidity, Financial and Capital Resources

The Group has funded the liquidity and capital requirements primarily
through capital contributions from the Shareholders, bank borrowings,
internally generated cash flow and proceeds received from the placing of
the Company’s shares (the “Share(s)”).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$236.7 million (31 March 2020: approximately
HK$239.6 million), and the Group did not have pledged bank deposit (31
March 2020: approximately HK$6.8 million).

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the amount of total interest-
bearing debts divided by total equity. The gearing ratio of the Group
as at 31 March 2021 was approximately 68.7% (as at 31 March 2020:
approximately 59.0%). The increase was mainly due to the decrease in
the Group’s total equity of approximately HK$81.6 million.

Pledge of Assets

The Group’s motor vehicles with an aggregate net book value of
approximately HK$1.0 million and HK$1.3 million as at 31 March 2021
and 2020, respectively, were pledged under leases liabilities.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any pledged bank deposit
(31 March 2020: approximately HK$6.8 million) to secure the bank
facilities granted to the Group.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any charge on its assets
during the Year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Contingent Liabilities

The Group, in the ordinary course of its business, is involved in various

claims, suits, investigations, and legal proceedings that arise from time

to time. Although the Group does not expect that the outcome in any of

these legal proceedings, individually or collectively, will have a material

adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations, litigation is

inherently unpredictable. Therefore, the Group could incur judgements or

enter into settlements of claims that could adversely affect its operating

results or cash flows in a particular period.

Risk Disclosures

(@

(ii)

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and PRC and most of
the operating transactions such as revenue, expenses, monetary
assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi (‘RMB”). The Directors are of the view that the Group’s
risk in foreign exchange is insignificant and that the Group should
have sufficient resources to meet foreign exchange requirements
as and if they arise. Therefore, the Group has not engaged in any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk
during the Year.

Interest Rate Risk

Other than bank balances with variable interest rate, the Group has
no other significant interest-bearing assets with variable interest
rate. The Group’s total interest income during the Year decreased
about approximately HK$2.4 million, as a result of the decrease
in bank deposit interest rate. Other than that, the Group does not
have any significant interest rate risk exposures. The Group has not
used any financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERERRA

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

(iii)

Credit Risk

The Group’s credit risk arises mainly from trade and other
receivables, contract assets, amount due from a related party,
pledged bank deposit and bank balances. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure
to perform their obligations as at the reporting dates in relation to
each class of recognised financial assets and contract assets is
the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the “Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position”.

In respect of cash at banks, the credit risk is considered to be low
as the counterparties are reputable banks. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of cash at banks are assessed to be close to zero
and no provision was made.

The Group also lend its digital assets to Counterparties in form
of BTC and stablecoins being the loan principal through the
Platforms. For certain loans made in stablecoins, the Counterparties
are required to deliver BTC, another type of digital assets, to the
Platforms as collateral to maintain the loan-to-value (the “LTV”)
ratio at a level of ranging from 55% to 65% at inception. Additional
collaterals are required to deposited to the Platforms at any time if
the LTV ratio is increased to 80%. The collateral will be liquidated
when the LTV ratio is increased to 90%. Considering the collateral
arrangements, the credit risk of the Group’s inventories due from
counterparties is considered to be low.

In respect of trade and other receivables and contract assets,
individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers and
counterparties. These evaluations focus on the counterparty’s
financial position, past history of making payments and take
into account information specific to the counterparty as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the counterparty
operates. Monitoring procedures have been implemented to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
and other receivable and contract assets balance at the end of
each reporting period to ensure adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. During the Year, an impairment
loss of HK$46.9 million was recorded comparing to HK$5.4 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020. The increase of impairment loss
in the Year was mainly due to the increase in credit risks on the
relevant construction works in certain projects. The details about
the impairment losses from ECL model are set out in the paragraph
headed “Impairment losses under Expected Credit Loss (‘ECL”)
model” on page 14 of this Report.

From 1 April 2021 to the date of this Report, the trade receivables,
loan receivable and contract assets subsequently settled was
approximately HK$45.8 million, HK$0.5 million and HK$10.5 million,
respectively.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report

M5 IEE (48)

(iii)

EEERE
FEBGFERRIEREE S REMBU

R BMNEE BR—RBESREE
HIRRIT R RIRTTAERR - B F A RAE
AREHANSHEEHEIENEEREN
EERTHET ~EEMEENESE
ERBAZSEENTREMBRIT 2
HIBYEREIE

MIRTTIREMS  AXZHFAEBER
T WEERBERARE FIL R1TIR
S BHEEFBELCTHBOTATE
TEH B o
AREFNTBBRFEREHTEEMULLE
EREEEEAEREASBETFTHF o
MUBERET 2 ETERME  HFH
BRATFAERNTERE (B—BHFEE)
EAIRF R UERFERHER ((8FE
B1E)) LEXP BB F55%E65%8 7K
FoHERHBELEXIZSE80%  B|A
EEARZEDF A FEAZEIMNEITF G KT
REBERENEHBELRIESEIONE S
HoRERIEHRBTH AEEEBWRSEF
FEENEERMHEEARE

MEZREMBUIRRUKRENEEM
S REHMARRREFHETERNE
B ZE M EENEFANMBR
MBEMNRER EEBEFHNETE
BRI ENF S EEEANEEIRIE
OB M S 112 MU (REREVER E 178Uk (D]
BHER I REERSREHARE
RMER B 5 R EMEPIRRIUA R ENEE
SRR AT IR B & 28 U RE A A e %
BSHREDREBEER RAFENR
RRERBEICITRET MBaE_F_
EFE-A=-T-HLFERSBRESBE
5A4B8ATT - AFERERRENDEE
HRETEEZAMBEREIZEERR
e ARMRREEHRERIANRERE
HBEHRAREE4EN TRREEBRE
(TFEEAEEBR) BT RRERE —
Ego

BT —FNA-—HEXRKREHES>
BEENEZBYERT  BIKE TA&:.%’J
BEEDHANAI58AREIT 0.6
K10.56BBHBTT



FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Price Risk of Digital Assets Inventories

To facilitate the loans made in terms of stablecoins, the Group
held approximately HK$9.9 million digital assets as inventories
as of 31 March 2021. In addition, the Group also had inventories
due from counterparties of approximately HK$12.8 million.
Although most of the Group’s digital assets are stablecoins and
the relevant stablecoins are asset-backed and the market price
approximately US$1 per unit with minimal fluctuation, the volatility
and any unpredictability of the price of digital assets relative to
fiat currencies could cause significant impact to the Group’s
performance.

Risks Related to Safekeeping of Digital Assets

The Group mainly maintains its stablecoins in the Platforms to
facilitate the digital assets loans. In addition, the Group also held
approximately HK$59.0 million digital assets on behalf of its clients
as of 31 March 2021. The Group mainly maintains the digital
assets in the accounts maintained with the Platforms. These
accounts are more susceptible to cyber-attacks or potential theft
as it is connected to the public internet. Although the Group has
implemented a series of risk control and safeguarding protocols,
any breakdown or closedown of the Platforms, potential cyber-
attacks or thefts could cause significant losses to the Group.

Risks Related to Anti-Money Laundering

In the Year, the Group has commenced to provide trust and
custody services to its clients. Any person who carries on a
trust business in Hong Kong has to comply with the relevant
requirements of the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and the guideline issued by the Companies Registry of Hong
Kong. To mitigate such risks, the Group has implemented policies
and procedures for Anti-Money-Laundering (AML) and Know-
Your-Client (KYC) that are initiated during the client onboarding
process and are applied by way of continuous monitoring and
reporting. In enhancing these policies and procedures, we have
also considered industry best-practice and the recommendations
of the Financial Action Task Force (FATF).

Capital Commitments

The Group did not have any significant capital commitment as at 31
March 2021 (31 March 2020: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERERRA

PROSPECTS

With the continuous impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic worldwide,
the overall economic recovery remains uncertain. It is expected that
the business of the Group will still face certain challenges in the short
term. Due to the market fluctuations, the investments in the construction
industry have been adversely affected. The weakened market risk appetite
has led to a plunge in the number of projects available for bidding.

In response to the uncertain market conditions, the Group is prudently
carrying out the construction related businesses, and also actively
exploring various business opportunities and sustainable development
related to the technology related services.

The Group continues cultivating the blockchain industry, upgrading
products, exploring scenarios and improving services, especially the
blockchain explorer and the “Chaintelligence” (## £ X8R, renamed from
“Tracker”), making outstanding contributions to the safeguarding of assets
on the blockchain, the law enforcements’ fight against crimes as well as
the promotion of the industry self-discipline, among others.

On 27 March, 2021, OKLink Fintech, an indirectly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, won the “2020 Financial Technology Pioneer Award” at the
14th Golden Cicada Awards organized by China Times.

Blockchain big data and the “Chaintelligence (## £ XBE) " are at the core
of the Group’s strategy at this stage, and have quickly gained popularity
among authorities, financial institutions, developers and investors in the
industry. In the Year, oklink.com has also launched theme data services for
financial institutions and individual investors. All the on-chain data of major
DeFi (Decentralized Finance) and NFT (Non-fungible Token) protocols,
and the digital assets positions of leading institutions are also available on
oklink.com.

During the Year, OKLink Trust, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, has begun to provide trust and custody services, and has
recorded a revenue of HK$1.4 million. In addition, the Group’s previous
investments in the blockchain industry has also generated approximately
HK$14.8 million gain this year. The Group’s revenue from technology
services has also increased by approximately 14.9% year-over-year and
contributed 6.2% of our total revenues in the Year. The Company believes
that industries such as trust services and technology services have
huge growth potential, and will continue contributing to the Company’s
business development.
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PROSPECTS (CONTINUED)

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to optimize and upgrade our
blockchain related products such as the “Chaintelligence (% £ XKER) ",
to provide asset security and anti-money laundering services to law
enforcement as well as regulatory agencies. With the enhanced regulatory
clarity, the blockchain related industries will continue to expand. While
actively developing our own products and business, the Group will
actively apply for relevant licenses and permits, actively explore other new
business models and broaden the source of income of the Group, and
provide better investment returns to the Shareholders.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed a total of 193 staff (31 March
2020: 225 staff). Total staff costs, including directors’ emoluments and
share-based payment expenses for the Year, amounted to approximately
HK$113.3 million (31 March 2020: approximately HK$102.7 million). The
salary and benefit levels of the employees of the Group are competitive
and individual performance is rewarded through the Group’s salary
and bonus system. The Group provides adequate job training to the
employees to equip them with practical knowledge and skills.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

During the Year, the Group did not have any significant investments held
or any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries or associated
companies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERERRA

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Disposal of the entire issued shares of Jia Jian
Global Limited

On 7 May 2021 (after the trading hours), the Board was announced
that Glory Port International Limited (IR BEIRBE/AE]), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability, being a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as a vendor (the “Vendor”),
and Mr. Ip Ying Chau as the purchaser (the “Purchaser”) entered into
the sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Vendor agreed
to sell and the Purchaser agreed to acquire the three (3) ordinary shares
of Jia Jian Global Limited (the “Disposal Company”), being the entire
issue share capital of the Disposal Company (the “Sale Shares”), for the
consideration of HK$8.0 million (the “Disposal”).

As one or more applicable percentage ratios (as defined in Rule 14.07
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) exceed 5% but all relevant percentage ratios are
less than 25%, the Disposal constituted a discloseable transaction for
the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and is subject to
the reporting and announcement requirements. As at 7 May 2021 (after
the trading hours), the Purchaser was a director of the Vendor, Disposal
Company and its subsidiary, Bright Access (HK) Limited, (collectively,
the “Disposal Group companies”) and some other subsidiaries of
the Group. Therefore, the Purchaser was a connected person of the
Company at the subsidiary level under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For details of the Disposal, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 7 May 2021.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this Report, the Company does not have any future
plans for material investments or capital assets.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

FEhSREREREFS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Mingxing (TR BB 2% %) (“Mr. Xu”), aged 36, is our
non-executive Director.

Mr. Xu graduated from the University of Science and Technology Beijing in
2006 with a Bachelor’s degree in Applied Physics. Mr. Xu has a decade
of experience in the blockchain technology, information technology and
corporate management.

Mr. Xu became the director and chief executive officer of OKC Holdings
Corporation (“OKC”) since February 2015 and became the director and
chairman of Shanghai Xingpan Science and Technology Company Limited
(“Shanghai Xingpan”) (NEEQ: 833166, formerly known as Shanghai
United Testing Co., Ltd.) since August 2017. The business scope of
Shanghai Xingpan includes, technology development, technology transfer,
technical services, technology promotion, operational Internet cultural
information services, business management consulting, computer
system services, sales of computer and auxiliary equipment in network
technology industry.

From June 2007 to August 2012, Mr. Xu was employed by Docln Shiji
(Beijing) Technology Limited (2 T 42 (J65) 448K M7 A RA S, known
as “Docln.com”). Docln.com is a company engaging in the operation
of Chinese online reading platform with a diverse content online library,
including Chinese articles, publications and industry research reports,
providing Internet information services, as well as technology services,
development, consulting, transfer and advertising. His last position was
chief technology officer.

As at the date of this Report, an aggregate of 3,904,925,001 shares of
the Company, representing approximately 72.71% of the total issued
share capital of the Company, are held by OKC. () Mr. Xu’s wholly-
owned company named StarXu Capital Limited (“StarXu Capital’),
which in turn holds direct interest in OKC of approximately 29.26%; (ii)
StarXu Capital has interest of approximately 73.52% in SKY CHASER
HOLDINGS LIMITED (“SKY CHASER’”), whereas SKY CHASER directly
holds approximately 1.17% interest in OKC (accordingly, Mr. Xu holds
approximately 0.86% indirect interest of OKC through SKY CHASER); and
(iii) his wholly-owned company named OKEM Services Company Limited
has direct interest in OKC of approximately 36.52%. Thus, Mr. Xu holds
an aggregate interest of approximately 66.64% in OKC and therefore is
deemed to be interested in the 3,904,925,001 shares of the Company
held by OKC pursuant to the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Xu was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

FRITES

REARSE (TFRIEEL) - 365k A IFIMIERIT
=

BEERZTZREEXZNERBE AL BHE
ERYEREE LS -REENBIRBRIN B
AR R CEEEAEES T F&R-

BB T —HFE~ AEIEEOKC Holdings
Corporation (TOKC ) Z2EEREFHITERE
ZE—tFN\ARETLEERMBERERG
BIRARE TLEEH,  2EP/NEERDEE
%4 0 833166) (A1 _L/BZEsB Mg R R T AR 1D
BRRAE)) vESKEE - LBEHNEKHE
BUIEMBASEITIT 25 2 IR AT AR 88 ~ 1T 55 ~ B2
RFE AT E KM E B EENRS
EEETLA HERRAARE HETERE K
R E o

B2t HFRAEZ—_HF/N\A HRELER
ERE T LR BREMARAS BATE
TH) -ETHEA—BREEEDEGRET
8 (P REBEPXXE HRY RITEMRRRSE
ERNZHRERLBZEERND) NAT BHE
Bk 4 B SRBR 75 A B BT AR 75 ~ A 3%~ 5 50~ B5E
RES HREBBRBEERME -

R ZERE HER > & 3£3,904,925,001 g 7~ A B B 15
(HBEREARABEITRALHELNT2.71%) B
OKCH A& o ()i 2 % AStarXu Capital Limited
(T'StarXu Capital |) B9 2 E /8 A B jXOKCHE
B#929.26%EFEEm ; (i)StarXu CapitalFASKY
CHASER HOLDINGS LIMITED (TSKY CHASER )
WA #73.52% % » TSKY CHASERE#EFE
OKCHI#MI1.17% e (A ILE > 1R 5t £ FE B SKY
CHASERAOKCHF A #90.86% B 1% ) ; Keliii)E
2 AOKEM Services Company Limitedfd & & i
BA B ROKCHER 4936.52% B 15125 o RIE > 14
S A HEBOKCHIAI66.64% % » ARE S
BIEBIESTER S R ERG (MBS RPER
1) #17 A R OKCFT 5 B B93,904,925,001 & A&
REIRID PR Em o

FR EXPTIREBEE SN RBERBE=FWENE
AIEM EHABEEEERF -

BT R AR AR
B —FFR

23



24

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSHREIEEBRENS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Tang Yue (BBt 4) (“Mr. Tang”), aged 50, is our non-executive
Director.

Mr. Tang graduated from the Concordia College with Bachelor of Arts
degree in 1993.

Mr. Tang is currently a director of OKC. Mr. Tang is the founder of X
Financial (NYSE: XYF), a leading technology-driven personal finance
company in China, wherein he serves as the Chairman and CEO since
March 2014. Mr. Tang is a renowned internet entrepreneur and investor in
China. Mr. Tang was the co-founder of eLong, Inc., a leading online travel
service company in China, at which he served as the Chairman and CEO
from 1999 to 2006. After that, Mr. Tang co-founded Blue Ridge China
with Blue Ridge Capital, a leading U.S. hedge fund. Mr. Tang then worked
as the managing partner of Blue Ridge China, a private equity fund that
invested in companies in China from 2006 to 2014. Mr. Tang is a founding
member of the China Entrepreneur Club, a founding member of the
Paradise International Foundation, a member of The Nature Conservancy
China Board, and a founding member of the Beijing SmileAngel Children’s
Hospital.

An aggregate of 3,904,925,001 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 72.71% of the total issued share capital of the Company
are held by OKC and OKC is therefore an associated corporation of the
Company for the purposes of Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Tang’s wholly-
owned company, Purple Mountain Holding Ltd., holds direct interest in
3,898,103 ordinary shares, 3,068,409 series seed preferred shares and
1,612,142 series A-1 preferred shares of par value of USD0.0001 each of
OKG, representing approximately 7.39% of the total issued share capital
of OKC. Thus, Mr. Tang is deemed to be interested in approximately
7.39% of the shares in OKC, an associated corporation of the Company,
pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tang was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Pu Xiaojiang (G&
non-executive Director.

BEST % &) (“Mr. Pu”), aged 56, is our

Mr. Pu graduated from the Journalism School of Fudan University with a
Bachelor’s degree of Arts in 1987. He also obtained his Executive MBA
from China Europe International Business School in 2003.

Mr. Pu has experiences in brand management, media, marketing and
financial services industries. Mr. Pu begins to work for OKCoin Technology
Company Limited, a subsidiary of OKC, since April 2019. He was the
vice president of Bluefocus International Limited from April 2016 to March
2019, a subsidiary in Hong Kong of Bluefocus Intelligent Communications
Group Co., Ltd. QEREE B HIER D B BRAE)) which is listed
on the Shenzhen stock exchange with the stock code of “300058”
(“Bluefocus”). Bluefocus is a data technology company, the business
scope includes marketing services, digital advertising and international
business, which provides services in marketing communication and smart
technology based on data technology.

Before that, from August 2013 to March 2016, Mr. Pu was the vice
president of Rifa Securities Limited, a subsidiary of China Finance Online
Co. Limited (NASDAQ: JRJC). Rifa Securities Limited is a licensed
corporation permitted to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated
activity as defined under SFO. China Finance Online Co. Limited is a
web-based financial services company in China, which provides financial
information services and offer fundamental and technical tools for sales,
earnings, debt management, and growth potentials.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Pu was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSHREIEEBRENS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ren Yunan ({E8 B % 4) (“Mr. Ren”), aged 45, is our executive
Director, the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Ren graduated from Peking University with a bachelor’s degree in law
in 1997 and received a master’s degree in law from Harvard Law School
in 1999. He was qualified to practise law both in Hong Kong and New
York, the United States of America.

Mr. Ren is currently an independent non-executive director of Ronshine
China Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 3301).

From February 2015 to August 2020, Mr. Ren was a non-executive
director of Labixiaoxin Snacks Group Limited (a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1262). From May 2017
to July 2018, Mr. Ren was an independent non-executive director of
International Entertainment Corporation (@ company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1009).

Mr. Ren is the director of certain companies controlled by OKC and the
director of wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ren was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Zhouxin (ZEFRSE) (“Mr. Li”), aged 36, is our independent
non-executive Director.

Mr. Li graduated from Fuzhou University with a bachelor degree in finance
in 2007 and received an EMBA degree from the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology in June 2019. Mr. Li is a PRC certified public
accountant (non-practising) and a certified management accountant
recognised by The Institute of Management Accountants in the United
States of America. Mr. Li also holds the Certification in Risk Management
Assurance accredited by The Institute of Internal Auditors. Mr. Li is
currently the vice chairman of the 8th Executive Committee of the Youth
Business Association of Fujian Province.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Li currently serves as a non-executive director of Prosperous Future
Holdings Limited (3R 2k 2% B1E& A R 2 E) (a company listed on the main
board of Stock Exchange, stock code: 1259), Mr. Li worked as an auditor
and assistant manager of the audit division at KPMG Consulting (China)
Co., Ltd. from August 2007 to December 2010; also, from December
2010 to November 2011, he served as finance manager at a company
listed on the main board of NASDAQ.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Li was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Lee Man Chiu (EXH5%LE) (“Mr. Lee”), aged 48, is our
independent non-executive Director.

Mr. Lee graduated from Harvard College with a Bachelor of Arts degree
in 1994. He subsequently obtained his Juris Doctor degree from
Georgetown University Law Center in 1998. Since 1999, he has been
licensed and admitted to practice as an Attorney and Counsellor at Law in
all courts of the State of New York. He is also a solicitor of the High Court
of Hong Kong.

Mr. Lee has extensive experience in the practice of law. He has been
in Asia since 2000 and has practiced in a number of international law
firms including Orrick Herrington & Sutcliffe, Clifford Chance, Morrison
& Foester and Baker Mckenzie. He is currently a corporate partner at
Dentons Hong Kong and was a partner at Hogan Lovells and Locke Lord.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSHREIEEBRENS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Lee advises on a broad range of transactions, including equity
offerings and listings (in particular, U.S. IPOs and Hong Kong IPOs with
a Rule 144A tranche), private equity and venture capital, cross-border
mergers and acquisitions, and general corporate and banking. Mr. Lee’s
experience includes representing issuers and underwriters in IPOs and
private placement of equity and debt securities and in connection with
the structuring, issuance, and distribution of fixed and floating rate bonds,
high-yield bonds, perpetual securities, convertible debt securities, asset-
backed securities and derivative financial products. Mr. Lee has also
represented listed companies in securities law compliance matters and
buyers and sellers in merger and acquisition transactions and drafted
corporate documents, including contracts, royalty agreements and license
agreements for start-up companies, as well as other documentation for
general corporate and banking transactions.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lee was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Jiang Guoliang (B R % 4%) (“Mr. Jiang”), aged 45, is our
independent non-executive Director.

Mr. Jiang graduated from Peking University with a bachelor’s degree in
law in 1997.

Mr. Jiang is the independent non-executive director of Weigang
Environmental Technology Holding Group Limited (a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code 1845). He is also the
managing partner of Zhe Jiang T&C Law Firm.

Mr. Jiang was an independent director of Zhejiang Jiangshan Chemical
Co., Ltd. from December 2013 to April 2021, the shares of which are
listed on the Shenzhen stock exchange (002061.S2) in the PRC. Mr.
Jiang was the vice president of BOCGI Zheshang Capital Co., Ltd.* (1R
CENEEXESEEARAR) from 2010 to 2012. He was also the
partner of the branch office of King & Wood Mallesons in Hangzhou from
2008 to 2010. Before that, he was a lawyer and the partner of Zhe Jiang
T&C Law Firm from 1999 to 2008. He was also worked at Zhejiang Silk
Import and Export Company from 1997 to 1999.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Jiang was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

*  For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shi Shaoming (G /L ERSE &) (“Mr. Shi”), aged 39, is one of our joint
company secretaries of the Company (the “Company Secretary”), and
currently financial controller of the Group.

Mr. Shi graduated from Nankai University with a bachelor's degree in
management in 2003. Mr. Shi is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Also, Mr. Shi is an associate member of both Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries (HKICS) and The Chartered Governance
Institute in the United Kingdom (formerly The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators (ICSA)).

Mr. Shi has more than 10 years of experience in financial management,
financial reporting and corporate governance matters. Mr. Shi worked for
China Finance Online Co. Limited (JRJC, NASDAQ) from 2007 to 2017
and his last position with China Finance Online Co. Limited was deputy
financial controller. He was employed in Shing Wing Certified Public
Accountants from 2006 to 2007.

Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline (E&¥ % 1) (“Ms. Wong”), aged
43, is one of our Company Secretary, an authorized representative of
the Company under Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules, and the agent for
service of process in Hong Kong of the Company under Part 16 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Ms. Wong holds a bachelor’'s degree in accountancy and a master’s
degree in corporate governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Ms. Wong is an associate member of both Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries (HKICS) and The Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom (formerly The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators (ICSA)).

Ms. Wong has experience in financial management, mergers and
acquisitions and corporate governance matters.
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Corporate Governance Report

EEER/NRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to upholding a high standard
of corporate governance practices and business ethics in the firm belief
that they are crucial to improving the efficiency and performance of the
Group and to safeguarding the interests of the shareholders. The Board
reviews the Company’s corporate governance practices from time to
time in order to meet the expectations of stakeholders and comply with
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its commitment
to excellence in corporate governance.

Set out below are the principles of corporate governance as adopted by
the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the Year, the Company has applied the principles of and
complied with the applicable code provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices as set out Appendix 14 (the “CG Code”) to the
Listing Rules contained therein except for the following deviations:

(1) Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separated and should not
be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Ren Yunan serves as an executive Director, the Chairman as
well as the chief executive officer (the “Chief Executive Officer”)
of the Company. The Board believes that vesting the roles of
both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same person
provides the Company with strong and consistent leadership,
allows for effective and efficient planning and implementation
of business decisions and strategies, and is beneficial to the
business prospects and management of the Group. Although Mr.
Ren performs both the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, the division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer is clearly established. These two roles are
performed by Mr. Ren distinctly.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
(CONTINUED)

(2)  Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code requires that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election. The non-executive Directors and the independent
non-executive Directors have not been appointed for any specific
terms as they are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the Company’s annual general meeting in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”).

The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance practices to
ensure that they continue to meet the requirements of the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions with terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules. The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors
and all those Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the Year and up to the
date of this Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FUNCTIONS

It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate corporate
governance practices applicable to the Company’s circumstances and to
ensure processes and procedures are in place to achieve the Company’s
corporate governance objectives.

The duties of the Board in performing its corporate governance functions
under the CG Code include:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendation to the Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the Company;

&k to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FUNCTIONS (CONTINUED)

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors of
the Company; and

5} to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the “Corporate Governance Report”.

The Company continues to review and enhance its corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME

Each newly appointed Director shall receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors are continuously updated on the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Directors are also encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Company Secretary shall update the Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the Year and as at the date of this Report, all Directors, namely
Mr. Xu Mingxing, Mr. Tang Yue, Mr. Pu Xiaojiang, Mr. Ren Yunan, Mr. Li
Zhouxin, Mr. Lee Man Chiu and Mr. Jiang Guoliang, have participated in
continuous professional training to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report

EEERREE (B

4. HE BEAERAER 71&5&%%8@%
STEAKRGHRFM @A) ;

5. BENARBETEEEATINERK
MEEERR S INAIIKE -

KRB BRI EEREE R B R UER

B ¥% =Sl

EF

.‘4‘#

BEEHRETE

EHMEREENENEZERETETEN -2
EMS 2B URFRESHARNTDEFRE

EEOBEER LRDRHLEHRARAERETE

ERTEFZHERER-

EFEEFEREAMEIERBEFEURER
R WEBRTRSZBE KA THBES
/AﬁﬁgﬁﬁfuﬁF&E%Eﬂﬁ&ﬁ%o
TME%Tﬁﬁ EEAMA TR KREM
ABREERENRNER  DUBRREGHEERER
&%ﬁﬁ%m%%éﬁﬁ%%ﬁo

REEEAREIREHI FFEES ENIREAE
TENBERAE VEBRIAE ERBAE T
RAEESFEXBAERBRERREE) HIESMT
Rt ER AEFEMHEREAKE
WEA SR



DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME (CONTINUED)

During the Year, the Directors have participated the continuous
professional development and the details are set out below:
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Roles and Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees
the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group to the senior management
of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs,
the Board has established three Board committees including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) (together, the “Board Committees”). The
Board has delegated to the Board Committees’ responsibilities as set out
in their respective terms of reference.

Board Composition

As at the date of this Report, the Board of Directors currently consists
a total of seven members, including three non-executive Directors, one
executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors are expressly identified in all
corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The Board comprises the following Directors:

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xu Mingxing

Mr. Tang Yue (appointed on 20 July 2020)
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang

Executive Director
Mr. Ren Yunan

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Zhouxin

Mr. Lee Man Chiu

Mr. Jiang Guoliang

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 23
to 29 of this Report.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Independence of Directors

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent and meet the independence
guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

Board Meetings

The Board has five scheduled Board meetings during the Year. Additional
meetings would be arranged as required.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in drawing the agenda of
each meeting and each Director may request inclusion of matters in the
agenda. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice of a regular Board meeting
is given and the Company aims at giving reasonable notice for all other
Board meetings. The Company also aims at sending the agenda and the
accompanying board papers, which are prepared in such form and quality
as will enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it, to all Directors at a reasonable time before the intended date of
a Board meeting.

All Directors have accessed to the Company Secretary who is responsible
for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with and all applicable
rules and regulations are followed.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of Board and
Board Committee meetings, drafting and final versions of which would be
sent to Directors for comments and records respectively, in both cases
within a reasonable time after each meeting. Minutes are recorded in
sufficient detail the matters as considered by the Board and decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views
(if any) expressed. Minutes of the Board and Board Committees meetings
are kept by the Company Secretary and are opened for inspection by any
Director or Board Committee member.

Corporate Governance Report

EEERES

EFg (@@

EF/IUM

FABEERERBIUIFNTESRE LHRA
$3. 1R EIB I & 7 2 By F 2 Z E bR
BoARBRR FMABILIFRITESIEBIL
AL G EARAIETIBBI S -

FMTEER (BEFATESTKBIUNFNITESR)
AREFEHRREZNEEEHER NHAE
EEm UMEEETTANE S E B
BE-BUIFATEFEBNEZEZE T FiNE
BERRREESGEH-

EXCER

EFENAFENBREBRAREE
WERE ARERIIZHEE-

ﬂlll‘

Exggie

REWERHEIFEITEGREENREE EFH
BEXRNBELMARMSER -EFEERLH—
R HEDTIOXERN ARBTFE IR —TH
MEZFEEREHTEBN - ARBTEIF
BRERESFEXHELEABETESTEE
HAMAERE2BEE MAPARERTEN
FEEENHEREAROBRFELIBERE

FIEESHNERARMENRER  RARWERER
EFERFAFEBRRIAEIIEREST

AENEEERSEFTENAETZEENT
EAchR f RE A %?ﬁ’%.ﬁ CERBIIITE K

BRERNEEFERNLEBERLRES VB
HESKRERR REBERMEHEHEHR A -§
EORHERLEEEMERSIERERNR
EB BHFMANGE > HPEEESR LA EM
RENIRENRHBE WA - EEFRHEET
ZEENGRLCRARANEBRT  LARMHME
HEENEZLZEGMETH-

BT R AR AR
B —FFR

35



Corporate Governance Report

EEERRS

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Board Meetings (continued)

If a substantial shareholder of the Company or a Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter (including material transaction with connected persons)
which the Board has determined this matter to be material, a Board
meeting will be held instead of by way of resolution.

Attendance records

During the Year, a total of five Board meetings and a general meeting have
been held and the attendance records are as follows:
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Board Meetings General Meetings
Attended/ Attended/
Directors Eligible to Attend Eligible to Attend
HE SERHE HESERHE
5= EEFERMRY RERAEHIRE
Non-executive Directors
EMITES
Mr. Xu Mingxing 3/5 1/1
REAESEE
Mr. Tang Yue (appointed on 20 July 2020) 3/5 1/1
FHitE W25t A - +HEZD
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang 5/5 1/1
BTN
Executive Director
WITES
Mr. Ren Yunan 5/5 1/1
FESBEE
Independent non-executive Directors
BIIFHITES
Mr. Li Zhouxin 5/5 1/1
EEMEE
Mr. Lee Man Chiu 5/5 1/1
=i E
Mr. Jiang Guoliang 5/5 1/1
BERSLE

36 OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report



THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Access to information

The Directors may seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. The Company will, upon
request, provide separate independent professional advice to the
Directors to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties to the
Company.

The Board is supplied with relevant information by the senior management
pertaining to matters to be brought before the Board for decision as well
as reports relating to operational and financial performance of the Group
before each Board meeting. Where any Director requires more additional
information from the management (other than the management provide
proactively), each Director has the right to access to the Company’s
senior management separately and independently to make further
enquiries if necessary.

Appointments and re-election of Directors

Directors should be nominated by the members of the Board to fill
casual vacancies or as an addition to the existing Board. The Nomination
Committee, in consultation with the Board, determines the selection
criteria and identifies candidates with the appropriate expertise and
experience for the appointments of new Directors. The Nomination
Committee then nominates the most suitable candidate to be appointed
to the Board.

According to the Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any Director
so appointed by the Board shall hold office, in the case of filing a casual
vacancy, only until the next following general meeting of the Company or,
in the case of an addition to their number, until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company who shall then be eligible for re-election
at such general meeting.

According to the Article 108 of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors shall for the time being (or, if
their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Mr. Pu Xiaojiang, Mr. Ren Yunan and Mr. Jiang Guoliang are due to retire
by rotation from the Board in accordance with Article 108 of the Articles
of Association at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(the “2021 AGM"). The retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Since 9 July 2018, Mr. Ren Yunan serves as an executive Director,
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. He is responsible for
formulating corporative and business strategies and making major
operational decisions. With the support of the executive Directors and
the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors
are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and received
adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Board has at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors, the number of which must represent at least one-third of the
Board, with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and related
financial management expertise.

The independent non-executive Directors are considered by the Board to
be independent of the management and free of any relationship that could
materially interfere with the exercise of their independent judgments. The
Board considers that each of the independent non-executive Directors
brings his own relevant expertise to the Board and its deliberations. None
of the independent non-executive Directors has any business or financial
interests with the Group nor has any relationship with other Directors.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS

The Directors’ responsibilities for the accounts and the responsibilities of
the external auditors to the shareholders of the Company are set out on
pages 136 to 139 of this Report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
Purpose

This policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board
of Directors (the “Board Diversity Policy”).

Vision

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
(CONTINUED)

Policy Statement

A truly diverse board includes and makes good use of differences in
the skills, regional and industry experience, background, race, gender
and other qualities of directors. These differences have been taken into
account in determining the optimum composition of the Board. All Board
appointments are based on merit while taking into account diversity
(including gender diversity).

Measurable Objectives

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually measurable
objectives for implementing diversity on the Board and recommend them
to the Board for adoption.

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity of
Directors, in terms of skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age and gender.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will report annually, in the “Corporate
Governance Report”, on the Board’s composition under diversified
perspectives, and monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy.

Review

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required,
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

Disclosure

The Board Diversity Policy will be published on the website of the
Company for public information.

A summary of the Board Diversity Policy together with its measurable
objectives set for implementing, and the progress made towards
achieving those objectives has been disclosed in the “Corporate
Governance Report” of this Report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Li Zhouxin
(the chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Lee Man Chiu and
Mr. Jiang Guoliang, all of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The main responsibilities of Nomination Committee shall be:

° to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

° to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships. In identifying
suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall consider the
candidates on merit and contribution the candidate will bring to the
Board with due regard to the Board Diversity Policy;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive, taking into
account the Company’s business model and specific needs, the
challenges and opportunities facing the Company and therefore,
what skills and expertise are needed on the Board in future;

° to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

° to review regularly the Board Diversity Policy;

° to review regularly the contribution required from the Director to
perform his responsibilities, and whether he is spending sufficient
time performing them; and

° to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be contained in the memorandum and Articles of
Association or imposed by the Listing Rules or applicable laws.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(CONTINUED)

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings. The
attendance records of each member of the Nomination Committee are set
out below:

Nomination Committee

R S
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Mr. Li Zhouxin (Chairman)
EEMEE (F/E)

Mr. Lee Man Chiu
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Mr. Jiang Guoliang

BB RTE

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the following
nomination procedures, criteria and process in the nomination and
appointment of Directors (the “Nomination Policy”).

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria in
evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships (the “Selection
Criteria”):

° character and integrity;

° qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

° willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board
member and other directorships and significant commitments;

° requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time)
and whether the candidates would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules;
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NOMINATION POLICY (CONTINUED)
Selection Criteria (continued)

° Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted by
the Company for achieving diversity on the Board; and

° such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

Directors Nomination Procedures

The Board has the relevant procedures for Directors’ nomination which
are pursuant to the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association as below:

(@) Appointment of New Director(s)

(i) the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director
and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out in the Selection Criteria to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship;

(i) if the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable);

(i) the Nomination Committee shall make recommendation
to the Board in respect of the appointment of appropriate
candidate for directorship; and

(iv)  for any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election
as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out in the Selection
Criteria to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board shall make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed election of director at
the general meeting.
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NOMINATION POLICY (CONTINUED)
Directors Nomination Procedures (continued)

(b) Re-election of Director(s) at General Meeting

0] the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director including his/her attendance of Board meetings
and, where applicable, general meetings, and the level of
participation and performance on the Board;

(i) the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall also review
and determine whether the retiring director continues to meet
the criteria as set out in the Selection Criteria; and

(i)~ the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed
re-election of director at the general meeting.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Lee
Man Chiu (the chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Li Zhouxin and
Mr. Jiang Guoliang, the majority of the Remuneration Committee are the
independent non-executive Directors which complied with rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules.

The main responsibilities of Remuneration Committee shall be:

o to consult the chairman of the Board and/or chief executive about
their remuneration proposals for other executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee should have access to independent
professional advice if necessary;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

° to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
(CONTINUED)

o to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
This should, include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

° to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;

° to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

° to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate;

° to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration; and

° to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be contained in the memorandum and Articles of
Association or imposed by the Listing Rules or applicable laws.

The Remuneration Committee may consult the Chairman about their
proposals relating to the remuneration of other executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration industry practices and
norms in compensation, in addition to the performance relative to the
industry and the performance of the individual Directors. The Company
reviews the remuneration package annually taking into consideration
of the market practice, competitive market position and individual
performance.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
(CONTINUED)

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held three meetings.
The attendance records of each member of the Remuneration Committee

are set out below:

Remuneration Committee

HWEEE
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HFMEESEEMENHELHRETIWT

Committee Meetings Attended/
Eligible to Attend
HE HEEBUEZESEENRH

Mr. Lee Man Chiu (Chairman)
EXBEE (F/E)

Mr. Li Zhouxin

EEMELE

Mr. Jiang Guoliang
BERLE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee in accordance with
the requirements of among Listing Rules with terms of reference aligned
with the provision of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. The Audit Committee is to serve as a focal point for communication
among other directors, the external auditors, and the management
as their duties relate to financial and other reporting, internal controls
and the audits; and to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities
by providing an independent review of financial reporting, be satisfying
themselves as to the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls
and as to the efficiency of the audits. The Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Zhouxin (the
Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Lee Man Chiu and Mr. Jiang
Guoliang.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee shall be:

° to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
Company’s external auditors, and to approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the the Company’s external auditors and
any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

° to review and monitor the the Company’s external auditors’
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards; The Audit
Committee should discuss with auditor the nature and scope of
the audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences.
Should there be more than one auditor firm participating, the Audit
Committee shall ensure the coordination between them;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

° to develop and implement policy on engaging the Company’s
external auditors to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
external auditor includes any entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with the audit firm or any entity that a
reasonable and informed third party knowing all relevant information
would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit firm nationally
or internationally. The Audit Committee should report to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed;

° to monitor the integrity of financial statements and the annual report
and accounts and half-year report, and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them;

° to develop and review our Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board
and monitor our Group’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements.

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate any activity
within its terms of reference and the authority to obtain outside legal or
other independent professional advice if it considers necessary. It is given
access to and assistance from the employees and reasonable resources
to discharge its duties properly.

During the Year, the Board had no disagreement with the Audit
Committee’s view on the re-appointment of the external auditors. The
financial statements for the Year have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings including
to review the interim financial results of the Group for the six months
ended 30 September 2020 and to review the Group’s financial results
for the year ended 31 March 2020 for submission to the Board for
approval, review the internal control and risk management systems of
the Group, oversee the audit process and make recommendation on the
re-appointment of the external auditors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

The attendance records of each member of the Audit Committee are set
out below:

Audit Committee

BEREEY
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Committee Meetings Attended/

Eligible to Attend
HE HEERHEEZETTRNRY

Mr. Li Zhouxin (Chairman)
FEMEE FEFE)

Mr. Lee Man Chiu
FXBEE

Mr. Jiang Guoliang
BEREE

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities for consolidated financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 131 to 139.

Annual audit fees of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year payable to the external auditors are approximately HK$1,150,000
(for the year ended 31 March 2020: approximately HK$1,150,000). In
addition, approximately HK$260,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2020:
HK$260,000) was incurred for other non-audit services.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities)
of risk management and internal control to the Audit Committee, who
oversees management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems.

Main features of the risk management and
internal control systems

The risk management framework of the Group and main responsibilities of
the members in the framework are described as follows:

[ B T e P 0 422

BEREND HEaSAREE RN IEH G E R
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Board of Directors

Audit Committee
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Board level
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Senior management level
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Management of subsidiaries
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL REERRAIBES ()
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Main features of the risk management and REEERATERTIENEEGE
internal control systems (continued) (#8)

Member Main Responsibilities

4= FERE

The Board ° Set up goals for risk management strategy, assess and determine the nature and
B5Eg extent of risk acceptable to achieve the strategy goals;

Audit Committee
BZEEg

RIABREEHBER TEAEEBEREUBERIAZNEREEREZE ;

° Establish and maintain a proper and effective risk management and internal control
systems; and
BURMFBERANNEREERANEIERIFIE ; K&

° Review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems annually.

SERNRREERNEIERFIENERE

° Assist the Board in overseeing the risk level and the design and performance of the risk
management and internal control systems;

WEIEE G ER MK T U R EE RN IEGFIENRRAITER

° Discuss the risk management and internal control systems with the management,
ensure the management has fulfilled its responsibility of establishing effective systems;

HEEENREREERAENFE BREEZECETHERLAMNHE ;

° Ensure that the internal audit function has sufficient resources for operation and has a
proper position, review and supervise its performance;

BERASSEAHEABRENEREFREZNMA EEREEHR ;

° Keep updated of various major risks confronted by the Group and the risk
management status, make decisions for effective risk control;

BHAEEHEENSHEEARBGREREERER R (FHBBERIZEGFIRE ;

° Report the risk status of the Group and issues to be concerned or improved to the
Board on a regular basis;

ERREFEREAEANRRA LB FREIHTSHO™E ;

o Facilitate risk management and assessment, regularly appoint relevant accountable
persons to implement risk assessment;

REREEE R ERBEEMEE NETRRT
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL R ERRAIBES (4B)
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Main features of the risk management and REEERATERTENEEGE
internal control systems (continued) (#&)

Audit Committee (continued) o Organise and promote the establishment of the risk management system at the group
BZEZEg (@ level;

EREDEREENEREERRAER

o Review material risk assessment report and various risk management reports;
EEEAEBTEREREZERGEERS

° Review major risk management measures, rectify and deal with the decisions made or
actions adopted by relevant organisations or individuals beyond the risk management

system;
EEBAEAREIERDT 4 EREIERRAMSEAR R EEERERUIMEEBAR
ﬂigyff—f@] )

° Engage relevant persons to organise and coordinate various departments and projects

to carry out identification and assessment of significant risks at the group level,
summarise and analyse such information, submit risk assessment and various risk
management reports; and

EEE=1aPN=F ﬁ’a’ﬂm.ﬂ PR IEE éﬁ%%@ﬂ@%kﬂﬁﬁ E1T BRI B 5T
%E,‘E.E)E’zﬁﬁﬂa B RRARMERSERBEIRRE

° Carry out risk management for other major issues.
HHEMBEARBETRRER
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL REERRAIBES ()
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Main features of the risk management and B EERAIBERIHIENEEFE
internal control systems (continued) (#&)

Management of subsidiaries
B B EE

Ensure that the subsidiaries carry out the risk assessment in compliance with the risk
assessment manual formulated by the Group;
FE AR B8 A B ¥ AR AN 5= [ 1) 7 Y B B 5T Ay = 1T LB 54

Review and approve the risk assessment results of the subsidiaries in respect of the
business;
BRI ENB A HEBHN AT EER ;

Ensure that the subsidiaries implement effective risk management;
ERREBABDEMA NN EARER ;

Monitor the principal business risks confronted by the subsidiaries and the
effectiveness of relevant risk management measures; and

EENBATEENIZXFRARKERARERERARMNE ; &

Allocate resources such as fund and workforce to the subsidiaries for implementation
of the risk assessment projects.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL R ERRAIBES (4B)
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

The process used to identify, assess and RR#HER - SHh R EEREKRMERE
management of principal risks FF

The risk management process of the Group is described as follows: AEBNREEERZFMUNT .

Risk identification - identify the current risks confronted.

B 3 ) # 0 BRI mERNY Rk

Risk analysis - conduct analysis on the risk including the impact extent and possibility of occurrence.
BB A HEBREEREENRIEEETRE DT

Risk response - choose a proper risk response method and develop a risk mitigation strategy.

BB FE ¢ BRI 2RV R b AE 5 T 2 v PR R B RV 2R B o

Control measures - propose up-to-date internal control measures and policy and process.

eee B =i Fic 35t 3R BT AY 1A B0 422 151 45 I S R B AR o

Risk control - continuously monitor the risks identified and implement relevant internal control
R B measures to ensure the effective operation of the risk response strategy.

FRE R R B 5! B B X B AR FE B PO B4 R R A (R L B FE Y SRR R A B (T o

Risk management report - summarise results of risk assessment and analysis and internal audit, formulate and
AR EERE report an action plan.

BAS R R SHE R B SHRIAS R B ETENET B I AN AR -
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

The process used to review the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control
systems and to resolve material internal
control defects:

The Group establishes a risk management information and
communication channel that is functional within the whole basic risk
control procedure, connects different levels in the reporting system and
different departments and operation units, so as to ensure timely, accurate
and complete communication of information, laying a solid foundation for
the monitoring and improvement of risk management.

Different departments and business units of the Group regularly inspect
and examine their own risk management process in order to locate
the shortcomings and remedy the situation if possible. Their inspection
and examination reports are delivered to the Group’s risk management
department in time.

The Board further considers that (i) there was no material issue relating
to the Group’s risk management and internal controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions of
the Group; and (i) that there were adequate staff with appropriate and
adequate qualifications and experience, resources for accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions, and adequate training programmes
had been provided during the Year.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company has engaged Mr. Shi Shaoming and Ms. Wong Po Ling,
Pauline as the Company Secretary. In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules, Mr. Shi Shaoming and Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline have
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the Year.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board approved and adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which outlines general principles for the determination and
payment of dividend to its shareholders. Dividends or distributions by
the Company shall be determined and declared in accordance with
the applicable laws and regulations, the Articles of Association and the
Dividend Policy. The Board may amend any provision in the Dividend
Policy if it considers necessary.

Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, that, in recommending or declaring
dividends, the Company may declare and pay dividends to the
Shareholders by way of cash or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate. It is the policy of the Board, in recommending dividends, to
allow the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits, and at the
same time, to ensure the Company to retain adequate reserves for future
growth. The Company’s decision to declare or to pay any dividends in
the future, and the amount of such dividends will depend upon, among
other things, the current and future operations, financial condition, liquidity
position and capital requirements of the Group, as well as dividends
received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in
turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to
pay a dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will
be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and
payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the laws of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong, the Articles of
Association and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Whilst this Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the
financial and cash-flow position of the Group, the Board will continue to
review this Dividend Policy from time to time and the Board may exercise
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify this
Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary. There is no
assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any particular amount
for any given period. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a
legally binding commitment by the Company that any dividend will be
paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the
Group’s business, performance and strategies. The Company also
recognises the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of
information, which enable Shareholders and investors to make the
informed investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains the
website at www.okg.com.hk, where up-to-date information on the
Company’s business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access. Latest information on the Group, including annual and
interim reports, announcements and press releases, are updated on the
Company’s website in a timely fashion.

The 2021 AGM will be held on 25 August 2021. The notice of the AGM
will be sent to the Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the
AGM.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a
special general meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed
at Shareholders’ meeting. Proposal shall be sent to the Board or the
Company Secretary by written requisition to the Company Secretary at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 902-903,
9th Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong
Kong.
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EEERRS

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
(CONTINUED)

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary or relevant personnel by
mail to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit
902-903, 9th Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway
Bay, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

To reflect the change of name of the Company, the consolidated version
of the amended and restated memorandum and Articles of Association
(not formally adopted by the Shareholders at the general meeting) has
been published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
on 26 June 2020.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no significant change on the
Company’s constitutional documents.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in (i) foundation, building construction
works and ancillary services, provision of construction wastes handling
services; (i) technology services; (iii) trust and custody services; (iv) lending
business and (v) investment in securities. During the Year, the Group has
commenced the trust and custody services, building construction works,
in order to broaden the Group’s source of income.

While striving for performance, the Group pursues business sustainability
by being a responsible corporate citizen and is committed to maintaining
high standards of business practices in relation to environmental
protection, social responsibility and corporate governance.

ABOUT THE REPORT

This report is the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
(collectively “the ESG Report”) published by the Group, which discloses
the Group’s measures and performance on sustainable development
topics in a transparent and open manner, in order to increase
stakeholders’ confidence and understanding on the Group.

Reporting Standards

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Guide”) of the Stock
Exchange set out in Appendix 27 of Main Board Listing Rules. The ESG
Report provides a simplified overview on the environmental, social and
governance (‘ESG”) performance of the Group. The information in the
ESG Report is derived from the Group’s official documents and statistics,
as well as the integration and summary of monitoring, management and
operational information provided by subsidiaries of the Group.

Reporting Year

All the information in the ESG Report reflects the performance of the
Group in environmental management and social responsibility from 1 April
2020 to 31 March 2021 (the “Reporting Period”). This ESG Report is
released annually by the Group for public review so as to improve the
transparency and responsibility of information disclosure.
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RIR HERERERS

ABOUT THE REPORT (CONTINUED)
Reporting Scope

The ESG Report focuses on the Group’s key business activities carried
out in Hong Kong, which include the segments of foundation, building
construction works and ancillary services, provision of construction
wastes handling services, which represent the Group’s major source
of revenue and income. After the comprehensive completion of data
collection system and the Group’s deepening in its ESG work, the Group
has identified certain environmental, social and governance issues (‘ESG
issues”) relevant to the Group, which have been assessed by considering
their materiality and importance to the Group’s principal activities and
stakeholders as well as the Group. Those identified ESG issues and Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) have been disclosed in the ESG Report.

ESG Governance

The Group has developed its internal strategies and policies with aims
to create sustainable values to its stakeholders, thereby to large extent
minimising the Group’s adverse impact on the environment. In order
to carry out the Group’s sustainability strategy from top to bottom, the
Board has ultimate responsibilities for ensuring the effectiveness of the
Group’s ESG policies. The Group has established dedicated teams to
manage ESG issues within each business division of the Group and kept
monitoring and overseeing the progress against corporate goals and
targets for addressing climate change. Dedicated teams with designated
staff for management of ESG issues has been assigned to enforce and
supervise the implementation of the relevant ESG policies cascading
through the Group. With the forward-looking guidance and well-designed
plans of action to address underlying ESG matters, the management and
responsible teams keep reviewing and adjusting the Group’s sustainability
policies to satisfy the ever-changing needs of its stakeholders on a
regular basis. For instance, through the assignment of the responsibility
of progress tracking to different management-level positions, the Group
is committed to achieving an excellent performance in ESG management
while also remaining competitive compared with its peers. Details of the
Group’s management approaches in both the environmental and social
aspects are elaborated in different sections of this ESG report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Stock Exchange has set forth four principles for reporting in the
ESG Guide: Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency, which
should form the basis for preparing the ESG Report. As The Stock
Exchange emphasizes, stakeholder engagement is the method by which
materiality is assessed. Through stakeholder engagement, companies can
understand wide-ranging views and identify material environmental and
social issues.

The Group believes that effective feedback from stakeholders not
only contributes to comprehensive and impartial evaluation of the
environmental, social and governance performance, but also enables the
Group to improve the performance based on their feedback. Therefore,
the Group has engaged in open and regular communication with
the stakeholder groups including shareholders and investors, clients,
employees, suppliers, subcontractors and government. Over the years,
the Group has continued to fine-tune our sustainability focus, addressing
pressing issues. The table below shows how the Group communicates
with key stakeholder groups and their respective concerns.
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RIR HERERERS

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

Stakeholders and engagement methods

Stakeholders
HinE

Shareholders and
Investors

REKRIKEE

Clients

E9S

Employees

=1

Suppliers
HEERE

Sub-contractors

S

Government

BF
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Interests and concerns

o R Bl

Return on investment and dividends
BERHRKEEE

Corporate strategy and governance
PERBEKRER

Risk mitigation and management

R B R B e B I

Robust operation management
BRENKSEE

Full compliance with laws and regulations
EHEETERRER

Sustainability performance of operations
EEMNFERE

Technical capability

BAMTEE S

Security control

Z 21

Compliance and risk control
aRKERERE

Compensation and benefits

S BN e 12 A

Occupational health and safety
BEREREZSD

Career development opportunities
BEEREE

Corporate culture and well-being

NEXAERABHE

Long-term partnership
REAERHEAR

Ethical business practices
BEEEER

Supplier assessment criteria

MR TARE

Effective project management
BMIEEHERE

Occupational health and safety
HWERRERZE

Ethical business practices
BEEEERR

Sub-contractors assessment criteria

DHI @ ERE

Laws and regulation compliance

ERERAR

Fin&E28 (@)

FRERSEAFN

Engagement channels

SHEEE

° Annual General Meeting
RRBFERS

° Interim and annual reports, corporate
websites

FRERRE R R~ (DAL

° Announcements, notices of meetings,
circulars
NE RGBS BE

o Interim and annual reports, corporate
websites
FRHERRR E R R~ (R AL

° Regular meetings and communication
EHgBEKER

° In-house training programmes
7 &R = )l 5T 2

o Performance reviews and appraisals
R K sTHE

° Promote career development and
enhance competence at all levels

EORERERESEEENGS

° Procurement processes
REE AR

° Audits and assessments
Bz B E

° Annual health, safety and environment
seminars
FERRE -Z2KIREWTE
° Training sessions
EollRE
° Regular progress meetings
EHH ,_k = u?}z
° Audits and assessments
Bz s E

° Review latest laws and regularly
inspection
BRENEARRERESE
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Stakeholders and engagement methods
(continued)

The business of the Group affects different stakeholders, and
stakeholders have different expectations on the Group. The Group will
maintain communication with stakeholders continuously, collect opinions
of stakeholders through different forms more extensively, and make
substantive analysis more comprehensively. At the same time, the Group
will enhance the reporting principles of materiality, quantification, balance
and consistency, in order to define the content of the ESG Report and
presentation of the information that is more in line with the expectations of
stakeholders.

Climate Change

Climate change is one of the most complicated challenges faced
by mankind’s in the new century. Global warming gives rise to more
frequent extreme weather conditions including changes in precipitation
mode, droughts, floods and bushfires. Rise in sea level will make tens
of thousands of people in densely populated coastal areas and island
countries homeless. Faced with all sorts of problems, individuals,
corporations and governments must take immediate actions to tackle
climate change.

Over-emission of greenhouse gases is the main factor in causing
global climate change. To achieving a low carbon economy, the Group
is committed to reducing its greenhouse gas emissions through the
approaches of mitigation and adaptation. For example, the Group has
strived to mitigate the risks brought by climate change through the
adoption of various environmental policies and measures; and promoting
energy saving measures and habits in office. The Group has also
considered potential physical risks of climate change to its daily operation
such as storms, fires or heatwaves and through implementation of the
relevant protection measures to minimise the risks.

The Group are focused on reducing emissions in its operations, engaging
suppliers to reduce emissions in supply chains, strengthening the
resilience of its business and using its voice to advocate for collective
action.
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RIR HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is aware of its responsibility and required commitment to the
environmental sustainable development of its on-going operations. The
Group supports “Green Environment” ideas, comply with the requirements
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (‘HKSAR”) laws,
and specific guides in the industry, and are committed to the social
responsibility of protecting the environment as a responsible corporation.
The Group has implemented policies and taken measures to ensure the
business and operation to be energy, water and resources saving.

The Group had not been subjected to any reported violation in relation
to its emissions and waste discharges or other environmental issues
during the Reporting Period. The Group did not note any material non-
compliance with environmental laws and regulations during the Reporting
Period.

A1. Emissions and waste

The Group understands that construction projects may generate
pollution and impact to the environment undoubtedly. In order to
govern the environmental management and minimise the impact
caused by the Group’s operations, the Group has formulated
relevant policies relating to environmental management and
established an environmental management system in accordance
with 1ISO14001, which has been integrated into daily operations.
The Group is strictly committed to complying with requirements
stipulated in the relevant local environmental laws and regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

The Group has a dedicated department to coordinate and
implement environmental protection measures and objectives, and
to address environmental issues. The Group carries out a series
of environmental management measures at construction sites,
covering planning, materials procurement and various construction
procedures. The Group has also adopted measures concerning
noise, dust, pollution discharge, waste, energy, carbon emissions
and biodiversity to ensure that all business activities are strictly in
compliance with local laws and regulations.

In specific, the Group has also adopted the relevant procedures
and guidelines relating to construction waste management, in order
to govern the management and disposal process of construction
wastes and maximise the reuse and recycling.

The Group strives to constantly improve its environmental
management system, in order to minimize negative impacts on the
environment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
would have a significant impact on the environment or on the
Group.

Exhaust Gas Emissions

Exhaust gas emissions from construction sites may cause nuisance
to both construction workers and communities nearby. During
the construction and demolition process, air pollutants including
nitrogen oxides (“NOx”), sulphur oxides (“SOx”) and Particulate
Matter (“PM”) are generated by construction machines and
vehicles, which consume diesel and other fossil fuels.
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RIR HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

IRIR (48)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued) Al. HEI R EEY) (48)
Exhaust Gas Emissions (continued) EERBER (48)
Exhaust Gas Emissions Performance Summary RN R IBE
2021 2020

Type of exhaust gas Unit Quantity Quantity

B % —ECRF
EEsmEEE B = #H2
NOx kg 321.44 3,332.41
EaE=R(wt) T
SOx kg 053 0.33
TR et T
PM kg 25.94 239,61
FERRY)| F=

For the level of exhaust gas incurred by the Group has decreased
comparing to FY2020, due to the decrease in frequency of travelling
between construction sites and dumping sites compare to last
Reporting Period.

For the construction business, air pollution is one of the key
concerns on environmental protection. Related operational
procedure is established to control air pollution and emissions
of dust, fumes, smokes, obnoxious gases and other air-borne
particulates within the legal limits and tolerable limits of the affected
persons.

For dust emissions control, vehicles carrying sand, debris or other
materials likely to generate dust are fully covered with canvas before
leaving the site. Besides, all vehicles are jet-washed prior to leaving
the site. Wet work method should be used during cleaning of higher
units/floors to reduce dust. The storage areas for sand, cement and
aggregates are located as far as possible from sensitive receptors
such as public housing, school, hospital and hostel etc. Stockpile
of sand and aggregates etc. at concrete batching plant is sheltered
with canvas if possible to prevent dust pollution. To control the
emissions of fumes and obnoxious gas, proper disposal and
removal of unwanted air-conditioner is needed and use of halon-
containing fire-extinguishers is prohibited. All gas cylinders should
be kept at a safe place and all the precaution should be taken
during hot work/activities. Air quality of sites is monitored to ensure
the effectiveness of the mitigation measures.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Exhaust Gas Emissions (continued)

Exhaust Gas Emissions Performance Summary (continued)

To further manage exhausts gas emissions, construction related
plants and vehicles are properly maintained to ensure compliance
with related standards. All applicable machineries are certified with
Non-Road Mobile Machinery (‘“NRMM”), which are recognised as
more environmental friendly and emission-compliant operations.
The Group has also installed air pollution control equipment on gas
discharge ports of compressors, crawler cranes and generators.
Designated employees are employed to conduct regular
maintenance and monitoring work on machines and vehicles to
ensure no heavily polluted black smoke are emitted. Marked Ultra-
Low-Sulphur Diesel (“MULSD”) are used for the diesel-operated
constructional plant on site. Random testing of sulphur content
is performed for the plant. Records of MULSD consumption and
testing are properly kept.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

The Group is committed to maintaining the quality of the
environment, using clean energy, reducing pollution and waste
during operation to reduce and even eliminate the adverse impact
on the environment from operating activities and emissions.
Over the years, the Group has been committed to environmental
protection and has adopted a number of appropriate measures
and monitoring methods to ensure that its responsibility for
environmental protection has been fulfilled.

In the business operation, the Group actively advocates energy
conservation and emission reduction by continuously increasing
investment in environmental protection. Through the use of clean
energy and other measures, the Group reduces the generation of
exhaust pollutants from the source to avoid environmental pollution.
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RIR HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)
A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions (continued)

GHG Emissions Performance Summary (continueq)

=
Al BRI R BEY ()

RIR (48)

BERE (TRERE) HFK (@)

HERBEHINRBE (B)

2021 2020
2021 Intensity? - 2020 Intensity? -
GHG scope’ Unit Quantity  unit per project Quantity unit per project
ZEZ-F “BTEF
“E_-F BE- “ZTZE BE -
BE R AR HE" B ¥E SEREEQ Y& SEBEEEM
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)
BEHRREREYN EE1)
- Diesel and petrol consumption Tonnes 92.48 2.64 60.33 3.02
- Bl AHERE ]
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)
R E REEHEH (#E2)
- Electricity consumption Tonnes 66.50 1.90 30.01 1.50
-BEE ]
Other indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3)
HittE R ER AR E#ES)
— Electricity used for processing fresh water, Tonnes 15.48 0.44 30.64 1.53
sewage and others
- RN BAREMAERNE S ]
Total GHG emissions Tonnes 174.46 4,98 120.98 6.05
RERBESNE ]

According to the figures above, the GHG emissions in FY2021

per project has decreased from 6.05 tonnes to 4.98 tonnes when

comparing with last Reporting Period. The reason is that lower

emissions were generated by certain Group’s projects which were

at completion status.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions (continued)

GHG Emissions Performance Summary (continueq)

Note:

1. GHG emissions data is presented in carbon dioxide equivalent and was
in reference to, including but not limited to, the reporting requirements of
the “GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” issued
by the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council for
Sustainable Development, “Summary of Emission Factors for the Guidance
for Voluntary Corporate Greenhouse Gas Reporting 2015” issued by
Ministry for the Environment of New Zealand and the HKEX - KPIs:

Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs.

2. As at 31 March 2021, the total number of the completed and ongoing
construction projects of the Group was 35 (2020: 20 projects), which

would also be used for calculating other intensity data.

In addition, climate change has been an increasing concern for
parties including the Government of HKSAR, general public and
investors. The Group has thereby responded through limiting
carbon footprints of its construction activities. The Group also
strives to use regionally sourced materials produced within 800km
from the construction sites, where applicable, in order to reduce
exhaust gas and GHG emitted from freight transportation.

Consumption of electricity is proved to cause indirect GHG
emissions through its generation process. The Group has
implemented measures as stated in section A2 “Energy Efficiency”
below in order to reduce energy consumption, and thereby
minimising carbon footprint.
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RIR HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Hazardous Wastes

Due to the nature of the projects being participated during
the Reporting Period, the Group does not generate significant
hazardous wastes. However, the Group still strives to mitigate the
hazardous wastes generated from the operation process as much
as possible.

Sewage Disposal and Management

Wastewater generated from different construction sites without
proper treatment may block nearby drains and cause pollution.
As a result, the Group takes further necessary steps to monitor
and maintain wastewater quality. The amount of wastewater
consumption during the Reporting Period is stated at Aspect A2
“Water Efficiency Management”.

The sewage produced from construction sites that need to be
discharged would first be treated at the sewage treatment tank, to
ensure it meets the requirements of the sewage discharge license
and would subsequently be discharged through sewage drains.

Nonpoint source water pollution is often caused by land runoff,
seepage and drainage after precipitation and construction works.
To avoid leakage of wastewater to nearby communities, temporary
drainage network has been established on site to systematically
collect all discharges. Designated workers are appointed to
properly manage the drainage system and ensure that there are no
blockages of drains and sewers caused by debris and sediments.
Sandbags are placed along the site boundary to prevent any
leakage of surface runoff where possible.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)
A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Waste Disposal and Management

Wastes are well managed on-site. To ensure waste management
process is both environmentally acceptable and in full compliance
with statutory and contractual requirements, waste handling,
transportation and disposal procedures are implemented. The
Group provides guidance and instruction on waste management
to all site staff. The Group has adopted a number of measures to
manage the disposal process of the waste, including but not limited

According to the relevant waste management policies of
the Group, all departments and workshops classify the solid
wastes generated and take measures for their comprehensive
utilization to reduce disposal pressure. For example, inert and
non-inert waste are identified before disposal;

The subsidiaries of the Group engage qualified waste
collectors to collect all kinds of domestic and construction
waste. These wastes collected are disposed at the
designated landfill and treatment facilities; and

Non-hazardous waste should be recycled and utilized as
much as possible. Non-hazardous waste and hazardous
waste that cannot be reused and recycled will be entrusted to
a qualified waste disposal company for disposal.
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RIR HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Waste Disposal and Management (continued)

In its operation, the Group inevitably generates waste. However,
with effective waste disposal strategies and policies, the Group
has minimized the environmental risks and impacts caused by

the waste. During the Reporting Period, the consumption volume

generated by the Group is set out as below:

RIR (8)
Al BRI R BEY ()

BEYRERER ()

FEREEBET > AN E A Pl e ZE R
W) o 2R > JRFE R RUAY BE ) B 12 SR BE K Y
B AEEERBEYAI S RNIRE R R R
FERERB -RBESHBEAN ~EEE
ERUHEEHIIWT ¢

2021 2020
2021 Intensity - 2020 Intensity —
Types of non-hazardous waste Unit Quantity  unit per project Quantity unit per project
—ET-F “BTEF
“E_-F BE- “ZZE BE-
EEBYESR Efi ¥ SEEREQ L BEEESQ
Inert construction and demolition (‘C&D”) Tonnes 20,119 574.83 150,081 7,504.03
waste disposed to public fil facilities
(including sands, bricks and concrete)
BAHIEIRS R BN IB IR EEY ]
(BER AR E 1)
Non-inert C&D waste disposed at landfill (bamboo, Tonnes 2,372 67.76 376 18.79
plastics, glass, wood and other organic
materials)
REDRIEE 55 BRI IE I R2 ) U]
(F7~ BB IR ~ R R LA A K]
Mixed construction & demolition waste Tonnes 326 9.3 53 2.63

BEFEEY m

According to the figures above, the non-hazardous waste has been
significantly decreased in FY2021. It is mainly due to the certain
Group projects had completed during the Reporting Period and
therefore incurred much lower quantities of inert C&D waste.

The Group has been proactively looking for solutions to minimise or
even avoid generation and disposal of wastes. The Group has then
applied the 4R principles of waste reduction — i.e. reduce, reuse,
recycle and replace — where feasible. For example, to reduce waste,
all construction activities are specially planned by professionals
to minimise and avoid unnecessary resources input throughout
the piling process. To reuse materials, construction workers are
directed to reuse construction materials whenever possible in the
same project or in other projects of the Group. For example, extra
steels are reused to produce construction materials and to support
temporary construction works on site.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1,

Emissions and waste (continued)

Waste Disposal and Management (continued)

Other measures for handling wastes include:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR - HERERRS

IRIR (48)

A1.

- Placing recycle bins around the Group’s offices, properties

and construction sites to collect general wastes such as

cardboards, metals and plastic containers, and hence

encouraging recycling practices.

Use of Resources

A2.

The Group continues with initiatives to introduce resource

efficiency and eco-friendly measures to the Group’s operations,

and is committed to optimising the use of resources in all of its

business operations. With a view to enhance efficiency of the

use of resources, the Group had incorporated the concept of

environmental protection into the process of site construction

operations and office administration.

Regarding to the usage of materials conservation, employee in sites

should:

Prevent overflow or spillage when transferring diesel;

- Keep timber, rebar, cement and other materials in good

condition;

- Reduce, reuse and recycle papers, timber and other

materials where possible;

- Power off compressors, generator sets, bar-bending

machines, etc. when not in use and regular maintenance of

equipment/machinery is required to increase the efficiency;

- Switch off air-conditioners, lights, fans and radios etc. when

not in use to reduce electricity consumption. Water at the

vehicle-washing bay shall be reused and re-circulated.

Workers/sub-contractors shall switch off the pump and turn

off the running hose when not in use; and

- Use ECO mode of all applicable construction machines.
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IRIR - ERESRRS
ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED) IRIE (48)

A2. Use of Resources (continued) A2, ERFIA (@)

In addition, the Group also promotes to its employees in office the
concept of efficient use of resources, included but not limited to:

Keep doors and windows closed when air conditioners are
in operation, and maintain the optimal temperature at 25.5
Degree Celsius;

- Encourage the staff to save water and reduce domestic
sewage in toilet;

- Turn off all lights, computers, office equipment and air
conditioners when no one is in office;

- Use double-sided printing instead of single-sided printing;

- Implement the 3R principle, which is “reducing, reusing and
recycling”; and

- Make use of scanned or electronic copies, in the ordinary
course of business.

Energy Efficiency

Energy policy has been developed to set energy conservation
as one of the Group’s fundamental policies. All employees must
implement the adopted measures, including the purchase of
energy-efficient products and services, and assume responsibility
for the Group’s overall energy efficiency. By building up an energy
management system, the Group develops and regularly reviews its
energy objectives and targets to continuously enhance the Group’s
energy performance.

The Group’s energy management system is applicable to:

- The construction of buildings;

- Construction of site formation, roads and drainage and
foundation works; and

- Building activities to keep, restore and improve the facilities of
buildings and surroundings.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report

o REETRAERAEEEEEER
BHAANES SEERRN

— EEREREEREPIERE Kk
FREZSRTEK55E ;

— BEEIEMNAKEBAREIRK;

|
HilS

BAERAER BEFMEE B
DM ARBRER

==
X2

—  (EREEITEIMIFERITE ;

—  EBiIRIBVER -MEEAKRER
BRIRR; &

— R-BEBBRG ERAKAE
FEIo

RETRRA =

AEFECHIEEREER  BEME & E
EMEABRZ— - FIAEIHNARNTE
EHT BIERESMEERE m AR
WHAEENEEMENEETE -BERE
TREREERM  AEEFIERE R
FERBERMIER  WBIREA R ERAYAE
IRAERY o

FEENGEREERARBERRN

- BERYNESE,

—  SHMITENER PR E TR
& &

— BREIHURFE - MERNSER
Y )5 B B IR 1R RY BRIt



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A2. Use of Resources (continued)

Energy Efficiency (continued)

The energy management system is implemented with annual review
to assist in achieving its energy saving objectives and targets.

Moreover, monthly monitoring of the usage of electricity and water
and other materials is implemented. Unexpected high consumption
of electricity will be investigated to find out the root cause and take
preventive measures.

IRIR - HERERRS

IRIE (48)
A2. EEH A (@)

RETRIE ()
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Other energy efficiency initiatives include:

- Managing fuel and electricity usage through deployment of -
high efficiency equipment; and

-~ Using Lighting Management System to control power voltage — (FRRABERARIEFEERERESE-

and save energy.

RREHMEA AEENEBED MRS
HEIRB A (DEBEMKL) BIHERS
I

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s consumption in electricity,
non-renewable fuel (“NRF”) including diesel and petrol were:

2021 Intensity - 2020 Intensity -

2021 Unit per 2020 Unit per
Energy type Unit Quantity project Quantity project
B ZE_-ERE- “ZCZF T TRERE-
AeiREER Efi ¥e SEBEE §s BEEESQ
Electricity KWh 130,392 3,725.49 58,846 2,942.30
BN FRE
NRF KWh 348,984 9,970.97 215,933 10,795.65
FELME TRE
Total 479,376 13,696.46 274,779 13,738.95
85t

RiE B > SEEB B AR TRE
Bl F-—REHEBEERERE AEH
BB BERRTMAERZR T HBIAEIR
FAME  RRREMEAIFER

According to the figures above, the total energy consumption per
project has maintained stable when comparing with last Reporting
Period. The Group will continue to maximise energy conservation in
its office and construction sites by promoting efficient use.
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RIR HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

IRIR (48)

A2. Use of Resources (continued)

Water Efficiency Management

The Group strives to use water efficiently in every aspect of
business. The Group takes water management very seriously and
closely monitors water use at construction sites. Hence, the Group
set up water recycling systems at most construction sites. During
the Reporting Period, the water consumption volume (is also being
treated as the amount of sewage discharge) of the Group’s office
and project sites offices is set out as below:

2021 Intensity -

A2. EREH A (@)

AkHmEE

BIRAN BRI - AERTOER
KEREE BYIGREREIMAK A
> REBAEABMHREREIHREKER
BRARK -NREHEN AEHBRLE
REEMENEERENAKE TFREAS
KEFHE) BIWMT

2020 Intensity -

2021 unit per 2020 unit per

Water consumption Unit Quantity project Quantity project
- S -FBE- “ETRE T RERE-

Rk B ¥= SEERE ¥E SEBEE
Water cubic meters 12,371 363.46 14,334 716.70

K UHK

Compared to last Reporting Period, the water consumption remains
at a reasonably low level slightly. The Group will keep on monitoring
the water consumption volume and strive to remain the intensity at
a low level.

Packaging Materials
The Group does not produce any finished products. Therefore, the

Group does not consume significant amount of package materials
for product packaging.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A3. Environment and Natural Resources

Although the Group has minimised the impact on the environment
and natural resources, as an ongoing commitment to good
corporate citizenship, the Group endeavours to minimise negative
environmental impact of the business operations and its investment
portfolios, in order to achieve a sustainable development for
generating long-term values to stakeholders and community as a
whole.

The Group regularly assess the environmental risks of the business
and adopt preventive measures as necessary to reduce the risks
and ensure the compliance of relevant laws and regulations.

Noise Abatement

Noise nuisance is often caused by construction works, especially
during foundation piling operations. Therefore, the Group strictly
monitors and controls noise levels, and complies with such relevant
laws and regulations.

The Group will carefully identify any Noise Sensitive Receiver
(e.g. hospitals, educational institute, court of law, etc.) before
commencement of any construction works. Due care is exercised
by implementing more noise abatement measures and maintaining
more stringent noise control standards.
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RIR HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A3. Environment and Natural Resources

(continued)

Noise Abatement (continued)

Due to the nature of percussive piles which involve the driving of
piles by percussive means (e.g. hammering), this type of piling
works is perceived to generate a substantial amount of noise and
vibration while the machines are in operation. Careful scheduling
of noisy piling works during less sensitive hours is engaged to
minimise noise nuisance to nearby neighbourhood. The hours of
operation which allow to perform foundation works are set out in
the Construction Noise Permit issued by the government. Under
certain circumstances, the Group may apply for special extension
to carry out works during prohibited hours but such special
extension would only be granted on the basis that the works
carried out will not disturb others, e.g. for construction sites located
at remote areas with no nearby residents. Although the Group
strictly adhere to the restricted hours of operations stipulated in
the Construction Noise Permit, complaints from nearby residents
regarding disturbances caused by operation of the machinery may
be received. Under such circumstances, the Group will work with
the relevant authorities and the person making the complaint with
the aim of introducing measures (e.g. installing sound proofing) to
mitigate the disturbances caused.

Machinery and equipment with Quality Powered Mechanical
Equipment (“QPME”) labels recognised by the Environmental
Protection Department are proved to be quieter, more
environmental-friendly and efficient as opposed to standard
equipment. The Group ensures that QPME labelled machineries
and equipment to lawfully operate in every construction site.
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SOCIAL
B1. Employment and Labour Practices

The Group is convinced that employees are the vital factor for the
success of an enterprise. The Group treats all employees the most
valuable assets of the Group and also the most intimate and reliable
partners of the Group in promoting sustainable development.
Through establishing a comprehensive employment management
system, the Group provides employees with a competitive,
attractive, fair and inclusive working environment. The Group makes
every effort to let all employees fully unleash their value, and create
a workplace where employees feel satisfied and relaxed.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related laws and
regulations including the “Employment Ordinance” in Hong Kong,
the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China” and the
“Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China” in the
PRC that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Recruitment and Remuneration

The Group strictly follows relevant employment laws of Hong
Kong through the establishment of Human Resources Policy. The
Group offers an array of benefits on top of those required by laws
and regulations in Hong Kong to cater for the personal needs
of our employees and care for their physical and psychological

development.

Working environment °

TFIBIE AR T AR
Benefits °

w@mH medical care, etc.;
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Provide site workers with shower rooms and common rooms;
NERKREE ;
Provide meal allowance, business trip allowance, overtime compensation,

REERRL - LEH - TEBR#F2 BRREES ;

Physical and psychological development e
of employees
BEZLERE .

BRI EREEED ; &

e Conduct training course such as emotional management, occupational

safety, etc.

Regularly host various sports activities, book sports venues for workers;
EHASEAREES KBTI TEIEHHE ;
Host cultural and sports events; and

EMBEREE BEZ2FIEIIRRE

The Group hires employees through open recruitment, fair
competition and strict appraisals and recruits workers on a selective
basis. The Group also continues to strengthen local young talent
recruitment in Hong Kong by selecting suitable fresh graduates
through recruitment activities and employment fairs in universities.

FEEBBARBE AT HRFREET
EARNBREEREEENE T ~&E
TEBARRE I RBETEESHEN
EEREELE  BEMBEBLMBEAT
BEET{Fo

BT R AR AR
B —FFR

77



78

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR HERERERS

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B1. Employment and Labour Practices

(continued)

Promotion and Career Development

The Group cherishes and care for the employees. Therefore, the
Group attracts outstanding talents to join its workforce through
establishing a comprehensive promotion system so that the
workforce can thrive and grow from strength to strength.

The Group regularly conducts industrial benchmarking evaluation
and salary surveys for adjusting the remuneration level and
decisions on promotion in a timely manner. The Group adopts a
responsibility system for operational and management objectives,
and has developed systematic business indicators as an important
basis for annual performance and career development assessment.
Supervisor also discusses the performance with employee in
facilitating an effective 2-way communication for advancement.
Based on the evaluation result, the Group offers rewards to
employees in encouraging continuous improvement.

Communication Channels

The Group pays great attention to communicate between the
management and employees at all levels as the Group believes
that good communication will help to enhance the employees’
sense of belonging, boost work morale and create a harmonious
workplace. The Group maintains regular communication with
employees through overall progress reporting, career development
assessment, seminar for new joiners, mailbox for recommendation,
and employee satisfaction survey. Survey forms are distributed
in understanding employees’ opinions on work responsibility,
working environment, organisation and employee relationship,
compensation and benefits, etc. The Group also encourages
employees at all levels to contribute valuable insights on the
Group’s business operations and corporate culture through various
channels to their respective superiors, the person-in-charge or the
human resources departments of their respective entities or the
officers-in-charge at all levels.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B1. Employment and Labour Practices

(continued)

Gender Equality and Anti-discrimination

Equal opportunities and anti-discrimination are one of the core parts
of the Group corporate culture. The Group strives to establish and
maintain a diversified, inclusive and non-discriminatory working
environment as the Group appreciates different backgrounds and
professional experience of all employees. In Employees’ Handbook,
the Group undertakes that all employees, regardless of gender,
age, nationality and race, are entitled to equal job opportunities and
benefits, covering training, promotion, transfer, dismissal, layoff,
employment conditions, etc.

The Group has also formulated the policies to provide clear
and specific guidelines on prohibition of any direct or indirect
discrimination and harassment concerning gender, marital status,
pregnancy, disability, family status, race, etc. Employees are
welcome to report any suspected cases through the whistleblowing
mechanism to protect the rights and interests of each employee.
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RIR HERERERS

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B1. Employment and Labour Practices
(continued)

Employment Key Performance Indicators (Employee)

g (&
B1. ERSTHR (@

EERRENIER (B8)

Total workforce structure as at 31 March 2021 RIEZ—F=A=+—BMNES4%HA
194
2021 2020
Ratio of Ratio of
number of number of
Number of male to male to
Age employees by  Total number female female
Region Gender below 30 Age 30-50  Age over 50 gender  of employees employees employees
eIk [Pl ZE2-F ZEBIZE
e MR 30EUT 30Z507% 505l & EEAY EELY BuESHH BRESLH
Hong Kong Male 8 46 60 114
BE Bt 164 231 251
Female 5 28 17 50
g
PRC Male 10 8 - 18
HE S 29 16:1 1.7
Female 4 7 - 1
g
Total Male 18 54 60 132
i 2k 193 22:1 241
Female 9 35 17 61
it
Total 27 89 7 193
st
Employee turnover in the Reporting Period REHEESRKLLE
2021 2020
Ratio of Ratio of
employee employee
turnover to turnover to
Staff turnover Total staff  total number  total number
Region Gender Age below 30 Age 30-50  Age over 50 by gender turnover  of employees  of employees
“E”- - et 33
EE% EE%
BIERIBI D REAEI  AMMGER  ABIEER
HE 3] 0FEUT 30505 508 BIRXAH REAH BYLLH (R (]
Hong Kong Male 6 27 20 53 A
X Ei1id 63 33% AN
Female 3 7 - 10 TR
it
Total 9 34 20 63
it
Note 3: The figure in 2020 is not available S : —R S EARMEURT RIS
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B2. Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy
working environment. Therefore, the Group has adopted an
occupational health and safety system in accordance with relevant
occupational health and safety laws, rules and regulations. It is
managed by safety department for the benefit of employees and
sub-contractors’ employees. In order to recognize the potential risk
in the daily operation, the Group conducts regular risk assessment
to provide employees with a safe and healthy working environment.

With effect from March 2015, the Group’s occupational health and
safety has been implemented in compliance with the requirements
of OHSAS18001:2007 international standards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with health and safety-related laws and
regulations (i.e. Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance) in Hong
Kong that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Every case of injury (if any) is required to be reported to the
Group and be assessed individually under the internal guideline
procedures set. The Group is pleased to report that the rate of
accidents and injuries during the Reporting Period was extremely
low with zero fatal accident, similar to last financial year.

Health and safety key performance indicators (Employee)

IRIR - HERERRS

tg @
B2. BEREZE

FERRINREHZE2REENIFR
BRI AEBBHRBMBERRERER
2ER - RARERFMBERRRZE
A HAEZEHMFIREREREDHBE
EENGFAEE -BTHIBBEERN
BERE AEBETEHETRRIMG S
EERHZ2EENIIFRIR

BEE—hF=-RE  AEENBERE
K% 2 B & BOHSAS18001:2007 R IZ #
FRE B o

RBESHN AEBTFANEREBEE
HEAERAEATEZANUREERER
RZ2HEMERRER OBEZ2RE
BRIGA) Z 1B

BREBERX WH) HERNEERRES
WRE B HIERI N ER TS5 I B T BB
e REBIRARS > RRSHABFI
RZGLEEGE TRATIETEH > &
F—RFERE-

REAZEZARENIER (BS)

Number of work injuries THEAH
Rate of work injury (per hundred employees) T2X (52 EE)
Number of loss days due to work injuries R T{Ei8% TEA#

Note 4:The Group had not developed any mechanism for collecting theses

information in 2020.

2021 2020
—E-—f —EoEF
3 4

1.55 1.78

1,011 N/ATR 3 F*
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B2. Health and Safety (continued)

Safety Management

The Group has developed the policies for safety and health
management, and formulated specific work guidelines according
to various scopes and procedures of construction to guarantee the
safety and health of all employees, sub-contractors and the people
affected by any relevant construction works.

The Group has formed corporate safety management committee
which chaired by the Directors to formulate safety policies and to
supervise its implementation. Top and senior management are also
required to attend safety conferences to discuss safety policies.

The Group’s safety officer is responsible for setting up safety plans
for workers before carrying out their duties in construction sites,
inspecting machines and equipment to ensure they are safe to be
used. The Group also carries out regular safe walks in order to
maintain safe working environment and site tidiness, handles safety
incidents and keeps safety records properly.

The Group also arranges regular internal safety audit. For example,
the Group offers equipment which comply with safety requirements.
The Group also monitors and supervises its compliance with
health and safety systems to ensure compliance with statutory and
contractual requirements. Appropriate improvements for the existing
system are also considered and implemented if necessary.

Safety Training

The Group provides regular safety training to the staff, including but
not limited to:

- Providing appropriate safety training and instructions for the
use of new working methods and equipment;
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B2. Health and Safety (continued)

Safety Training (continued)

- Providing safety and health training, which covered the
Group’s safety and health policy, organisational structure
for construction site safety, safety code of conduct,
engineering characteristics and potential risks, emergency
response procedures and other relevant guidelines on safety
management to all new employees at construction sites; and

- Carrying out safety hazard clearance, emergency drills, safety
advocacy and other related activities on the construction
sites.

Employee Health Management

The Group offers comprehensive health care coverage for entire
employee such as health benefits. The Group also organises work-
life balancing activities for employees, implemented green projects
at office and carries out other activities to promote healthy living
practices. Health and safety communications are provided to
employees to present the relevant information and raise awareness
of occupational health and safety issues.

In order to deal with the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group has
implemented several measures to prevent the spread of virus
including but not limit:

Requesting site staff to undergo nucleic acid COVID-19 test for
every 14 days;

Providing personal protection equipment including surgical marks
and hand sanitizer to our staff and workers;

Requesting our staff and workers to take body temperature check
and submit health declaration before entering office and sites; and

Flexible working hour to avoid congestion in workplace and public
transport.

IRIR - HERERRS
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B3. Development and Training

The Group believes that fostering and retaining talent are a core
part of ensuring sustainable development and strengthening its
competitiveness and regards staff as a strategic partner. Therefore,
the Group strives to provide support for employees’ career
development and personal value enhancement through systematic
training programmes.

Training and Development Policies

In order to improve employees’ level of skills and knowledge and
maximise their potentials, the Group has organised workshops,
seminars and training programmes for employees covering various
aspects. Employees are also encouraged to enroll in external
study opportunities and job-related courses to enrich themselves
through acquiring higher professional skills and qualifications.
Training courses and seminars designated by the Company are fully
sponsored. Employees are also supported by granting special fully-
paid leave for training.

Training Management

The Group has developed relevant policies in controlling the training
related procedures to ensure the effectiveness of the training
program. A training plan is developed by management based on
the requirements from various departments and employees and
special technical employees are granted the necessary training for
acquiring the related technical licences. Management examines
the effectiveness of training programs, and provides improvement
plans. The facilitators should acquire the required qualifications in
delivering the training, for example, understanding the knowledge
and procedures of the operating sectors, and related laws,
regulations and standards.

Training Programmes
The Group provides sufficient training to employees on quality,

environmental rules, and occupational safety to enhance
employees’ awareness, skills, and knowledge.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B3. Development and Training (continued)

Training Programmes (continued)

New employees shall undergo an orientation by the various
department heads to ensure that they are familiar with the
management system for quality, environmental, health, and safety
issues:

- Consequences of their work activities on workplace safety
and health including identifiable hazards, possible accidents/
incidents;

- Importance of conforming to the site staff manual (quality,
environmental, health and safety) to prevent potential
consequences including accidents or incidents due to
deviation from specific procedures such as safe work
procedures; and

- On-the-job training under the guidance of senior staff for a
period to be decided by the respective department heads will
be provided for the new employees.

Furthermore, the Group provides different forms of training, not only
internal training, but also external special courses to equip staff
with professional skills and abilities to cater for the actual needs
of different departments and individuals. Safety induction course,
risk assessment and safe work procedure briefing are included in
internal training. External courses include occupational first aid,
safety and health management and equipment operation courses,
etc. Course contents include ISO140001, ISO9001 trainings,
construction laws and good industry practices, etc.
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RIR HERERERS

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B3. Development and Training (continued)

Training and Development Key Performance Indicators in
Hong Kong (Employee)

g (&)

B3.

BREKRIEN (@

REBIIEN R ERBAREVIER (BES)

2021 2020
Percentage Overall Overall
of employees percentage percentage
Managerial receiving  of employees  of employees
level or Supervisory General training by receiving receiving
Trained staff above® staff® staff® gender® training® training
RIERIR 2 —E- ZEZEE
L HEES ZiEE FiESRE
ZiHET FULAES TEANES —®ET° B BREE AL BAt
Male 34% 0% 0% 34%
N/A
Bit 19% e
Female 0% 33% 33% 66% TR
pegi
Note 5:Percentage of employees trained in relevant categories = Employees in the MiEE5 © AR IIRET 2= R2ME

category who took park in training/ Employees who took part in training x

I EE NS 2MERE AZX100

100
Note 6:Percentage of employees trained = Employees who took part in training/ K6 . ZIMBETDLE=2MEZIEREAZ &
Number of employees x 100 8 A#X100
2021 2020
Average Overall Overall
Managerial training average average
level or Supervisory General hours by training training
Average training hours above’ staff” staff gender’ hour® hour
ko) ZET-F - o33
R RS BRTY BT
THZHEE FULAE EX-IN-U —®ET’ ZalEE ZllErEe ZElEEE
Male 3.3 hours - - 0.2 hours
o 3.3\BS = - 0.2/ 1\E5 0.3 hours N/A?
Female - 2.9 hours 0.4 hours 0.7 hours 0.3\ R
pegi 2.9NE 0.4/1\& 0.7/1\B
Note 7:Overall average training hour= Total number of training hours of the MisE7 . BEEESISH=1E3TIERe 8

category/Number of employees in category

Note 8:Average training hours per employee= Total number of training hours/ Total

number of employees

Note 9:The Group had not developed any mechanism for collecting theses

information in 2020.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B4.

BS.

Labour Standards

Prevention of Child Labour and Forced Labour

A set of procedures has been established to prevent employment
of child labour or forced labour through carefully reviewing the
personal information of job candidates and clearly explaining the
employment conditions to them.

The Group is well aware of the Group’s responsibility of monitoring
the compliance of sub-contractors in their employment of
construction workers. The Group has assigned officer responsible
for labour relations on each site to check the identities of workers
through an electronic access control system to ensure that each
worker meets the statutory requirements for on-site construction.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with child and forced labour-related laws
and regulations (i.e. Employment of Children Regulations, The
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Employment
Ordinance, etc.) in Hong Kong that would have a significant impact
on the Group.

Supply Chain Management

The Group understands the importance of supply chain
management in mitigating the indirect environmental and social
risks. The Group is aware of the environmental and social practices
of the suppliers/ sub-contractors, and tries to engage suppliers/
sub-contractors with responsible acts to the society in view of
green supply chain management.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B5. Supply Chain Management (continued)

Supply Chain Management Structure

In order to ensure that the Group suppliers and sub-contractors
have met clients’ and the requirements regarding quality,
environmental and safety standards, the Group formulated
standard and stringent procedures in selecting suppliers and
sub-contractors. The Group procurement manager maintains an
approved supplier and sub-contractor list. Assessments are carried
out for suppliers and sub-contractors at least on an annual basis
by contract managers and project managers. Regular meetings will
be held with sub-contractors to introduce and remind them to meet
all necessary requirements. The materials purchased from suppliers
and works performed by sub-contractors will be checked and
monitored on a regularly basis. Suppliers or sub-contractors may
be suspended or removed from the approved supplier and sub-
contractor list if they are failed to fulfil the Group’s standards.

Environmental and Social Responsibility of Suppliers/Sub-
contractors

The Group works closely with its sub-contractors and suppliers
who are committed to high quality, environmental, health and
safety standards. The Group strives to ensure that suppliers
and sub-contractors conform to the quality, environmental,
occupational health and safety requirements of the company. In
controlling the purchasing system, potential suppliers and sub-
contractors who can meet the qualification requirement to supply
goods and services will be identified by quantity surveyors or
purchasers. The suppliers or sub-contractors should at least
have a certified quality and environmental, health and safety
system (e.g. 1ISO9001, 1ISO14001, OHSAS 18001, etc.). Qualified
suppliers and sub-contractors will be maintained in an approved
supplier and sub-contractor list. The performance of suppliers and
sub-contractors will be reviewed annually by the Group.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B5. Supply Chain Management (continued)

Environmental and Social Responsibility of Suppliers/Sub-
contractors (continued)

Suppliers’ and sub-contractors’ other environmental and social
performances are also considered as a selection criteria for
establishing long-term relationship. Suppliers and sub-contractors
should not violate any related environmental and labour laws in
Hong Kong. The termination of suppliers and sub-contractors
relationship may be incurred by any substantial violation of laws and
regulations. The performance of suppliers and sub-contractors is
examined through regularly with onsite inspection, and the Group is
willing to provide guidance on improving their current practices.

Fair and Open Procurement

The Group has also formed rules to ensure that the suppliers and
sub-contractors could participate in competitions in an open and
fair way. The Group should not have differentiated or discriminated
treatment on certain suppliers and sub-contractors; the Group
would strictly monitor and prevent all kinds of business bribery; and
employees or personnel having any interest relationship with the
suppliers or sub-contractors should not be involved in the related
business activity.

Number of critical suppliers cooperated with the Group
during the Reporting Period
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Note 10: The Group had not developed mechanism for collecting theses information
in 2020

MEE10 RERMR S _SERBEUKREZTER
Bt

BT R AR AR
B —FFR

89



90

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR HERERERS

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B6.

B7.

Protection of Intellectual Property Right
And Consumer Privacy

The Group recognises the importance of the protection over
intellectual property right and consumer privacy. Proper licences for
software and information are obtained by the Group to use in its
business operation. Meanwhile, the Group handles all information
provided by clients, employees and business partner in accordance
with non-disclosure agreement, Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
and related laws and regulations to ensure those information is
under proper protection.

Product Responsibility

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for projects
are utmost important for sustainable growth of the Group. The
Group believes completing works that meet or exceed employer’s
requirements is crucial not only for building safety, but also for
job reference and future business opportunities. In order to
ensure delivering high quality services and sustainable projects to
customers, the construction process of the projects is controlled
and monitored regularly. The Group has been in strict compliance
with related laws and regulations in Hong Kong.

During the reporting period, due to the business nature of the
Group, there were no recalls concerning the provision and use of
products for safety and health reasons within the Group. Besides,
there were no substantiated complaints received relating to the
provision and use of products and services that have a significant
impact on the Group’s operations.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B7. Product Responsibility (continued)

Quality Management

The Group has established a formal quality management system
in accordance with the requirements of ISO9001:2008, OHSAS
18001:2007 and 1SO14001:2004 to develop a sustainable
performance oriented culture to pursue continuous improvement
on quality rather than adopting a short-term and project based
approach. Process control procedures has also been established
to ensure that the works meet the contractual specification and the
environmental, health and safety requirements. To pursue further
improvement, the Group’s Quality Management System is reviewed
at least annually by the management.

To ensure the Group’s works meet the required standards, the
Group normally assigns a responsible officer on a full-time basis
at each of the construction sites to monitor of the quality of works
done by staff at the front line and sub-contractors (as the case
may be). The project manager who generally makes daily visits
to construction sites is responsible for monitoring works quality
and progress of works and ensuring that works are completed
according to schedule. Furthermore, weekly meetings are held by
project team with management to monitor each of the projects’
progress and discuss identified issues. The Group’s management
monitors closely the progress of each of the projects to ensure the
works:

- are met with client’s requirements;

- are completed within the time stipulated in the contract and
the budget allocated for the project; and

- are complied with all relevant codes and regulations
applicable to the works.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B7. Product Responsibility (continued)

Business Ethics

The tendering process must be done in a fair manner to protect
the interests of the Group and clients. Employees responsible
for tendering must comply with the Competition Ordinance by
refraining themselves from exchanging or communicating any
sensitive information with competitors, participating in price fixing,
imposing restrictions on clients and abusing the dominant market
position. Relevant requirements on confidentiality and compliance
with Competition Ordinance have also been set out in the Group’s
Code of Conduct.

Customer Service

The Group cares about clients’ feedback and their satisfaction
on the Group’s performances. In order to provide good quality
of service, the Group strives to understand the needs of clients.
The Group also strives to provide the best services in supporting
the Group’s clients. Customer Service Officer offers the required
assistance to clients on the application of services with their
professional knowledge.

Quality Department continues to send official customer satisfaction
surveys to the Group’s clients for reviewing the performances.
The review covered the Group’s tendering and quantity surveying,
project management, material and resources control, workmanship,
environment, safety and security performances, etc. Through
regular interaction with clients, the project manager and engineer
will gather information on their perception of the services.

The Group also handles complaints from clients by amending
the non-conformity within targeted timeframe, by complying with
statutory regulations, clients’ requirements and internal rules and
policies.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report

g (&)

B7.

EmEE (&)
GE SR

RIERFUARNTET URESERK
ZERFE B ERENE TIFAERT (R
FEA) > TRARIHF IR RIER
FREE -2HEARETEBE HERHEMRE
HI R B AT I% EEMAL - REREBT GRF
HED) AR EZRTEMALERN(ET
TRSTRD -

ERIR®

AEEFOERPHAEBRBIRERM
BE-ATRHEENRS  c&£ERN
RTYBREFHNBER -FEBTEEAET
FPRURENRT BRRBESETF
HFRERSRARSERNNAD TP REM
FR e 89158 ©

HERREENZEFAEXEAZERAREE
HERUBRAFTEENKRE -BRRELR
EENRRRYERET -HEEE MK
RERESR TE RG22 R ZRER
T BBERERNERHED BEKER
ITEMBBEARSEFERTERNE
e

AEETEBAEEERBRAELEERK
BBETEERE - FRERKIRERR
RERERIEE &R



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B7.

B8.

Product Responsibility (continued)

Customer Privacy Protection

The Group is committed to ensuring that all confidential or special
information provided by clients, employees and business associates
remains strictly confidential. The Group is entered into confidential
agreements with clients and sub-contractors. Without their
authorization, such information will not be disclosed to any third
party or made available to public.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
incidents of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group, concerning health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to services
provided and methods of redress.

Anti-Corruption

The Group does not tolerate any corruptions, frauds and all other
behaviours violating work ethics. The Group values and upholds
integrity, honesty and fairness in how the Group conducts business.

Internal Control

The Group has established a formal Code of Conduct to help
to define appropriate methods in handling conflict of interests,
accepting advantages, leakage of confidential information, etc.
to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and other
relevant laws and regulations. All employees should decline an
offer of advantage if acceptance of it could affect their objectivity in
conducting the Group’s business. Employees will be subjected to
disciplinary actions if they are found violating the Code of Conduct
after investigation. Disciplinary actions include verbal or written
warnings, demotion and dismissal, and the case may be reported
to law-enforcement authorities for possible prosecution, depending
on the situation.

To further mitigate business frauds, the Group appoints
professional consulting firm to evaluate the Group’s internal control
effectiveness, detecting potential deficiency, and identifying areas of
improvement. Internal Audit Report is distributed to the Group for
remediation.
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RIR HERERERS

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B8.

BO.

Anti-Corruption (continued)

Whistleblowing Policy

In order to further achieve and maintain the highest standards
of openness, probity and accountability, the Group has also
implemented a whistleblowing policy. This policy allows all
employees of the Group as well as independent third parties (e.g.
clients, suppliers, sub-contractors, creditors and debtors) who
deal with any employees to report any possible improprieties,
misconducts, malpractices or irregularities in matters of financial
reporting, internal control or other matters to the Audit Committee
anonymously. Reports and complaints received will be handled
in a prompt and fair manner. Such policy also aims at protecting
whistleblower from unfair dismissal, victimization and unwarranted
disciplinary actions. Any person who is found to have victimised or
retaliated against those who have raised concerns under this policy
will be subjected to disciplinary sanctions.

Anti-Corruption Training

Representatives from the Independent Commission Against
Corruption are also invited to hold anti-corruption talks with specific
issues relating to the Group’s businesses to further enhance anti-
corruption system.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any litigation
involving the allegation of corruption of the Group or its employees.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to emboldening and supporting the public
by the means of social participation and contribution as part of
its strategic development, and to nurture the corporate culture
and practices of corporate citizen in the daily work life throughout
the Group. The Group focuses on inspiring employees towards
social welfare concerns. The Group would embraces the human
capital into the social management strategies to sustain the
Group’s corporate social responsibility as a part of the strategic
development of the Group.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B9. Community Investment (continued)

Maintaining a Good Relationship with Neighbours

The Group understands that any construction project will have an
impact on the surrounding environment and the lives of nearby
communities. The Group cares about the communities adjacent
the projects. Hence, the Group aims to reduce the impact of
the construction process on the surrounding communities by
carrying out environmental management on sites. Public relations
management projects are also carried out on the Group’s sites by
communicating with the residents, businesses and passers-by near
projects to maintain a harmonious relationship with neighbours.
A list of the site staff and their contact details are posted on the
hoarding panels of the Group’s sites to facilitate stakeholders’ direct
contact with the site staff in handling inquiries and complaints on a
timely manner.

Community Participation

The Group participates in community activities, for example,
donations, volunteering services, sponsorships, etc. With the active
participation in community events to help the needy. The Group
also regularly communicates with local charities to understand
community’s needs. The Group believes it helps to connect with
the local community, and maintain a mutually beneficial relationship
to the society as a whole.

Raising Awareness of Employees

The Group’s employees are encouraged to donate to recognised
charitable institutions in order to help grass-roots community or
those in need, so that they can gain education and care. The Group
also encourages employees to suggest areas of contribution based
on their personal experiences in the community.
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RIR HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

Aspect A1: Emissions

A1EE : B

Performance indicator

RER

Emissions Total NOx emissions (kg)

HEIR BEACHNOXNBEERE (F572)

Total PM emissions (kg)
MR YIPMBERRE (F52)

Total SOx emissions (kg)

BIREEMSONBERE (F52)

Total GHG emissions (tonnes)
RERBEHRE (8

Intensity of GHG emissions per project
(tonnes)
SEEENREREBHNZE (W)
Non-hazardous waste Inert C&D waste (tonnes)

mEEY B R ()

Intensity of inert C&D waste per
project (tonnes)

SEEENEEIREENEE (H)

Non-inert C&D waste (tonnes)

JEIEMEIT R EEY) (M)

Intensity of non-inert C&D waste per
project (tonnes)

SEEBEENIFFEEIREEYZE
()

Mixed C&D waste (tonnes)

RETTEEEY) (NE)

Intensity of mixed C&D waste per
project (tonnes)
SREEBEENESIREENEE (M)
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IRIBRBAER
2021 Data 2020 Data
—E-—F i
Bk %
321.44 3,332.41
0.53 239.61
25.94 0.33
174.46 120.98
4.98 6.05
20,119 150,081
574.83 7,504.03
2,372 376
67.76 18.79
326 53
9.30 2.63

HKEx ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI
B3R FRIRIR
HERER
HREIECIRAE
BEWIEE
KPI A1.1
RASEAE N
5ZA1A
KPI A1.1
RATRAE R
FEIZAT A
KPI A1.1
REREN
FEIEATA
KPI A1.2
S1ZA1.2
KPI A1.2
FE1ZA1.2
KPI A1.3
RATRAE R
FEIZEA1.3
KPI A1.3
RERE
S1ZA1.3
KPI A1.3
}51ZA1.3
KPI A1.3
RASEAE N
FE1ZA1.3

KPI A1.3
RE SR AE
S1ZA1.3
KPI A1.3
RASEAES
FEIZEA1.3



ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE
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IRIR - HERERRS

INDICATORS (CONTINUED)

Aspect A2: Use of resources

A2[EmH : EiRER

Performance indicator

RIUER

Electricity
Bh

NRF
FEBERRE

Water

7K

2021 Data

T

g

Total electricity consumption (kWh) 130,392
RIEBE (TRE)

Intensity of electricity consumption 3,725.49

per project (KWh)
SEEENEEERE (TRF)
Total NRF consumption (kWh) 348,984
HWIEFLIMELERES (TR

Intensity of NRF consumption per 9,970,97
project (kKWh)

SREEENFEFFEMEHEERE
(FEE)

Total water consumption 12,371
(cubic meters)

“WRKkE QLHR

Intensity of water consumption per 353.46
project (cubic meters)

FEBEENAKERE QLHK)

IRIFRBER (B)

2020 Data

iz

58,846

2,942.30

215,933

10,796.65

14,334

716.70

HKEx ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI

B SR FRIRIR
HERER
HREIS5| R
BYIER

KPI A2.1
FE1RA2.1

KPI A2.1
RARAEN
151EA2.1

KPI A2.1
RASRE
F51EA2.1

KPI A2.1
RASR G
S1RA2.1

KPI A2.2
RASRAER

$51EA2.2
KPI A2.2
$E1EA2.2
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RIR HERERERS

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Aspect B1: Employment
BEB1 : ES

Performance indicator

ERIEIR

Number of employees as at
31 March
R=A=+—HEEA¥

Employee turnover

BERE

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report

Gender:
R
— Male
-Bi
- Female

-

Age

REH
— Below 30 years old
-80BE U
— Between 30 to 50 years old
-30E505%
— Over 50 years old
50 E

Region
&

-HK
&8
—The PRC
]

Gender
R
— Male
-B
— Female

gk

Age

e
— Below 30 years old
-0 LT
— Between 30 to 50 years old
-30FE505%
— Over 50 years old
505 A k£

Ratio of employee turnover to total
number of employees

EERRABIGESBHLX

=3 =X ]

LEERBIER
2021 Data 2020 Data
—F——F T
Bk g
132 159
61 66
27 34
89 105
77 86
164 198
29 27
53 N/A™
A
10 N/A™
B
9 N/A™M
@A
34 N/A™
AERA
20 N/A™M
@A
33% N/A™
e

Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI
B3 FRIRIR
HERER
HEIE5IRAR
BYIER

KPI B1.1

RA S B IEIR
B1.1

KPI B1.1
RRAEM ISR
B1.1

PIB1.2
ISR
B1.2

[

ke

I3

/

KPI B1.2
RS AR X5 1R
B1.2

KPIB1.2
RS AERIE IR
B1.2



SOCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

(CONTINUED)

Aspect B2: Health and safety

[EmEmB2: ZFERAZE

Performance indicator

AMIETR

Number of work injuries (per person)

TH#EE N

Rate of work injury (per thousand employees)

I5X (BTHES

Number of loss days due to work injuries

AIBEARIIFR#

Aspect B3: Development and training

[EEB3 : 2 & RiE:l

Performance indicator

rIEM?E *E

Percentage of
employees trained

RillEEE DL

Gender
R

- Male
-B

— Female

-

Employee category

e =k Nill

— Workers

-TA

— Supervisors and general staff
-TER—RET

— Managers or above
R\ U EAE

Overall
=
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IRIR - HERERRS

HERUER (@)

2021 Data

1.55

1,911

2021 Data

CwiE

34

66

34
33

33

19%

—BIEF

2020 Data Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI

B AT FRIR IR
HUg HERER
HREIE5IRAE
nﬁﬂ?ﬁ*ﬁ

4 KPI B2.1
R MIER

B2.1

1.78" KPI B2.1
1.78"  REMAENISIE
B2.1

N/A™ KPI B2.1
TER"T  EREWER
B2.1

2020 Data Stock
Exchange

ESG

Reporting

Guide KPI

—EIEF BRARIRIR
ik HERER
HRE1EsIRRE

EIIETE
N/A™ KPI B3.1
TEA" RIS
N/A™ B3.1
R
N/A™ KPI B3.1
TEAT  RRERISE
N/AT B3.1
R
N/ 11
R
N/A™
R
B B A IR AT

B8
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RIR HERERERS

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

(CONTINUED)

Average training hours
completed per employee

BRESTIORIEE

Gender
Ezg kil
- Male (hours)

-5 UhED)

- Female (hours)

M (V1B

Employee category

% REER!

- Workers (hours)

-TA (R

- Supervisors and general staff
(hours)

-FBER—KRET (NE)

- Managers or above (hours)

BN EAE (NE)

Overall
Fpe
a1E e

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EEBS : e ERE

Performance indicator

BMIETR

Number of critical suppliers

EEMHEREE

Note 11: The figure in 2020 is not available
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Hong Kong
BE

HEERER (@)

0.2 N/A™
AER

0.7 N/A™
@A

3.3 N/A™
TR

2.9 N/A™
A"

0.4 N/A™
B

0.3 N/A™
TR

2021 Data 2020 Data
—EZ—F —EIEHF
g HUg

30 N/A™
@A

M1 Z2 T2 FFRABBA IR

KPI B3.2
B BRI IR
B3.2

KPI B3.2
RSB ARIE IR
B3.2

Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI

B AT FRIRIER
HERER
HREISS| R
BMIER

KPI B5.1

RS G NISIR
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in provision of construction wastes handling services,
foundation, building construction works and ancillary services, technology
services, investment in securities, lending business and trust and custody
services. During the Year, the Group has commenced to provide trust
and custody services, building construction works in order to broaden the
Group’s source of income.

During the Year, except for the commencement of trust and custody
services and building construction works services, the Group had no
material changes in its business nature and principal activities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and outlook of the Group for the Year are set out in
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to
22 of this Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operation, business and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The

followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group:
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

The Group has a concentrated customer base
and any decrease in the number of projects
with the Group’s top five customers would
adversely affect the Group’s operations and
financial results

A significant portion of the Group’s revenue was derived from a small
number of customers during the two financial years ended 31 March
2021. The Group’s top five customers’ revenue contribution for the
Year was approximately 83.5% (2020: 83.2%) of our revenue, while the
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 51.7% (2020:
34.8%) of our revenue. The Group did not enter into any long-term service
agreement or master service agreement with its customers. Furthermore,
the Group’s service contracts for all foundation works and ancillary
services projects and construction wastes handling projects are on a
project-by-project basis. As such, there is no assurance that the Group
will be able to retain its customers upon expiry of the contract period or
that they will maintain their current level of business with the Group in
the future. If there is a significant decrease in the number of projects or
size of projects in terms of contract sums awarded by the Group’s top
five customers to the Group for whatever reasons, and if the Group is
unable to obtain suitable projects of a comparable size and quantity as
replacement, the Group’s financial conditions and operating results would
be materially and adversely affected. Besides, if any of the Group’s top
five customers experiences any liquidity problem, it may result in delay or
default in settling progress payments to the Group, which in turn will have
an adverse impact on its cash flows and financial conditions. The Group
cannot guarantee that it will be able to diversify its customer base by
obtaining significant number of new projects from its existing and potential
customers.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

The Group determines the price of its tender
or quotation based on the estimated time

and costs to be involved in a project, yet the
actual time and costs incurred may deviate
from the Group’s estimate due to unexpected
circumstances, thereby adversely affecting its
operations and financial results

The Group determines the price of tender or quotation based on its
cost estimate plus a certain mark-up margin. The actual time and costs
incurred by the Group, however, may be adversely affected by various
factors, including (i) the specifications, underground conditions and
difficulties of the potential project; (i) the duration of the potential project;
(i) the site location and the conditions and adjacent risk of building
structures nearby; (iv) the resource availability; and (v) our previous
experience with the customer. Significant changes in any of these or other
relevant factors may lead to delay in completion or costs overrun by the
Group, and there is no assurance that the actual time and costs incurred
by the Group would match its initial estimate. Such delays, cost overruns
or mismatch of actual time and costs with the Group’s estimates may
cause its profitability to be lower than what the Group expected or may
expose it to litigation or claims from customers in case of delays. The
Group normally sets an extra mark-up margin on top of its estimated
costs to cater to the possible unfavourable factors above, yet too high a
margin may render the Group’s tender or quotation uncompetitive. There
is no assurance that the Group will always be able to price its tender or
quotation competitively, and if the Group fails to do so, its customers
may opt for the Group’s competitors, thereby resulting in a decrease in
the number of projects awarded to the Group. Even if such a mark-up
margin is accepted and agreed by the Group’s customer, there can be no
assurance that the Group can be fully compensated for the occurrence of
the unfavourable factors above. This would adversely affect the Group’s
operations and financial results. Meanwhile, if the mark-up margin set by
the Group is too low, the gross profits may not be able to cover other
potential loss arising from any unfavourable circumstances during project
implementation. The Group’s profitability in the project would hence be
adversely and materially affected.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

The Contractual Arrangements may not be
as effective in providing operational control
as direct ownership. Beijing OKG or its
Registered Shareholders may fail to perform
their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements.

Neither the Company nor Shenzhen OKG Network Technologies Co., Ltd.
(“Shenzhen OKG”) has any equity ownership interests in Beijing OKG
Network Information Co., Ltd. (“Beijing OKG”). Through the Contractual
Arrangements that Shenzhen OKG has entered into with Beijing OKG,
the Company and Shenzhen OKG exercise effective control over Beijing
OKG and obtain substantially all of the economic benefits. However, the
Contractual Arrangements are not as secure as direct ownership over
Beijing OKG and may not be as effective in providing control over Beijing
OKG as direct ownership.

Beijing OKG has the Internet Content Provider (“ICP”) license to
provide internet content, to operate the portals and to provide value-
added telecommunications services in PRC. If Beijing OKG violates
the Contractual Arrangements, we might have to take legal action to
compel them to perform their respective contractual obligations. Any
legal proceedings could result in the disruption of our business in PRC
and result in substantial costs to us. There can be no assurance that the
results of such legal proceedings would be satisfactory to us.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

If the PRC government determines that these
Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our
business could be materially and adversely
affected.

We believe that the Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG do not
infringe existing PRC laws, regulations, or other mandatory requirements
under PRC law. However, there can be no assurance that the Contractual
Arrangements will be deemed by the relevant governmental or judicial
authorities to be in compliance with the existing PRC laws and regulations
or the relevant governmental nor judicial authorities may in the future
interpret the existing laws or regulations with the result that such
Contractual Arrangements would be deemed to be in compliance of the
PRC laws and regulations.

PRC regulations currently limit foreign ownership in PRC companies that
provide value-added telecommunication services (excluding on-line data
processing and transaction processing services, also called operating
e-commerce), which include operating the Internet content platform,
to 50%. In addition, foreigners and wholly-foreign owned enterprises
are currently not eligible to apply for required licenses for operating
the Internet content platform in the PRC (excluding a limited number
of sectors for wholly-foreign owned enterprises located in Shanghai
Free Trade Zone). We are a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands. We and Shenzhen OKG are foreigners and wholly-
foreign owned enterprises under PRC laws and accordingly are ineligible
to apply for the relevant licenses to operate the internet content. In
order to comply with foreign ownership restrictions, we hold our ICP
license and provide internet content through Beijing OKG. As a result of
the Contractual Arrangements, the Group can govern the financial and
operating policies of Beijing OKG and to obtain substantially all economic
benefits from the activities conducted by it. Accordingly, the financial
position and operating results of Beiing OKG are included in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as if it was the Group’s subsidiary.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

If the PRC government determines that these
Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our
business could be materially and adversely
affected. (continued)

In addition, in July 2006, the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of the PRC (the “MII”) issued the Notice Strengthening
the Administration of Foreign Investments in Value-added
Telecommunications Services (the “MIl Notice”). The MIl Notice requires
that ICP license holders or their shareholders directly own the domain
names and trademarks used by such ICP license holders in their daily
operations. The MIl Notice further requires each ICP license holder to
have the necessary facilities for its approved business operations and to
maintain such facilities in the regions covered by its license. In addition,
all the value-added telecommunication service providers are required
to maintain network and information security in accordance with the
standards set forth under relevant PRC regulations. The MIl Notice
prohibits ICP license holders from leasing, transferring or selling its ICP
license to any foreign investors in any form, or providing any resource,
sites or facilities to any foreign investors for their illegal operation of
telecommunications business in the PRC. The MIl Notice has imposed
a more stringent regulatory environment on foreign investment in value-
added telecommunication business, which introduces an increased risk
of the Contractual Arrangements being challenged by the relevant PRC
regulatory authorities. Therefore, we cannot rule out the possibility that
the relevant PRC regulatory authorities may require that we unwind the
Contractual Arrangements as a result of their increased attention on
companies such as ours following the introduction of the MIl Notice.

In addition, there are substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation
and application of current or future PRC laws and regulations.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

If the PRC government determines that these
Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our
business could be materially and adversely
affected. (continued)

If the Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG and its Registered
Shareholders are adjudicated to be in violation of any existing or future
PRC laws or regulations, the relevant regulatory authorities would have
broad discretion in dealing with such violations, including:

° require the nullification of the Contractual Arrangements;
° revoke the ICP license of Beijing OKG;

° require us to discontinue the business operations of Beijing OKG
or place restrictions or onerous conditions on such business

operations;
° shut down our oklink.com website;
° levy fines on us and/or confiscate the proceeds generated from the

operations under the Contractual Arrangements;

° impose additional conditions or requirements which we may not be
able to comply with;

° require us to restructure the relevant ownership structure or
operations; and

° take other regulatory or enforcement actions that could be harmful
to our business.

The imposition of any of the above-mentioned consequences could result
in a material and adverse effect on our ability to conduct our business.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect
to the interpretation and implementation of
the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (the
“FIL”) and how it may impact the viability of
our current corporate structure, corporate
governance and business operations.

On March 15, 2019, the Standing Committee of National People’s
Congress promulgated the FIL, which became effective on 1 January
2020. However, there remains substantial uncertainties regarding
the interpretation and the implementation of the FIL and the relevant
government authorities may have broad discretion in interpreting the law,
especially, among other things, the nature of contractual arrangements,
the promulgation schedule of both the “negative list” under the FIL
and specific rules regulating the organization form of foreign-invested
enterprises within the five-year transition period.

The contractual arrangements have been adopted by many PRC-based
companies, to obtain necessary licenses and permits in the industries
that are currently subject to foreign investment restrictions in the PRC.
While the FIL and its implementation regulations do not define contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment explicitly, we cannot assure
you that future laws and regulations will not provide for contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment. Therefore, there can be
no assurance that our control over Beijing OKG through the Contractual
Arrangements will not be deemed as foreign investment in the future.

Our ICP license and the provision of internet content are subject to
foreign investment restrictions or prohibitions and are currently on the
Negative List. If our Contractual Arrangements are deemed as foreign
investment, our Group may not be able to operate Beiing OKG through
the Contractual Arrangements and we would lose our rights to receive
the economic benefits of Beijing OKG. As a result, the financial results of
Beijing OKG would no longer be consolidated into the Group’s financial
results and we would have to derecognise their assets and liabilities
according to the relevant accounting standards. We may recognise an
investment loss as a result of such derecognition.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

We may lose the ability to use and enjoy the
benefits of the assets held by Beijing OKG that
are important to the operations of our business
if it goes bankrupt or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

Beijing OKG holds our ICP license that is material to our business
operations. The Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG contain
terms that specifically obligate their Registered Shareholders to ensure
the valid existence of Beijing OKG and that Beiing OKG may not be
voluntarily liquidated. However, should the Registered Shareholders
breach this obligation and voluntarily liquidate Beijing OKG, or should
Beijing OKG declare bankruptcy, the ICP license may be revoked and
its assets may become subject to liens or rights of third-party creditors,
we may be unable to continue some or all of our business operations in
the PRC, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements of this
Report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

As at 31 March 2021, the Company has reserves available of
approximately HK$192,008,000 (as at 31 March 2020: approximately
HK$263,616,000).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of
publication of this Report were:

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xu Mingxing

Mr. Tang Yue (appointed on 20 July 2020)
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang

Executive Director
Mr. Ren Yunan

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Zhouxin

Mr. Lee Man Chiu

Mr. Jiang Guoliang

Pursuant to the Article 108 of the Articles of Associations, Mr. Pu
Xiaojiang, Mr. Ren Yunan and Mr. Jiang Guoliang shall retire from office by
rotation at the 2021 AGM. They shall being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election as Director at the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

As at 31 March 2021,
re-elected at the 2021 AGM, has a service contract which is not

none of the Directors, including those to be

determinable by the Group within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2021.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report

EF
RAEERRESARETIEBMIE EHD
T

FHITES
RRERE
EEkE W2 -TFLA - +HEZD
B E

BITES
FES KL

BIFRITES
FEMEE
EmBEE
BERTE

RIFAABZZMAE 1081 BEILEE FR
BRERBRRAEESN - —FRIAF
RE LRERE - MM SERLERENRRE
FRGLEEEE-

EFRHBSY

A TEC—FZR=+—H HEEE (BEFK
RIB-_—FREBFAGLERBEINES)
B UAEEERMEME CAERERN 915
MTEFAR—ERKIERRB G4

EHESH

RBE_Z_—F-A=+—HLFE &xRF
WHEITUNFEEMEEARATL2HBREFEKX
BMMESHNEERTHRARNEA -



DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 3

Directors' Report

EFTHRS

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN {7 « tHEARR (7 R (BEHEE P RY
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND BEmRRE

DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests or short positions of the Directors R &

—F=ZR=T—H EERFATIE

and chief executive of the Company and their respective associates in = TTHAEBURREZBZHBAREAATLE
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any  {EfAI#EEHEE (E 2 B 55 K HE 1E4) SEXVIR)
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)  Z B35 ~ 1HEARR (D R EREE T R RN AR
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under  BIR#EEH K EAEIEHIE3521EB1F B 2 B Ll
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the ~ R Z &% A » SR £ iR BT 83+ Fr &2
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of  ZE5F B8 B 1750 & 4 A 5] Kz Bk 32 iy 2 88 4 3 33%

the Listing Rules, were as follows: =3Il

(@) Long positions in the ordinary shares of the (a) WAEATEERNFE

Company
Approximate
percentage
Position Number of Shares of the total
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interests (Long/Short) held/interested issued shares
BT
Bl A mEREN 1D 48
EENR 215/ EmtE BFE#B) RHEE BAE Lt
Mr. Xu Mingxing (“Mr. Xu”) Interests of a controlled corporation Long 3,904,925,001 72.71%
Note (1)
AR SE (TREED SERIEEE S 5=
Hizt(1)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Notes:

Long positions in the shares of associated (b) MRZAAT R ZERD TR
corporation of the Company
Approximate
Number of percentage
Name of Shares held of interest in
associated Capacity/ Position in associated associated
Name of Director corporation Nature of Interests (Long/Short) corporation corporation
ik
atn/ EBfi RiECEERE HE G
EE S 2 HECER R EtE (8 %B) HRHEE BABEAL
Mr. Tang Yue (‘Mr. Tang”) ~ OKC Holdings Interest of a controlled Long (i) 3,898,103 7.39%
Note (2) Corporation (‘OKC”)  corporation ordinary shares;
Note (1)
Buss (ERE) OKG Holdings TGRSR #E ) 3,898,103
Kize) Corporation ZERK ;
(fokc))
Hiz1)
(i) 3,068,409
series seed preferred shares;
and
(i) 3,068,4098%
BFRIERR
&
(iiiy 1,612,142
series A-1 preferred shares of
par value of USD0.0001 each
(ii) 1,612,142 EREE
0.0001E T ZA- 1 8RE LR
Misz -

An aggregate of 3,904,925,001 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 72.71% of the total issued share capital of the Company, are
held by OKC. (i) Mr. Xu’s wholly-owned company named StarXu Capital Limited
(“StarXu Capital”), which in turn holds direct interest in OKC of approximately
29.26%; (i) StarXu Capital has interest of approximately 73.52% in SKY CHASER
HOLDINGS LIMITED (“SKY CHASER”), whereas SKY CHASER directly holds
approximately 1.17% interest in OKC (accordingly, Mr. Xu holds approximately
0.86% indirect interest of OKC through SKY CHASER); and (iii) Mr. Xu's
wholly-owned company named OKEM Services Company Limited has direct
interest in OKC of approximately 31.66%. Thus, Mr. Xu holds an aggregate
interest of approximately 61.87% in OKC and therefore is deemed to be interested
in the 3,904,925,001 shares of the Company held by OKC pursuant to the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

) Mr. Tang’s wholly-owned company, Purple Mountain Holding Ltd., holds direct
interest in 3,898,103 ordinary shares, 3,068,409 series seed preferred shares
and 1,612,142 series A-1 preferred shares of par value of USD0.0001 each of
OKGC, representing approximately 7.39% of the issued shares in OKC. Each series
seed preferred share and series A-1 preferred share could be converted into one

ordinary share.

Q) As at 31 March 2021, the total number of issued shares of the Company was
5,370,510,000 shares.

Save as disclosed in sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) above, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company or any of their associates
had, or were deemed to hold, any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 March 2021.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
AND OTHERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, so far as was known to the Directors, the following
persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) held
interests in the relevant securities (as defined under Note 4 to Rule 22 of
the Takeovers Code), or had interests or short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares which are required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

ERER

x fthAt
b2 zN L a

I

1)
B

g
_H

%l)::

N TR —F=-A=+—H HEZFMN T
AL AFEZFHARTDEETHAL) KA
B (EERWHETRIRR22EER4) A
FR RN RABRARO P HEAREESRAER
PISEXVER F2T237) BF 5 XA M AR B 2 B2 AU 1
mER A RESHRIN T ABREZESFKRBE
1RPIE336IRAF BN LA R AU
S

Approximately

Number of percentage

Capacity/ Position Shares held/ of the total

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interests (Long/Short) interested issued shares

. Al %8/ AR EERTRE

RRES 4 ain/#EE Fe/%B) HRNEE BYBMAEAL

OKC Holdings Corporation (“OKC”) Note (1) and (2) Beneficial owner Long 3,904,925,001 72.711%

OKC Holdings Corporation (TOKC ) H7:#(1)%(2) BaEBA HE

Notes: Kzt .

(1) An aggregate of 3,904,925,001 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 72.71% of the total issued share capital of the Company, are held
by OKC. (i) Mr. Xu Mingxing (“Mr. Xu”)’s wholly-owned company named StarXu
Capital Limited (“StarXu Capital”), which in turn holds direct interest in OKC of
approximately 29.26%; (i) StarXu Capital has interest of approximately 73.52% in
SKY CHASER HOLDINGS LIMITED (“SKY CHASER”), whereas SKY CHASER
directly holds approximately 1.17% interest in OKC (accordingly, Mr. Xu holds
approximately 0.86% indirect interest of OKC through SKY CHASER); and (i)
his wholly-owned company named OKEM Services Company Limited has direct
interest in OKC of approximately 31.66%. Thus, Mr. Xu holds an aggregate
interest of approximately 61.87% in OKC and therefore is deemed to be interested
in the 3,904,925,001 shares of the Company held by OKC pursuant to the SFO.

2 As at 31 March 2021, the total number of issued shares of the Company was
5,370,510,000 shares.

Save as disclosed above, no other person (other than the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company) held any interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO or according to information available to the Company as at 31 March
2021.
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PLEDGE OF SHARES BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

During the Year, the Group did not have any pledge of shares by
controlling shareholder.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Report, at no time during the Year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in
or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company and any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the
Company, any of its subsidiaries, its parent company, or its parent
company’s subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly and
indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2021 or any time during the Year, nor
was there any other transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group’s business between the Company or any of
the Company’s subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the
Directors currently in force.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and the five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for 37.1%
and 72.1% respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the Year.
Revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for 51.7% and 83.5% respectively of
the Group’s total revenue for the Year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any material beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

Employees

The Group recognises employees as its valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract, motivate and
retain appropriate and suitable personnel to serve the Group. The Group
has also adopted an annual review system to assess the performance of
its staff, which forms the basis of the Group’s decisions with respect to
salary raises and promotions.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS
(CONTINUED)

Customers

A majority of the Group'’s five largest customers have good business
relationship with the Group and the Group will therefore endeavor to
accommodate their demands for the Group’s services to the extent its
resources allow in order to capture more opportunities for larger scale
projects in the future. The Group’s experience as a quality subcontractor
in handling foundation works and construction wastes handling projects
also give business advantage to the Group’s customers to ensure
projects are executive in accordance with their quality standard.

Suppliers and subcontractors

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers and
subcontractors to meet the Group’s customers’ needs in an effective
and efficient manner. The Group has set up an approved list of suppliers
and it selects the suppliers from the list based on the quality of materials,
timeliness of delivery, previous experience and length of partnership with
the supplier, competitiveness of the price offered and reputation of the
supplier.

Subject to the Group’s capacity, resources level, types of construction
works, cost effectiveness and complexity of the projects, the Group may
subcontract certain works to other subcontractors. The Group maintains
an internal list of approved subcontractors and carefully evaluate the
performance of its subcontractors and selects them based on the
experience, quality of works, timeliness of completion for past projects,
reputation in the industry, past performances, cost and the Group’s
relationship with them.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this Report, the
Company has maintained the sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules during the Year.
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PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION
OF THE COMPANY'’S LISTED
SECURITIES

On 19 October 2020, the Company repurchased a total of 8,070,000
shares (the “Repurchased Shares”) on the Stock Exchange at
an aggregate consideration (excluded expenses) of approximately
HK$1,161,000, and the Repurchased Shares have been cancelled.
Accordingly, the issued share capital of the Company was reduced by the
nominal value of these shares. Details of the Repurchased Shares were as
follows:

Purchase Price paid per Share

fBE HEREOAEAF L
e 5

RZZF_FFE+RATAR AATNRERIE
BAER1,161,0008 7T (T EERAS BEaH
8,070,0008z iz (TREEIRR 13 )) » EfEEIRME
i o At ARBEEITRARZSF RO EE
B BRABLIRMN ZFBENT

Aggregate
consideration

Number BEfEREERE paid (excluded

of share Highest Lowest expenses)

Date of repurchase repurchased HK$ HK$ HK$

BfERE

REE RIEE (FEiERS)

BE[E B HA FrEBEIRR1H 8 B BT BT BT

19 October 2020

“EZHF+A+ANH 8,070,000 0.150 0.138 1,161,000

The repurchase was made for the benefit of the Company and the BELITZFAANA S RAREE ~ BER ZMIEL 57

Shareholders as a whole with a view to enhancing the earnings per share
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year and up to the date of this Report, none of the Directors
are considered to have interests in a business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries or associated companies.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 12 August 2015. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
The main purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate employees
to optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the Company.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
(10) years from the date of the adoption unless otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms stipulated therein.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed
the maximum number of shares permissible under the Listing Rules,
currently being 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date
of the 12 August 2015 (being 5,262,000,000 ordinary shares).

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option
Scheme must not, during any 12-month period, exceed the maximum
number of shares permissible under the Listing Rules (which 1% of the
total number of shares in issue as at the date of the 12 August 2015,
being 526,200,000 ordinary shares).

The exercise price shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant; and (i) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five (5) business days immediately preceding the date of grant. The
exercise period of share option granted under the Share Option Scheme
is determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, and shall expire
no later than the 10th anniversary of date on which the share option is
granted.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Movement of share options

The following table summarised movements of the Company’s issued

share

options during the Year:

Number of Share Options
FRREYE

fsRztE Tl (8)
RERRIEEE

TRBATFEARATERTHEREZE

Exercise  Share price
price of  immediately
At At Share before the
1 April 31 March  Exercise period of Options grant date
Date of Grant Owners/Grantees 2020 Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled 2021  Share Options HK$ gﬁ}iﬁ
R 2
o - - = = BREGEE REANEE
btil=l BEA/EBEA mA—-H [5ih Bi7ff BES: Bt =ZA=+-H BRECES AT AT
18/10/2019  Cheng Yuk 6,500,000 - (8,100,000) (3,400,000) - - 18/10/2019- 0.205 0.200
17/ 0/2020
) 1 &
+ﬁ +)\ = +ﬁ -I')\Ei
TATEE
18/10/2019  Former employees of 192,130,000 - (49,610,000 (142,520,000) - - 18/10/2019- 0.205 0.200
the Grou 17/10/2020
“Z-0E  KE@EIEE “E-hE
+H +/\B +ﬁ( iré =ES
TAtiE
198,630,000 - (62,710,000 (145,920,000) - -
As at the date of this Report: — RAFREHE —
. all the share options granted on 18 October 2019 were vested, e A ZE—NF+HA+TN\BEHNERED

including 116,580,000 share options which were exercised and the
remaining 145,920,000 share options were lapsed;

there are no exercisable share options under the Share Option
Scheme; and

the weighted average closing price for share options exercised
during the Year immediately before the dates of exercise was
HK$0.215 per share.

Consideration for grant of Share Options: HK$1 to be paid by each of grantees
upon acceptance of the Share Options granted.

Validity period: From 18 October 2019 to 17 October 2020 (both days inclusive).

Vesting schedule: () 25% of the Share Options shall be vested on 18 October
2019; (i) 25% of the Share Options shall be vested on 18 January 2020; (i) 25%
of the Share Options shall be vested on 18 April 2020; and (iv) 25% of the Share
Options shall be vested on 18 July 2020.

Particulars of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this Report relating to the Share Option Scheme, no
equity-linked agreement was entered into for the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and the laws of Cayman Islands.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits schemes are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$176,000 (2020: HK$555,000).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
BY INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent
non-executive Directors and the Company considers all Directors to be
independent.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of our Group are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance of the Directors and senior management
and comparable market practices.

The Company has adopted Share Option Scheme as incentive to eligible
employees, details of the schemes are set out in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” of this Report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, there were no connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules. Details of significant related party transactions
undertaken in the usual course of business are set out in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements. None of these related party
transactions constitute a discloseable connected transaction as defined
under the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Shenzhen OKG has entered into a series of contractual arrangements (the
“Contractual Arrangements”) with Beiing OKG, pursuant to which the
Company would gain effective control over, and receive all the economic
benefits generated by, the businesses operated by Beijing OKG.

The principal businesses of Beijing OKG is engaged in the provision
of internet content, the value-added telecommunications services
and holding the ICP license which businesses are either restricted
or prohibited for foreign investment in accordance with the Special
Administrative Measures (Negative List) for Foreign Investment Access
(the “Negative List”). Beijing OKG is significant to the Group as it hold
the requisite licenses, approvals and permits that are material for the
Group’s business in the PRC, including the ICP license.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Information on the Contractual Entities and
their Registered Owners

Beijing OKG was established as a limited liability company in the PRC
on 23 April 2019. The registered shareholders of Beijing OKG were
Ms. Luo Min and Mr. Li Guangpeng, holding 99% and 1% of its interest,
respectively. On 21 April 2020, Ms. Luo Min and Mr. Li Guangpeng
transferred all their interests in Beiing OKG to Mr. Ren Yudong and
Ms. Xi Ling. Mr. Ren Yudong and Ms. Xi Ling, holding 99% and 1% of its
interest, became the new registered shareholders of Beijing OKG (Ms. Luo
Min, Mr. Li Guangpeng, Mr. Ren Yudong and Ms. Xi Ling, collectively, the
“Registered Shareholders”).

Through the Contractual Arrangements, the results of operations and
assets and liabilities of Beiing OKG are consolidated into the results of
operations and assets and liabilities of the Company under HKFRS as if it
was subsidiary of the Group.

Beijing OKG has not yet generated revenue during the year ended
31 March, 2021,
approximately HK$0.3 million.

and its total assets as at 31 March, 2021 was

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Shenzhen OKG and Beiing OKG entered into an exclusive business
cooperation agreement (the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement”) on 23 April 2019 pursuant to which Beijing OKG
agreed to engage Shenzhen OKG as its exclusive provider to provide
Beijing OKG with technical consultation and services, including but not
limited to, network information technology management and support,
technical consultation, promotion planning and market promotion,
technology and software research and development, management
consultancy necessary for the operations of Beijing OKG and Beijing OKG
agreed to pay service fees to Shenzhen OKG according to the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement. Without the prior written consent of
Shenzhen OKG, during the term of the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements, Beijing OKG shall not directly or indirectly accept from any
third party services which are the same or similar to the services under the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
(continued)

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement (continued)

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements may be terminated by
Shenzhen OKG by giving Beiing OKG 30 days prior written notice of
termination and shall be terminated upon the transfer of the entire equity
interests in Beijing OKG to Shenzhen OKG or its designated person
pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement.

Exclusive Option Agreement

On 28 April 2019 and 21 April 2020, Shenzhen OKG, Beijing OKG and
the Registered Shareholders entered into the exclusive option agreement
(the “Exclusive Option Agreement”) pursuant to which Shenzhen OKG
has the irrevocable, unconditional and exclusive right to purchase, or to
designate one or more persons/entities to purchase, from the Registered
Shareholders all or any part of their equity interests in Beijing OKG and
from Beijing OKG all or any part of the assets of Beiing OKG at any time
in Shenzhen OKG'’s absolute discretion in accordance with the provision
of the Exclusive Option Agreement and to the extent permitted by the
PRC laws and regulations. The consideration in relation to purchasing
shares or assets from the Registered Shareholders shall be RMB1 or the
lowest price as permitted under the applicable PRC laws and regulations.

The rights may be exercised at any time within effective period of the
Exclusive Option Agreement. The Exclusive Option Agreement became
effective upon execution and shall remain effective during the continuance
of Beijing OKG. The Exclusive Option Agreement shall be terminated upon
the transfer of the entire equity interests in Beijing OKG to Shenzhen OKG
or its designated person pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report

GHI%HE (R)
BRI ZHE @

BREBSFEHZR (B

BREBAFHEDERRITERMNERZER
MIERER EHE S 308 2 EAEER LB
M LERBRIRBEERBRENZEZILRE
MEREZ2ERETRINTERMNEZRIEIEE
ALBEIE-

BRBRET S

AR NENB -+ =AKRETFMA
ZH—H RNTEBRAEE R EE R
EREITUBRBERER R (RRERER
HE) BRI REBERERE RS SR
B AR EIERFTASTNEER R HER E#
BB TR BRI E R E R 2R IERER
BECREEEREE —EXAZEAL S8
EEHNRI R EE Y 2E A D RE
EFELREBREHEENEE —EHZEAL
SEREBELRBNER Y 2 EAHDE
E-mETKREEERNINEEZAMRERS
ARE1THRBEAREER AR AT ZRIE
Bige

ZERANAINBRERERREVARNERTT
- BRERERZENEEZ BRERILATIL
REM ERFERANERAN - REEKBRE
MER N REEREREGZERIIRENE
RBEARETRITERNEZENEEEAL
BRIk



CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
(continued)

Equity Pledge Agreements

On 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020, Shenzhen OKG, Beijing OKG and
the Registered Shareholders entered into the Equity Pledge Agreement
(the “Equity Pledge Agreement’) pursuant to which the Registered
Shareholders granted a first priority of security interest in their respective
interests in the registered capitals of Beijing OKG as collateral security
for securing the performance of their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements or for any and all of the secured indebtedness under the
Contractual Arrangements. During the pledge period, Shenzhen OKG is
entitled to receive any dividends arising from the equity interests in Beijing
OKG held by the Registered Shareholders.

The Equity Pledge Agreements shall remain effective until all the
agreements (other than the Equity Pledge Agreements) underlying the
Contractual Arrangements have been terminated.

Power of Attorney

On 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020, Shenzhen OKG and the Registered
Shareholders executed a power of attorney (the “Power of Attorney”),
pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders irrevocably authorised
Shenzhen OKG to exercise their shareholders’ rights in Beijing OKG,
including without limitation, the rights to () attend shareholders’ meetings,
(i) exercise voting rights, (i) appoint directors, supervisors and senior
management, (iv) sign and file documents with relevant governmental
authorities or regulatory bodies, and (v) authorise to exercise any of the
shareholders’ rights on the winding-up or dissolution of Beijing OKG.

The Power of Attorney became effective upon execution and shall remain
effective during the continuance of Beijing OKG. It shall be terminated
unilaterally by Shenzhen OKG by giving prior notice.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
(continued)

Spouse Undertakings

The spouse of each of the Registered Shareholders, where applicable,
has signed an undertaking on 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020 (the
“Spouse Undertakings”). Pursuant to the Spouse Undertakings, each of
the spouses of the Registered Shareholders irrevocably undertakes that:

(i) the spouse has been made fully aware of and unconditionally
and irrevocably consented to the entering into the Contractual
Arrangements among the respective Registered Shareholders,
Shenzhen OKG and Beijing OKG;

(ii) the spouse will not claim any interests or rights in the equity of
Beijing OKG and the Registered Shareholder shall be entitled to
dispose of the equity interests in accordance with the Contractual
Arrangements without his/her consent;

(i) the spouse shall be bound by the Contractual Arrangements and
take all necessary actions to ensure the appropriate implementation
of the Contractual Arrangements; and

(iv) in the event that the spouse obtains any interests in Beijing OKG,
he/she will be subject to and abide by the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements as if he/she was a signing party to such Contractual
Arrangements, and at the request of Shenzhen OKG, he/she will
sign any documents in the form and substance consistent with the
Contractual Arrangements.

Reasons for adopting the Contractual
Arrangements

The Company and its indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen OKG,
as foreign investors, are prohibited from holding equity interests in the
Beijing OKG, which provides internet content and holds ICP license for
which foreign investment is prohibited or restricted. In order to conduct
the business in China through Beijing OKG, the Group, through its
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen OKG, entered into the
Contractual Arrangements.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

M

(i)

(iii)

()

The Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership. Beijing OKG or its
Registered Shareholders may fail to perform their obligations under
the Contractual Arrangements.

If the PRC government determines that these Contractual
Arrangements with Beijing OKG do not comply with applicable PRC
laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their interpretations
change in the future, our business could be materially and adversely
affected.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation
and implementation of the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (the
“FIL" (P E AR EMEINFIRE L)) and how it may impact the
viability of our current corporate structure, corporate governance
and business operations.

We may lose the ability to use and enjoy the benefits of the assets
held by Beijing OKG that are important to the operations of our
business if it goes bankrupt or becomes subject to a dissolution or
liquidation proceeding.

For further details, please refer to the section headed “KEY RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES” on pages 101 to 109 of this Report.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Actions taken by the Group to mitigate the
risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

The Group has adopted following measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group with the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements and the Group’s compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements:

(i) major issues arising from the implementation of and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary,
for review and discussion as and when they arise;

(ii) the relevant business units and operation divisions of the Group
will report regularly, to the senior management of the Company
in relation to compliance and performance conditions under the
Contractual Arrangements and other related matters;

(i)  External legal advisers or other professional advisers will be
engaged, if necessary, to assist the Board to deal with specific
issues arising from the Contractual Arrangements and to ensure
that the operation and implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements as a whole will comply with applicable laws and
regulations;

(iv)  the Board (including the independent non-executive Directors) will
ensure that Beijing OKG shall retain and continue to hold all relevant
intellectual properties, required for the purpose of maintaining and
renewing its operating licenses and permits as required by relevant
PRC government authorities, and going forward and to the extent
permissible under PRC laws and regulations;

(v} the Board (including the independent non-executive Directors) will
ensure the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in
the ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable so far as our
Group is concerned, and in the interest of our Company and its
Shareholders as a whole; and

(v  independent non-executive Directors will continue to play
an independent role on the Board by reviewing the effective
implementation of the procedures and controls referred to above
and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare any final dividend for the Year
(2020: Nil).

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited has acted as the auditors of the
Company for the Year. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors for
the coming year will be proposed at the 2021 AGM.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group’s operations at work sites are subject to certain environmental
requirements pursuant to the laws in Hong Kong. The laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group include, among
others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Air Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission)
Regulation (Chapter 311Z of the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control
Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Disposal
(Charges for Disposal of Construction Waste) Regulation, Dumping at Sea
Ordinance (Chapter 466 of the Laws of Hong Kong, Environmental Impact
Assessment Ordinance (Chapter 499 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
Boilers and Pressure Vessels Ordinance (Chapter 56 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

In order to comply with the applicable environmental protection laws,
we had implemented an environmental management system which
was certified to be in compliance with the standard required under ISO
14001:2004. Apart from following the environmental protection policies
formulated and required by our customers, we have also established
our environmental management policy to ensure proper management
of environmental protection and compliance of environmental laws and
regulations by both our employees and workers of the subcontractors on
among others, air pollution, noise control and waste disposal.

During the Year, our Group did not record any non-compliance with
applicable environmental requirements that resulted in prosecution or
penalty being brought against our Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 30 to 56 of this Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

During the Year under review, there was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of Group.

On behalf of the Board

Ren Yunan

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Hong Kong, China

28 June 2021
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Independent Auditors' Report

il S 3l A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE MEMBERS OF OKG TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayrman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of OKG
Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 140 to 252,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BBt EE

PR Est S

FRESAFTEERERMANEEAE  BHHK
MEAEPREUBRREABEENFR -ZF
FEDPREMBAEREEMHBRRRERRK
PMHENERFRETERE MAMIEHZEE
HEHEBEBENER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANEFNANRRESFRETERE

Recognition of revenue and costs from construction contracts and contract assets

ERRER S ELHIR m REEIREHEE

Refer to Notes 2.22, 4, 5 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements

F2REEMBRERMEE2.2214 6519

We identified recognition of revenue and costs from
construction contracts and contract assets as a key
audit matter as significant management’s estimations
and judgements are involved in the determination of the
outcome of construction contracts and the progress towards
completion of construction works.
EMBNERERSNEENNERMARENEER
—IERAR B FIE THRNEERRGNERAERT
R EER R ERNEIEE G R FE o
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Our audit procedures in relation to recognition of revenue
and costs from construction contracts and contract assets
mainly included:

B ESERSNELNREERNAIRENEENS
FRFIEARE

° Reviewing the contract sum and budgeted costs to
respective signed contracts and budgets prepared by
management;
BREMEEIIEANENEERTBERAUKE
BERMNNTES ;

° Understanding from management about how the

budgets were prepared and the respective progress
towards completion of construction works were
determined;
MERETHRINHENBEERNFEERRTES
HREE ;

° Evaluating the reasonableness of progress towards
completion of construction works by obtaining
the certificates issued by customers or payment
applications confirmed by internal surveyor;
FBEESE L BEHNEE R ANER S MR
FrAsHhER T RETREENGIENY ;

o Testing the actual costs incurred on construction
works;

AFRBRRETIRELENERRAE ;

° Assessing the reasonableness of the budgets by
comparing the actual outcome against management’s
estimation of similar contracts; and
FRLERBERER R EEBHBUSOM T
FEENSEY &

° Assessing the appropriateness and adequate of
the disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.

SHMER G EMBRRFENKEERBEERTE



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

RSB EE
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FRREFIR (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FAINBEANAHAREF FHETRE

Impairment assessment of trade and loan receivables and contract assets

E SRR NIBEREKERUREAEER BEL

Refer to Notes 2.9, 3.1, 4, 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements

B2RGREM B HRERMEE2.9-3.1 4 18%19

We identified impairment assessment of trade and loan
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter due
to the involvement of subjective judgement and estimates of
the management of the Group in determining the expected
credit losses of the Group’s trade and loan receivables and
contract assets at the end of the reporting period.
EMEEBZREUAREBEREVERURENEENRE
T RRAREZEE DRERRSHARTG SEENE
SEWHIERERERUAREGHNEENTEREEHER
Wk BEEBIEENFEFIEN LGS

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of trade and loan receivables and contract assets mainly
included:
BMMEZEWHRERERERURENEENRET
ENEFETEEE

o Discussing with management on the estimation
involved in determining the amount of expected
credit loss allowance regarding the trade and loan
receivables and contract assets;

BEIRE SN R B R B 5 EUGRIE K R E R L
REHEENTRIAGEHEBRESENGS

o Testing the working paper files prepared by
management’s expert to calculate the expected credit
loss and checking the information included in the
working paper files;

A EEERHEMUABERREEHEBENIFEREX
B E TRREXHEER ;

o Engaging a valuation expert to assist us to assess
the appropriateness of the expected credit loss
provisioning methodology, examining the key data
inputs on a sample basis to assess their accuracy
and completeness, and challenging the assumptions,
including both historical and forward-looking
information, used to determine the expected credit
losses by the management’s expert; and
AT ER KRB R L TERERBEREES
ERNBEE M MR R E RIS SRR BIE®E A LT
MEERMRTEEY THEOERERAIREEE
TANBRRELHE AR EEEBERNTER
ERER &

° Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures
about the expected credit loss allowance regarding
trade and loan receivables and contract assets in the
consolidated financial statements.

Mt BEETARAMBRETRENEZEKEIE
REWEHRUAREHNEENTRIAERABREREN

RBERERD

BT R AR AR
B —FFR

133



134

Independent Auditors’ Report
B ZHENER S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

RSB EE

FRREFIR (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HAINBEANAHAREF FHETRE

Accounting for digital asset transactions and balances
BFEEXGRBGH S5 EE

Refer to Notes 2.10, 2.27, 3.3, 3.4, 4, 5, 20, 21 and 28 to the consolidated financial statements

ERRAE SRR RMEE2.1022.27+3.3-3.4 45202128

The Group’s digital assets business includes primarily digital
assets lending business and holding digital assets for its
trust and custody customers.

BT EEER I EORETEENBEBEAHE
EXRTEERFAUTEE.

Digital assets that the Group deals with are cryptographically
secured assets for which encryption techniques are used
to regulate the generation of units of currency. Supply and
demand determine the value of digital assets which can be
extremely volatile in this emerging industry.
EEEMEENHTEERNBNEE  ARAMEB M,
ARGESEEUNEL - HBERETHFEENEE
O 7E LE T B T 2R BB RIRE ©
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Our procedures on the Group’s digital asset transactions
and balances mainly included:

Bz EEENUFTEERZREHRITHIEFEE
2R

° Understanding and evaluating the key controls,
including automated and manual controls, and
segregation of duties in the execution of these
controls, in the following areas:

TR FHE U T BRNRERES B RAF
D RITEFINBES T

0 information technology general controls over the
accounting system that are considered relevant
to the financial statement reporting process;
B MmN EREIR RS EYBRREIR
EFEERANSHEREERR ;

o) recording of depositing, withdrawal, trading and
settlement transactions with counterparties in
the relevant platform; and
sk T AN E FHETHNER I
RARER &

o) reconciliations of digital asset transactions and
balances between trade records on internal
operating and accounting systems with other
external source of data.
HFBERGRERERZ LMD EE
T & 5 B2 I8 Z 40 A0 H M S BB 2R R B9 Bk AV
o
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Key audit matter

RSB EE
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FRREFIR (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FAINBEANAHAREF FHETRE

HKFRSs do not specifically address accounting for digital
assets. Accordingly, for the preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, management needs to
apply judgements in determining appropriate accounting
policies based on the existing accounting framework and the
facts and circumstances of the Group’s digital assets.

BERAMBRSENTEREFIIRMFEENGSHEE - F
I MmH SEENGEMHRERMS  BEBANRE
#ﬁﬁ FHERKR BEENBFEENETBRIERE

BE Gt BEREE R Ao

Given the business model of the Group, digital assets are
accounted for as inventories and are measured at fair value
less costs to sell on the statement of financial position.

E BEENEBEN BFEERUBRRREAR
BAR AT ERHERATE

Furthermore, in determining fair values, management needs
to apply judgement to identify the relevant available markets,
and to consider accessibility to and activity within those
markets in order to identify the principal digital asset markets
dealt with by the Group.

IESh - FEHEE A TER - EIEIE R 2 E B b Ak E 48
MNP ATS TEREET RN kM AkES  LUE
T BEEREBENTIEHFTEEMS

Due to the complexity and evolving nature of blockchains
and technology associated with digital assets, the reliance
of the Group’s business thereon, and the management
judgements applied in accounting for the digital asset
transactions and balances described above, we considered
the risk of material misstatement relating to these
transactions and balances as significant and hence a key
focus of our audit.
ARBFEERREREREITNREE R TEERN
Bt BEEEBHEIRERZEMNKER FMEIE
BHHFEER S REHEITS 515 IERFFTE A A &
EMEEZER S REGRBRNERERBLERRS
BR WAHMET 2B

Understanding and evaluating the accounting policies
adopted by management for its digital assets based
on the contractual and business arrangements with
respective counterparties; and
RIBEBAEFRETHNENREBZTE THRK
ML EEEMAERFEEFMRMRIESTECR ; &

Performing substantive tests of details, on a sample
basis, including the following:
ETEEMFRERAE SEUTEE

o) circularising independent audit confirmations to
counterparties to confirm transactions for the
year and account balances at the year end; and
REIEFEISEDETHFAURIERN

RAREXRRPHER &

0 reviewing the appropriateness of management’s

assessment and determination of principal
market for each of the relevant digital assets.
Testing the fair value of digital assets adopted
by management to external data quoted in the
principal exchange market.
B REEEEEHEHMBFTEETED
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Independent Auditors' Report
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B ZHENER S

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Lo Kin Kei.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Kin Kei

Practising Certificate Number: P06413
Hong Kong, 28 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

]

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_—Z

R R HthZ2E =R

——F=ZR=t+—HLEE

2021 2020
e TooE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FAET FET
Revenue g 5 452,964 570,320
Cost of sales HE K (406,399) (527,728)
Gross profit EFH 46,565 42,592
Other income, gains and losses HUg A~ W e E518 5 16,162 4,978
Administrative and other operating expenses 17 B & E 4L 2 5% (104,082) (91,407)
Impairment losses on intangible assets EEEEZHEBE (180) =
Impairment losses on financial assets ETMEBERGNEEZRE
and contract assets 518 (46,892) (5,375)
Operating loss REER (88,427) (49,212)
Finance costs ROE A 6 (7,933) (9,131)
Loss before income tax FRETISIRAIES 18 7 (96,360) (58,343)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrsfiEse, (3) 10 2,505 (3,259)
Loss for the year attributable to TATEE ANEEERNERE
owners of the Company (93,855) (61,602)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HEthzmmkiz, (58
Item that may be reclassified subsequently E & AJ5EER HEE18m 2
to profit or loss: EE
Exchange differences arising from MEBIINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations ERAERE 1,255 (2,120)
Total comprehensive loss for the year KABHEEANEGLERN
attributable to owners of the Company S HEEIBAREE (92,600) (63,722)
Basic and diluted loss per share SRELRKEEHEE HK cents 1l HK cents 1l
11 (1.75) (1.17)
Details of dividends are disclosed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial & B:¥ 5N e & B MR M 131 R
statements.
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated BBt Z Mz B2 E S MISMARERE Z —2hH o

financial statements.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SREMBINRR

As at 31 March 2021 RZE2-—F=F=+—H
2021 2020
—E-—F =g RS
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
kiaE FHET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment MR RERE 14 34,569 48,822
Right-of-use assets FHEESE 15 2,784 36,158
Intangible assets mPLEE 16 4,456 7,571
Prepayment FE(TRRIE 18 318 1,050
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIBE & 26 - 450
42,127 94,051
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E A EUERRR 18 95,196 127,385
Contract assets EHNEE 19 67,029 104,429
Inventories =78 20 68,879 -
Inventories due from counterparties EWRHFANEES 21 12,766 =
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFABERZ
profit or loss TREE 22 28,560 27,645
Amount due from a related party FEW — %A BEE 5 718 30,35 1,980 2,980
Tax recoverable EIEE ] 2,741 401
Pledged bank deposit BIEIRIRITTEM 23 - 6,753
Trust bank balance held on behalf of REFRFEZ
customers Z5LiR1T4E R 23 49,128 =
Bank balances and cash RITERKRIRE 23 236,735 239,571
563,014 509,164
Total assets BEHE 605,141 603,215
EQUITY W
Capital and reserves BERRGEE
Share capital [N 24 26,853 26,629
Reserves (G 192,720 274,514
Total equity g 219,573 301,143
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities ERHER
Lease liabilities HEafs 15 - 12,047
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEEE 26 1,929 3,255
1,929 15,302
aﬁiﬁ?’“ﬁxﬁ ﬁE’L\\T
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SREMBARR

As at 31 March 2021 RZ_Z-_—F=H=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETFHF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
k= FAET FET

Current liabilities Bt B=RE
Trade and other payables B 5 K EMEMSIRR 27 99,060 90,806
Contract liabilities aHaE 19 4,726 1,610
Liabilities due to customers ANEI=R=L = 28 108,151 =
Amount due to a former subsidiary R —BFi M B ABRIE 29 10,641 10,641
Amount due to a related party FES— R RE A RIE 30 10,244 14,776
Loan from a related party —SAERER 31 148,500 141,750
Lease liabilities HEas 15 2,317 23,931
Current income tax liabilities BREAFTIS M A’ - 3,256
383,639 286,770
Total liabilities afE4RLE 385,568 302,072
Total equity and liabilities R ERERE 605,141 603,215
Net current assets FBREEE 179,375 222 394
Total assets less current liabilities BEEHAERTBERE 221,502 316,445

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for — #4F & B 5 &
issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2021 and are signed on its

behalf by:

EIBBERE
Mr. Ren Yunan
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BB

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &#HZE—

*A*—ll—

Attributable to owners of the Company

T —F=-A=+—HILEEE

EATHEE AElL
Share- Retained
based earnings/
Share Share  payment Capital Merger Translation (accumulated Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) equity
BARG {7
AERZ RERH/
A RHEBE AREE BrHEE SHRE EIRE (BHEH el
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKE000  HKE000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKE'000
FTERT FERT FTET FTERT FTERT FTERT FTERT FTERT
(Note 24) (Note a) (Note b)
(Hizto4) (Hizta) (Hiztn)
Balance at 1 April 2019 R ZE—-NEMA—BNEL 26310 212,067 - 7,922 1 1,490 93,892 341,682
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - = (61,602) (61,602)
Other comprehensive loss FREMZESE
for the year - - - - - (2,120 - (2,120
Total comprehensive loss FRNEEBEESE
for the year - - - - - (2,120) (61,602 (63,722)
Share-based payment expenses  MRIN AR Z A% - - 10,090 - - - = 10,090
Exercise of share options TR 319 15,585 2,811) - - - - 13,093
Balance at 31 March 2020 RIEZZHE=F=1+—HH
AR 26,629 227,652 7,279 7,922 1 (630) 32290 301,143
Balance at 1 April 2020 AZEZTENA—BNEER 26,629 227,652 7,279 7,922 1 (630) 32,200 301,143
Loss for the year ERNEE - - - - - - (93,855)  (93,855)
Other comprehensive income FRHEMZERE
for the year - - - - - 1,255 - 1,255
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ERZ2E WL,/ (5518) B4
for the year - - - - - 1,255 (93,855) (92,600)
Share-based payment expenses MR MHAERZ FHEX - - 1,385 - - - - 1,385
Exercise of share options TfERERE 264 12,841 (2,299) - - - - 10,806
Lapse of share options BERREAN - - (6,365) - - - 6,365 =
Repurchase and cancellation of ~ BE[E1 Kz sE 85 AR 1%
shares (40) (1,121) - - - - - (1,161)
Balance at 31 March 2021 KZEZ—F=A=+—HK
o1 26,853 239,372 - 7,922 1 625 (552000 219,573
Notes: byaE -
a. The capital reserve represents the deemed capital contribution from the  a. BARFEBEEREARBRREE  BERAREART

Company’s shareholder in relation to listing expenses reimbursed to the Company

in prior years.

b. The merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the b.

shares issued by the Company in exchange for the nominal value of the share

capital of its subsidiaries arising from the reorganisation in prior years.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SRRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

2021 2020
e B
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
i3 FAET FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETHHRERE
Net cash generated from/(used in) KERR (FT) IREF5E
operations 32(a) 2,180 (28,595)
Income tax paid [=ENIFIRCT (3,967) (500)
Interest paid on bank overdrafts RITEZZENFE (2 1
Net cash used in operating activities K& ;EEIFTAIRE B4 (1,789) (29,096)
Cash flows from investing activities REZHHRESRE
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYZE BERSZE
plant and equipment FTigsR 18 4,673 2,430
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B2 B#¥)% BB K & (4,965) (38,341)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary, HEWBABMERIE>
net of cash disposed NFBEHERSE 35 - (338)
Purchases of intangible assets BERTEE - (8,804)
Increase in non-pledged fixed deposit R=@EA%BIEHZ
maturing over three months IR E B AU 0 - (1,500)
Decrease in pledged bank deposit BIRFIRTTERUR LD 6,753 =
Purchases of financial assets at fair value ~ BEERAFEFAEBRZ
through profit or loss ETREE (76,446) (195,579)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEEZAFET AEBTZ
at fair value through profit or loss TREEERIE 83,381 181,747
Decrease in amount due from FEU — S4B 5 AR B R
a related party 1,000 -
Interest received BUF) 2 967 2,462
Net cash generated from/ ®EEEFRS (FRE) 2
(used in) investing activities REHEE 15,363 (57,923)
Cash flows from financing activities MEEHRERE
Net proceeds from issue of shares BITRD Z TS RIB 2 RE 10,806 13,093
Payment on repurchase and BE O] R sE 8 AR 1D (9 3k
cancellation of shares (1,161) -
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to FE(S— S REE A RIB
a related party CRiZL) /180 (5,551) 14,404
Repayment of lease liabilities BEEREaRE (19,590) (22,478)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEsBEZENFE (1,181) (2,380)
Interest paid on loan from a related party —&FIEAERZENFE - (8,438)
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE = (25)
Net cash used in financing activites = BEESIFTAZREFE (16,677) (5,824)

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FARERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

—GEZA=+—ALLEE

2021 2020
—E-—& —E-Ts
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Jiok=3 FAT FET
Net decrease in cash and cash RERREEEBYRLFEE
equivalents (3,103) (92,843)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXEFH & 267 (1,581)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUVRERAEEEY
beginning of year 238,071 332,495
Cash and cash equivalents atend of FXIREKZHESZEY
year 235,235 238,071
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents IRERRE LB
Cash at banks RITIRE 23 209,960 176,596
Non-pledged fixed deposits maturing R=@ARIEHZ
within three months IR EHER 23 25,092 61,061
Cash on hand FERSe 23 183 414
235,235 238,071

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION AND
BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
with effect from 2 September 2015. Its parent company is OKC
Holdings Corporation, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability and controlled by Mr. Xu Mingxing. The
address of the Company’s registered office is Windward 3, Regatta
Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands. The address of the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong is Unit 902-903, 9th Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-257
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in provision of construction wastes handling
services, foundation, building construction works and ancillary
services, technology services, investments in securities, lending
business and trust and custody services. During the year ended 31
March 2021, the Group has commenced the business in provision
of building construction works and trust and custody services in
order to broaden the Group’s source of income.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) which is also the functional currency of the
Company, unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial
statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors
on 28 June 2021.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”). In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except as
otherwise stated in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B Z "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2020 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

The application of the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and
the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

148 OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs

(continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS

9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28
Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments’

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2°

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions*

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021¢

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)!

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates'
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a single

Transaction'
Property, Plant and Equipment -
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020?
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs
(continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June
2020.

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2021.

The directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of all new and amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in
the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)

over which the Group has control. The Group controls

an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights

to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity

and has the ability to affect those returns through its

power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated

from the date on which control is transferred to the

Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that

control ceases.

@

Business combinations

The Group uses the acquisition method to
account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred. |dentifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the recognised amount of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_—Z

——F=ZR=t+—HLEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

@

©®)

Business combinations (continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling

acquired is recorded as goodwiill.

interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of
a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the profit or loss.

Inter-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Transaction with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests as transactions with equity
owners of the Group. For purchase of non-
controlling interests, the difference between
any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGHHRHNE @)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
2.2 Subsidiaries (continued) 2.2 MtBAR (&)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued) 221 iRE (&)

(b)  Transaction with non-controlling interests
(continueq)

When the Group ceases to have control or
significant influence, any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the

) HIFEREGIIT
&)

EAEETBEAES
ERTBEREFEARE
B BEATARER

change in carrying amount recognised in profit or HEWMSEELFE
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount MR EEZHNIBRE
for the purposes of subsequently accounting R RNFEDEBRKR

for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to

profit or loss account.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
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the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMEBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the steering committee that makes strategic decisions.

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the

Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_Z

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Foreign currency translation
(continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the end of that reporting period;

(ii) income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates
of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss,
as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is

directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of any component accounted for as a separate assets is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which

they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives or lease term

where applicable, as follows:

— Leasehold improvements  Over relevant lease term

— Furniture, fixtures and office 20%

equipment
— Machinery and equipment  20%
— Motor vehicles 20%
— Vessel 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_Z

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.5

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment
(continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Intangible assets

Separately acquired intangible assets are shown at historical
cost. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Intangible
assets have a finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of intangible
assets over their estimated useful lives.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or
intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.8 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentive receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2 FEGHEBREE (@)

2.8 Leases (continued) 28 HE (&)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by
the Group, which does not have recent third party
financing, and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable
lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not
included in the lease liability until they take effect. When
adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate
take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted
against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.
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RS MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.8 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease
term on the same basis as lease income. The respective
leased assets are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position based on their nature. The Group did
not need to make any adjustments to the accounting for
assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new leasing
standard.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.9 Financial assets

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

2 FEGHEBREE (@)

29 THEE

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income (“OCI”) or though
profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of
the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item
in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)

o FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/
(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the
statement of profit or loss.

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period
in which it arises.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in
OCl, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s

right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement of profit
or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant

increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the

receivables.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.10 Inventories
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210 &

The Group’s inventories include the Group’s proprietary
digital assets and the digital assets held on behalf of certain
third parties of the Group’s trust and custody business. The
Group measures the digital asset inventories at fair value less
costs to sell. The Group considers there are no significant
“costs to sell” digital assets and hence measurement of
digital assets is based on their fair values with changes in
fair values recognised in profit or loss in the period of the
changes.

The Group’s proprietary digital assets were mainly held to
facilitate the Group’s digital assets lending business that were
made in form of Bitcoin and stablecoins. When the digital
assets were lent to the counterparties, such inventories will
be then recorded in “Inventories due from counterparties”.

The Group also held digital assets for its trust and custody
customers. Based on the respective rights and obligations of
the Group and its customers under the custody agreement,
digital assets still held by the Group are recorded as assets
of the Group (see below for the measurement) with a
corresponding liability due to the customer recorded (under
“liabilities due to customers” measured at fair value through
profit or loss).

Since the Group buy or sell digital assets for others or on
their own account with the purpose of selling in the near
future and generating a profit from fluctuations in price, the
Group applies the guidance in HKAS 2 and measures the
digital asset inventories at fair value less costs to sell. The
Group considers there are no significant “costs to sell” digital
assets and hence measurement of digital assets is based on
their fair values with changes in fair values recognised in profit
or loss in the period of the changes.

See Note 3.3 for estimation of fair value in respect of the
digital asset inventories and digital asset liabilities due to
customers.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.11 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed and loans granted to customers in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified
as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current

assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade and
other receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts (if

any).
2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of

tax, from the proceeds.

2.14 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not,

they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGHHRHNE @)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.15 Share-based payments 215 URRMNAERZ IR

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the share option scheme.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under the share option
scheme is recognised as an employee benefits expense with
a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

° including any market performance conditions (eg the
entity’s share price);

° excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (eg profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity
over a specified time period), and

° including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (eg
the requirement for employees to save or hold shares
for a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period,
the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting and
service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with corresponding
adjustment to equity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.15 Share-based payments (continued)

When the options are exercised, the Group transfers the
appropriate number of shares to employee. The proceeds
received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited directly to equity.

2.16 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

2.17 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2 FEGHEBREE (@)

2.18 BPHEARIRIEFR1FHR

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of each reporting period in the countries where the Group
operates and generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluate positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to
the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences, arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred taxation liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.19 Employee benefits

@M

(i)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of each
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution plan
and pays contributions to a privately administered
pension insurance plan on a mandatory, contractual
or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid.
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably
committed to a termination when the entity has a
detailed formal plan to terminate the employment of
current employees without possibility of withdrawal.
In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured
based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of each reporting period are
discounted to present value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

(iv) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of such obligation
can be made.

2.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amounts have been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligations. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.21 Contingent liabilities and contingent

assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resource will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a
change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow
is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
events not wholly within the control of the Group.

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements when an inflow
of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually
certain, an asset is recognised.

2.22 Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)
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2.22 U AFESD (@)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using either (a) the expected value method or (b)
the most likely amount, depending on which method better
predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group will
be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)
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Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its construction
contracts. The Group first assesses whether these costs
qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of other relevant
standards, failing which it recognises an asset for these costs
only if they meet all of the following criteria:

° the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically
identify;

° the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

° the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the assets relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.

2.23 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which
it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.24 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and the Company’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are declared by the directors
in case of interim dividends or approved by the Company’s
shareholders in case of final dividends.

2.25 Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured
at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL”). Dividends are
recognised as revenue in profit or loss when the right to
receive payment is established.

2.26 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in
the net gain/(loss) on change in fair value of these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as part of other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset
except for financial assets that subsequently become credit
impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FTEGHBEME (@&

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.27 Interest income from inventories due 2271 BIWHFHAEFEENFISIRA
from counterparties
Interest income derived from inventories due from RKEBEWHFAFENNERARZ
counterparties is denominated in units of the relevant digital HEFHFANWERSTEES N
asset on lending to the counterparties and is recognised FHE NERERAERZEAME
based on its fair value over the term of the arrangement using BEEAFERS  LRASER
effective interest rate. It is recorded as “interest income from REMEER @R ARE EZER
lending business” in the consolidated statement of profit or FrER B UAL ©

loss and other comprehensive income.

2.28 Related parties 228 BAER
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: BRAALTHETIERTHEESER
EEBRE:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that @ ZABZBATRENALTR
person’s family and that person: BERHE M&ZBAL:
()  has control or joint control of the Group; () HAEEHEBESEY
FE)ZEHIE
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or iy HAEBEBEEAFE
75
(i) is a member of the key management personnel iy AEAEERIEERFA
of the Group or of a parent of the Group. BINFEEEERS -
or =)

R R ERARAT
et lien V7



178

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_—Z

——F=ZR=t+—HLEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.28 Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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3 RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities exposed it to a variety of financial risks:

market risk (foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and price

risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses

on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to

minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

Market risk

()

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (‘PRC”) and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising mainly from transactions in
Renminbi (‘RMB”). Foreign exchange risk arises from
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities and net investments in operations in the PRC.
The appreciation or devaluation of the RMB against the
HK$ may also have an impact on the operating results
of the Group.

In addition, the Group’s foreign exchange position is
monitored on an ongoing basis in order to minimise
the impact from the fluctuation of foreign currency
rate. The Group currently does not maintain a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, management
monitors the foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.
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3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

(i)

Interest rate risk

Other than bank balances with variable interest rate,
the Group has no other significant interest-bearing
assets with variable interest rate. Management does
not anticipate significant impact to interest-bearing
assets resulted from the changes in interest rates,
because the interest rates of bank balances are not
expected to change significantly.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising from certain
investments held by the Group which are classified
in the consolidated statement of financial position as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

For listed equity securities, if the quoted price of the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
had appreciated/depreciated by 10% with all other
variables held constant, the Group'’s loss after income
tax for the year would have been approximately
HK$1,032,000 (2020: HK$459,000) lower/higher as
a result of gains/losses on change in fair value of the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

For unlisted investment fund, assuming that the unit
price of the fund increased/decreased by 10% and
all other variables held constant at the end of the
report period, the Group’s loss after income tax would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$107,000
(2020: HK$34,000).
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3 RAKEIER (8)
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3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1

Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from trade and other receivables,
contract assets, amount due from a related party, pledged
bank deposit and bank balances. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’
failure to perform their obligations as at the reporting dates
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets and
contract assets is the carrying amount of those assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In respect of cash at banks, the credit risk is considered to
be low as the counterparties are reputable banks. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of cash at banks are assessed to be
close to zero and no provision was made.

In respect of trade and other receivables and contract
assets, individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers and counterparties. These evaluations focus on
the counterparty’s financial position, past history of making
payments and take into account information specific to
the counterparty as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the counterparty operates. Monitoring
procedures have been implemented to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
trade and other receivable and contract assets balance at the
end of each reporting period to ensure adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

As at 31 March 2021, there were four (2020: two) customers
which individually contributed over 10% of the Group’s
trade receivables, loan receivables and contract assets. The
aggregate amounts of trade receivables, loan receivables
and contract assets from these customers amounted to
57% (2020: 34%) of the Group's total trade receivables, loan
receivables and contract assets as at 31 March 2021.
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3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

—GEZA=+—ALLEE

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises

the following categories:

RIZERE (8)
3.1 MEERER @

EERE (8

rEBRRRKEER

BUR 48R

Trade receivables/

BT RIER B

Other

Category  Description contract assets financial assets
BaRKRR

Ll i ANEE HinEREE

Performing  The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any past-due Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL
amounts not credit-impaired

B4+ REHFANENERE B EERRRE REBERBHEE 128ABHEEER
BE-BEERE

Doubtful There has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -

not credit-impaired not credit-impaired

2 B EDEEERRA AR LA BEBHEREE BEBHEREE

BE-REEREA BE-BEERE

In default There is evidence indicating the asset is credit impaired Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -

credit-impaired credit impaired

24 BERBETEEREEHE BEBHREHREES BEBHAREER

BE-EERE BE-EERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and Amount is written off Amount is written off

the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
s BEBETEHEABAREVRAAEB T EEEREA YL MEEEE T
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A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 =" —F=H=+—HILFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 JRE[S&EIE (48)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HERAKER (&)
Credit risk (continued) EERR (@)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRHEFIEEETHRBEERET
Group’s financial assets and contract assets which are Mz AEBTMEERGNEEZ
subject to ECL assessment: EEREFE

Gross carrying

31 March 2021 Notes Internal credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
128 B s 2B Hp
—E-—fH=A=+—H Mzt RERME TR TEHRE B A58 IREE4EER
HK$’000
F#ET
Trade receivables 18 Performing Lifetime ECL 48,811
B3 EUERT B4 B2BIRTRIREERE
In default Credit-impaired 12,034
EXN EERE
Contract assets 19 Performing Lifetime ECL 48,360
BHEE B4 REBERTRAAE E 1R
In default Credit-impaired 60,926
EH =SERE
Loan receivables 18 Performing 12m ECL 20,422
FEUE R [B#IR 128 B FERRE B
In default Credit-impaired 7,775
EXN EEHRE
Other receivables 18 Performing 12m ECL 13,899
HAFEURBRR [B#yh 128 B EHEEEE
Amount due from a related party 30 Performing 12m ECL 1,980
FEUST — 2 RA 3 75 =R 1B [B#IR 128 B fERREE &R

Trust bank balance held on

behalf of customers 23 Performing 12m ECL 49,128
RERFFFE ZE5HIRITERR 49 128 FEHEE R
Bank balances 23 Performing 12m ECL 236,552
RITASER B4+ 1218 A A E Bk 1E

R E IR A R A T
TeoCiky 18
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 JRE[&&EIE (48)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MERAKEZR @)
Credit risk (continued) EERR (&

Gross carrying

31 March 2020 Notes Internal credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
1218 B st B @B HA
—ECEF=A=+—H Mz RERE BTk TRHEEREE IREEAETR
HK$’000
FHT
Trade receivables 18 Performing Lifetime ECL 61,478
B2 EUBRT B4 B2BIATAIEERE
In default Credit-impaired 3,619
EX EERE
Contract assets 19 Performing Lifetime ECL 73,552
BHEE B4 B2BETRAEE IR
In default Credit-impaired 36,231
BN EERE
Loan receivables 18 Performing 12m ECL 42,066
FEUE R fE49 12{@ B FEAE E 18
Other receivables 18 Performing 12m ECL 14,516
HAhEUERR B4 128 B RS E /18
Amount due from a related party 30 Performing 12m ECL 2,980
FEUL— 4 B 75 R 18 B4 12{8 B FEERE E 1R
Pledged bank deposit 23 Performing 12m ECL 6,753
BIRFIRITER B4y 12[B A FEHE G
Bank balances 23 Performing 12m ECL 239,157
IRIT4EER fE49 12{@ B FEAE E 18
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 =" —F=H=+—HILFE
3 RESER (48)
3.1 HEAKERZE (B)

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables and contract assets. To measure the ECL,
trade receivables and contract assets have been assessed
individually with significant balances and the remaining
balances are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics. The contract assets relate to unbilled work in
progress and have substantially the same risk characteristics
as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The
Group has therefore estimated the expected loss rates for the
trade receivables and the contract assets on the same basis.

The Group has performed historical analysis and identified
the key economic variables impacting credit risk and ECL.
It considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding
looking information. The Group also makes periodic
assessments on the recoverability of the receivables based
on the background and reputation of the customers,
historical settlement records and past experience.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 JRE[&&EIE (48)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HERAKEZR (&)
Credit risk (continued) 8RR (@)
The loss allowance for trade receivables, contract assets and BREVERET aNEEKRERE
loan receivables were determined as follows. R EBERBEEEN T
Weighted
average
expected Gross Expected
credit loss carrying credit Net carrying
rate amount loss amount
TS
REEE BHEE
BiEx RERmE(E B REFE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET T#ER TER
At 31 March 2021 RZE2-—-F#=zA=+—H
Trade receivables B 7 FE R TR
Provision on individual basis BERIEERE 10.69% 60,845 (6,502) 54,343
Contract assets BNEE
Provision on individual basis BEREERE 38.67% 109,286 (42,257) 67,029
Loan receivables ERER
Provision on individual basis BERIEERE 30.64% 28,197 (8,639) 19,558
Weighted
average
expected Gross Expected
credit loss carrying credit Net carrying
rate amount loss amount
mEFEH
BHEE BHEE
BEX BEREE BB REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TET
At 31 March 2020 RZEZTE=A=1+—H
Trade receivables B 2 IR
Provision on individual basis BENEERE 5.96% 65,097 (3,878) 61,219
Contract assets BNEE
Provision on individual basis BEREERE 4.88% 109,783 (5,354) 104,429
Loan receivables ERER
Provision on individual basis BEREERE 3.01% 42,066 (1,267) 40,799
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A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 JRE[S&EIE (48)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HERAKER (&)
Credit risk (continued) EERR (@)
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables, contract NW_E_—FrR_ZE_EF=A
assets and loan receivables as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 —+—HB BZEVKERF - aNEE
reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows: K ER BBV EAZR B5 18 55 5 B HA A7)

BIEREAHNEEROT

Trade Contract Loan Trade Contract

receivables assets  receivables  receivables assets

Loan Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime Lifetime

receivables  (not credit-  (not credit- (credit-  ECL (credit-  ECL (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) impaired) impaired) impaired) Total

BREWEY GHEERE EhER BREBER GHEERE

EWES BEERES BYES BEENED EZEENERS BHEG

12{8A %M fEEBR fEEGH EL fEEBR L
BEGR (BEEAE EEEAE) (GRAR) (GEAR  (EEEE s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TAR Thn TER TER THr TER

As at 1 April 2019 RZE- nEIFJ A 1,179 901 1,799 - 1,108 219 5,206
Changes due to financial RZE—
instruments recognised as at &2
1 April 2019: .
- Transfer to credit-mpaired -BEEEH - (12) (354) - 12 354 -
- Reversal as a result of the ~HE-MH MTE
disposal of a subsidiary EY 7 %0 - - 82) - - = 82)
~ Impairment reversed ~BEERE 877) (884) (776) - = S (2,537)
- Impairment recognised -BRDHE 29 = = = 2,497 4,032 6,558
New financial assets or HELHEEN
contract assets originated THEENANEE
or purchased 936 256 162 - - - 1,354
Exchange adjustments ERHE = - - - - - -
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZBZEE
=ZB=1+-H 1,267 261 749 - 3,617 4,605 10,499
As at 1 April 2020 RZZEZZEMB—H 1,267 261 749 - 3,617 4,605 10,499

Changes due to financial RZEZZ£MA-A
instruments recognised as ~ HERESRTA

at 1 April 2020: EEMES:

- Transfer to credit-impaired —HEEERHE (359) (46) (499) 359 46 499 -
- Impairment reversed -EREHE (44) (190) (232) - - (414) (880)
- Impairment recognised -BRIAE - 252 4 7416 2,449 37,426 47,547

New financial assets or HELREEN
contract assets originated ~ £HEEHANEE

or purchased - 106 101 - - 18 225
Exchange adjustments ERBE - 7 - - - - 7
As at 31 March 2021 RZE_-%

=RA=+-H 864 390 123 1,175 6,112 42,134 57,398
* Less than HK$1,000 * {531,000 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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o =]

AT ERRIISE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

—GEZA=+—ALLEE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables, contract assets and loan receivables
are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables, contract assets and
loan receivables are presented as net impairment losses
within operating loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the same line item.

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group assessed the
12-month ECL of the other receivables and amount due from
a related party and considered that the ECL allowance for
these receivables is immaterial.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with debt
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
banks and other financial institutions to meet their liquidity
requirements in the short and long term. Management
believes there is no significant liquidity risk as the Group has
sufficient committed facilities to fund their operations.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of each reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
current rates at the end of each reporting period) an the
earliest date the Group may be required to pay:

A MBRRMIEE
—GEZA=+—ALLEE

3 HEEEIR (B)

3.1

MBRRER (8
REES AR

FEBNERSEREERKRE
HRBEERT R RABBZEY
WER WHEARNERERTZH
R R URERTREMES R
BRERENAEES UWENMHE
ERkRAABESRT R -EEE
BE BRAERERENE KIE
MEAHEERNES BWHEE
KRBT R

TRALAEENTMEER SR
HHRNBR TIOTBRE R hiR
SIMRITRIRERE (BEERTA
MER (ERTE) REREHERY
BIEARI RS BRI B AR RAER
AN RFERBFE

On

demand or Between Between

within one and two and
one year two years five years Total

BEX —F [ik:3
H—FR EME ERf fact
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER THET THET T#ET

At 31 March 2021 RZEZ-#=A=+—H

Trade and other payables B5 REMERNIRR 99,060 - - 99,060
Liabilities due to customers ENERERE 108,151 - - 108,151
Amount due to a former subsidiary FER—FIRIIBABZIE 10,641 - - 10,641
Amount due to a related party EN—2BERFE 10,244 - - 10,244
Loan from a related party —HBAERER 153,549 - - 153,549
Lease liabilities HEEE 2,223 123 - 2,346
383,868 123 - 383,991

BT R AR AR
B —FFR
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RS MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B Z "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 JRE[&&EIE (48)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HERAKEZR (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) RENE R (B)
On
demand or Between Between
within one and two and
one year two years five years Total
BEX —F [ik:3
—FR EMmE ZFRE a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TERT TERT
At 31 March 2020 R_B_BF=A=+—H
Trade and other payables B REMERRR 90,806 - - 90,806
Amount due to a former subsidiary & —FERII B AR A 10,641 - - 10,641
Amount due to a related party E—2EERRE 14,776 = = 14,776
Loan from a related party —LEEREM 146,810 - - 146,810
Lease liabilities HEGR 25,176 12,550 123 37,849
288,209 12,650 123 300,882
3.2 Capital management 3.2 BEXER

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders, to
support the Group’s stability and growth; to earn a margin
commensurate with the level of business and market risks
in the Group’s operations and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, obtain new
borrowings or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as the total interest-bearing liabilities
as at each year end divided by the total equity as at each
year end.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.2

3.3

Capital management (continued)

RAMBRRIEE
Po—G=A=+—HLEE

3 RAKEIER (8)
3.2 EABE (@)

The gearing ratios of the Group are as follows: REBNEESBELENT :

2021 2020
25 -

HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FAET
Total borrowings BEE 150,817 177,728
Total equity TEER 4B RE 219,573 301,143
Gearing ratio BESELX 69% 59%

Fair value estimation

Financial assets and liabilities

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments
carried at fair value as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 by level
of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a
fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

3.3 AFEGE
SRHEEREE

TRESEAFTEZEERMPTA
BMABBHNESR 2R 22—
FR-IZBZEF=ZA=+—HXE
ERATEIERNEMI A AR
MARBTEATESHRRNSEAN
T=E%EHR

s ARBEREEEETESN
BB CRIEHAE) B -

s BRE-ZWRAEENKREN
EENGENERE WER) X
iz BUMERITEY) ATBEM
WA (B4 -

s WIHRKBEIEEMNTSHE
EENBEENRBNEABE
ENFEIRERBABR) (5=
R o

Dﬂﬁ;ﬁé?’“ﬁzﬁﬁﬁ/&ﬁ
“EFFH
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IFEMEBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

3 EEEIE (8)
3.3 ATEEE @)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued) EHMEEREE @)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
& ot B izt

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

AT AT TERT TERT

As at 31 March 2021 RZEZ—-f=B=+—H

Assets BE

Financial assets at fair value through /AT EsT ABHR

profit or loss EHEE

- Listed equity securities - EHRAES 10,324 - - 10,324

- Life insurance policy - ASRE - - 2,658 2,658

- Wealth management products -BYER - 10,850 - 10,850

- Unlisted warrants —JE LR AR R - - 3,658 3,658

— Unlisted investment fund —-FLHRERS - - 1,070 1,070
10,324 10,850 7,386 28,560

Liabilities &
Liabilities due to customers — EREE&EE—

Digital asset liabilities YTEEBRE 59,023 - - 59,023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ EER B st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A FET TER FEx
As at 31 March 2020 RZE_EF=RA=+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value through /A TF{ET ABZR

profit or loss EREE

- Listed equity securities — EmkAES 4,585 = = 4,585

- Life insurance policy - A\SRE - - 2,688 2,688

- Wealth management products —BHEM - 17,293 - 17,293

- Unlisted warrants —JF EER R - = 2,741 2,74

- Unlisted investment fund —FLTREESR - - 338 338

4,585 17,293 5,767 27,645
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A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

3 EEREIR (8)
3.3 ATFEEE (@)

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

The fair value of the life insurance policy is determined based
on the cash value of the life insurance policy which is not an
observable input. Management estimates the fair value based
on the latest information of the life insurance policy provided
by insurance company.

The fair value of the wealth management products are
determined based on the quoted prices from the relevant
banks.

The fair value of the unlisted warrants are determined based
on the Black-Scholes model. The significant unobservable
inputs mainly include risk free rate of 0.08% (2020: 0.18%)
(reference to US Treasury curve) and expected volatility of
range from 52.42% (2020: 45.63%) (reference to comparable
listed companies). The fair value increases with the increase
in the risk free rate or expected volatility.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the end of reporting
period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is
the current bid price. These instruments are included in level
1. Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily equity
investments listed in Hong Kong and US Stock market
classified as trading securities.

The fair value of the unlisted investment fund is determined
based on the net asset value of the investment fund.

EMEERER (@)

ASEREZATFEBENRAZFRE
REeEE (LIETHRRE AR B
E-BEBLERREATMEMH
ZANESREZRMERMETAFE.

BMEmZATEDERERMIEST
ZREEE-

JEEMAREEZ AFELERNA
NE-SFBHEAEE -ERARH
B ASBETZOEERBRAZE
0.08% (ZZ=Z4H :0.18%) (&2
ZXEEGEWREME RTBHIRIE
N F52.42% (ZEZEHF © 45.63%)
(E2Z0ELREHAR) - AF
& B 4 JEL B F1) 25 o FB A R 1 4 N
e

RERTSZEEZEMIAZAF
BENERRERARZTHRES
B HZREVEZNEHMER
%ﬁ*mﬁméﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁg\i
ERBREERBE MREERR
MERKREMRZATRAETZS
BR5 ZhiBAREAERE AEH
REZERMEEMEARAZTHRE
RRTEAB-FLAFAE—
%°%A%—ﬁmlﬁiﬁﬁ%#
BRAREBIRETS EHOER

BHENRARE -

FEFREESZATFENRER
BEREVEEFEEBET

BT R AR AR
B —FFR
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RS MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

The digital asset liabilities due to customers are measured
at level 1 fair value. The determination of fair value hierarchy
level for valuation of the liabilities due to customers would
depend on whether the underlying digital asset is traded in an
active market. In determining fair values, the relevant available
markets are identified by the Group, and the Group considers
accessibility to and activity within those markets in order to
identify the principal digital asset markets dealt with by the
Group. Reference is made to the quoted prices from the
principal digital asset markets in determining the fair values of
the corresponding digital assets.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for

3 EEEIE (8)
3.3 ATEEE @)

EMEERER (@)

BUERNBFEEERRE B
MATEFE - BEERNERER
BENATFEERRFTEBEF
EERSRERTERRSME
EEE RN TER NEEKHFE
FARATES BAEREEEZRTE
TSR A R MR R AR E o DU Al
FERETRZNEIEHFTEES
B RNEEEBRYEFEENATE
FR2EIEHFEEDHNRE-

TREFNFRNE=HIBEEZ EH !

the year:

2021 2020

3 “TIEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT FET

Opening balance FHEERR 5,767 4,321
Purchases during the year FANEE 932 2,639
Net fair value change FRFEEH 687 (1,193)
Closing balance FREERR 7,386 5,767

There were no transfers between levels during the year.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_Z

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Non-financial assets and liabilities

This note explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the non-financial assets and
liabilities that are recognised and measured at fair value in the
consolidated financial statements. To provide an indication
about the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair
value, the Group has classified its non-financial assets and
liabilities into the three levels prescribed under the accounting
standards. An explanation of each level is provided in Note
3.3 above.

RAMBRRIEE
——5=A=+—HLEE

3 HEEEIR (B)

3.3 ATEME (@)

FEMEEREAR

KWEEBREER S HFRERA
AT EEDRGENIFERE
ER S AR T B ERYF B K h
stemRHMEBMEE LA TERER
E@ﬁ@k%l?ﬁ?%é’l&ﬁ’ﬂ?éﬁ’ﬂ&%@
RHIFEMEERERDERT
ZERIBETHRAN=EERK- :.ﬁ,.\}s"z
BYRD R XX FI5E3.3

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
] -t B=h st
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET TR TR
As at 31 March 2021 RIEZ—-F=A=+—H
Assets BE
Inventories =78 68,879 - - 68,879
Inventories due from FEUHFHEFEE
counterparties 12,766 - - 12,766
81,645 - - 81,645

The digital asset inventories are measured at level 1 fair value.
The determination of fair value hierarchy level for valuation
of the digital asset inventories would depend on whether
the underlying digital assets is traded in an active market.
In determining fair values, the relevant available markets are
identified by the Group, and the Group considers accessibility
to and activity within those markets in order to identify the
principal digital asset markets dealt with by the Group.
Reference is made to the quoted prices from the principal
digital asset markets in determining the fair values of the
corresponding digital assets.

There were no transfers between levels during the year.

HFEEFERE—RAFAES
EHFEEFEMEZLATERE
BNEEHEBARBRABTEER
TKéﬁﬁ%ﬁ 2B o EBENF
B NEERH BRI A TS
BAREEEEEZEMHNA kM
FERBREE LHEAERETR
SHNETEHTFEEMS NETEHE
RUFEENLAFEEREREXE
BFrEEMBNRE-

REFERN BRzBLEER-

Eﬁﬁé?’“ﬁzﬁﬁﬁ’z}j
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.4 Risk management of the digital assets

Price risk of digital assets inventories

To facilitate the loans made in terms of digital assets, the
Group held approximately HK$9,856,000 digital assets as
inventories as of 31 March 2021. In addition, the Group also
had inventories due from counterparties of approximately
HK$12,766,000. The volatility and unpredictability of the
price of digital assets relative to fiat currencies could cause
significant impact to the Group’s performance.

To manage these risks, most of the Group’s own digital
assets are stablecoins and the relevant stablecoins are asset-
backed and have a market price of approximately United
States dollars (“US$”) 1 per unit with minimal fluctuation. As
such, price risk is considered to be insignificant.

Risks related to safekeeping of digital assets

The Group maintains digital assets in the accounts
maintained with third parties’ digital assets trading platforms
(connected to the Internet) (the “Platform” or “Platforms”).
These accounts are more susceptible to cyber-attacks or
potential theft as it is connected to the public internet.

To mitigate such risks, the Group has implemented a series of
internal controls, including but limited to the implementation
of two-factor authentication, segregation of duties, diversify
the storage of its digital assets.

Risks related to Anti-Money Laundering

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has
commenced to provide trust and custody services to its
clients. Any person who carries on a trust business in Hong
Kong has to comply with the relevant requirements of the
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
guideline issued by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong.

To mitigate such risks, the Group has implemented policies
and procedures for Anti-Money-Laundering and Know-
Your-Client that are initiated during the client onboarding
process and are applied by way of continuous monitoring
and reporting. In enhancing these policies and procedures,
we have also considered industry best-practice and the
recommendations of the Financial Action Task Force.
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A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 =" —F=H=+—HILFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.4 Risk management of the digital assets
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group lend its digital assets to counterparties in form
of stablecoins being the loan principal through the Platform.
The counterparties are required to deliver Bitcoin, another
type of digital assets, to the Platform as collateral to maintain
the loan-to-value (the “LTV”) ratio at a level of ranging from
55% to 65% at inception. Additional collaterals are required
to deposited to the Platform at any time if the LTV ratio
is increased to 80%. The collateral will be liquidated (i.e.
the collateral will be traded on the Platform and converted
into certain amount of relevant digital assets) when the
LTV ratio is increased to 90%. Considering the collateral
arrangements, the credit risk of the Group’s inventories due
from counterparties is considered to be low.

Since the Group mainly maintains its digital assets in
accounts with the Platforms, the Group may be exposed
to significant losses if the Platforms experience outages
or become unavailable. To mitigate such risks, the Group
only establish accounts with the Platforms that have good
reputation.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the consolidated
financial statements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

(@) Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets

The loss allowances for financial assets and contract asset
are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Progress towards completion of

construction works

The Group recognises its contract over time by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation of the end of the reporting period, measured based
on the surveys of work performed to date of the individual
contract of construction works relative to total contract
value. Because of the nature of the activity undertaken
in construction contracts, the date at which the contract
activity is entered into and the date when the activity is
completed usually fall into different accounting period.
The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs and variation orders prepared for
each construction contract as the contract progresses.
Management regularly reviews the progress of the contracts
and the corresponding costs of the contract revenue.

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs, variation orders and contract claims
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
the management on the basis of quotations from time to
time provided by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors
involved and the experience of the management. In order
to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date, management
conducts periodic reviews of the budgets of contracts by
comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Such significant estimate may have impact on the
profit recognised in each period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 =" —F=H=+—HILFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4 S AXEi{hetRIIET (B)
AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Accounting of digital assets () BFBEEXRSZRERNES

transactions and balances

HKFRSs do not specifically address accounting for digital
assets. Accordingly, for the preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, management needs to
apply judgement in determining appropriate accounting
policies based on the facts and circumstances of the Group’s
digital assets.

Given the business model of the Group, digital assets are
accounted for as inventories and are measured at fair value
less costs to sell on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Furthermore, in determining fair values, management needs
to apply judgement to identify the relevant available markets,
and to consider accessibility to and activity within those
markets in order to identify the principal digital asset markets
for the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

AT ERRIISE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS 5
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT

—GEZA=+—ALLEE

5t

Wm LU A - 25 B2
B EPER

INFORMATION
Revenue and other income, gains and losses recognised during the F P U Re ELAT U ~ Wi iR R S 38 RE SR U0
year are as follows: T
2021 2020
—B-—F “BIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Revenue &
Construction wastes handling services BRI RIERT 234,297 224,687
Foundation, building construction HMENEFERTIER
works and ancillary services EEERTS 168,444 322,828
Technology services R ARFE 28,012 22,963
Trust and custody services EEELEER 1,397 =
Services income from operation of USDK 48 USDKZ RFS U A (B57())
(Note () 159 1,565
Revenue from contracts with REERAHNIRE
customers 432,309 572,043
Rental income from lease of machinery EEMSSEENHAES WA 1,469 2,556
Interest income from lending business BEEZEFTEF EUA 4,372 5,765
Fair value change on investments in HHRE QT EES
securities
— Realised change —BEIREH 4,233 162
— Unrealised change —REIREH) 10,581 (10,206)
Total revenue FEAl g 452,964 570,320
Other income, gains and losses HMUgA ~ = R 518
Interest income FEUWA 636 3,009
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEM X  BERKZHEZ W=
equipment 1,362 797
Written off of property, plant and equipment i 54 2 « = & 35 4 - (44)
Gain on early termination of lease and RERIEEEMENBE KRS
modification of lease 2,277 -
Government grants (Note (i) B HERL (B a20) 8,512 449
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 35) & —RHt B AT EE (Hf:235) - @)
Net gains/(losses) on change in fair value of I AT EFF AR R 2 SMEE
financial assets at fair value through profit A EEEFWE~ (518) F5E
or loss 954 (429)
Service income ARFEUTA 2,047 1,117
Others Hih 374 86
16,162 4,978
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 =" —F=H=+—HILFE

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i

OKLink Fintech Limited (“OKLink”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, creates and operates an online platform (“OKLink Platform”) for
the conduct of activities involving the USDK cryptocurrency, an Ethereum-
based virtual asset. Each USDK created represents a digital record of the
USDK holder’s beneficial interest in one US dollar held on trust by Prime
Trust, LLC (“Prime Trust”) for the benefit of the USDK holder. The OKLink
Platform can be used by the USDK users to establish USDK Accounts
for the purposes of (i) requesting that USDK be issued in exchange
for an equivalent amount of U.S. Dollars provided to Prime Trust as
trustee (“minting”), (i) requesting that Prime Trust provides U.S. Dollars in
exchange for an equivalent amount of USDK, which begins by sending the
USDK to a personal address designated for burning (“burning”), and (i)

sending and receiving USDK to and/or from USDK Accounts.

In accordance with the terms set out in the contracts with USDK Users,
OKLink, as technology service provider, does not have control of, or liability
for, any products or services that are purchased from third parties by the
USDK Users in using the USDK Services. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, OKLink is not liable to the USDK Users or any third
parties for any losses or issues that may arise from the use of the OKLink
Platform, hence it is considered that the actual or contingent liabilities of
the Group that have arisen from the operation of the OKLink Platform are

immaterial.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, government grants mainly included
subsidies obtained from “Employment Support Scheme” under the “Anti-
epidemic Fund” launched by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Government. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to

these grants.

5 RS EAMA s R
EHER S EBEE (@)

Hiaz -

(i

KABl 22 &M B ABOKLink Fintech
Limited (TOKLink 1) IR &EF EF &
(TOKLinkF&1) » MUETTIH RUSDKINZ &
s (—EMUEthereumBERZ EREE)
23558 o FTAl % 2 §IBUSDKISUSDKE &
AR MUUSDKIFA A% & AR Prime Trust,
LLC (TPrime Trust)) UEsEARFTEZ—F
TR ERER 2 BF LR OKLInk F & a1
USDKA £ A EsR SLUSDKER B LU()E K F
2517 Z USDKIA R 1R {2 FPrime Trust (1E%
TN 2ETHEESE (M55 > (1EXK
Prime Trustig 3£ e AZZHAUSDK 2 #E% % 28
(B BRIETEHHES (M) 2 @AM
HE 8 HUSDKZ A =BRgA) » K@K, 3B
USDKER 5 & 22311 LiKBRUSDK ©

TRIEEAUSDKA B &AIFT SR OKLink (fE
H¥ T AR S FE ) 3 FE R BIUSDK A 5 FA (6
FAUSDKAR B BB =B E 2 ER TR
NP EE T - AATEBRA OKLInkEA
LA FOKLINKE & MBI sEE £ 2 I8 5%
N BHUSDKA R S EME = A EEM
B B HR % REEREEOKLNKT
BEEZERAIREELREKRC
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B Z "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

5

W35~ ELAIEA ~ U3 R
BER DR (5

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts AFEREHOWE
with customers
2021 2020
& —EBCEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHExT
Timing of revenue recognition Ut 2 e 22 PR
Construction wastes handling services BEEYRIER 234,297 224,687
Foundation, building construction HMEBFERETER
works and ancillary services FEERRTS 168,444 322,828
Technology services R AR 28,012 22,963
Trust and custody services BT E R 1,397 =
Services income from operation of USDK ~ £&8&=USDKZ AR #5 U A 159 1,565
432,309 572,043
Timing of revenue recognition Uy 2 T 57 Fr
Over time beliS s P 432,309 572,043
Performance obligations for contracts with BERAERSANENEE

customers

Foundation, building construction works and ancillary
services and construction wastes handling services

Such services are recognised as performance obligations satisfied
over time as the Group creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced or the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group as the Group performs, respectively.
Revenue for these works is therefore recognised over time. The
Group measures progress using an output method. Specifically,
progress is based on surveys of the relevant services completed
by the Group to the end of the current reporting period with
reference to certificates issued by customers or payment
applications confirmed by internal surveyor. The directors of the
Company consider that this method faithfully depicts the Group’s
performance towards complete satisfaction of these performance
obligations in these contracts under HKFRS 15.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (continued)

Technology services

Revenue from technology services is recognised over time because
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs. It
is recognised over time using output method, i.e. to recognise
revenue on the basis of direct measurement of the value of goods
or services promised under the contract that best depict the
Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or services.
The contracts on provision of technology services include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the service period
once certain specified milestones are reached.

Trust and custody services

The trust and custody services provided by the Group typically
include the safekeeping, settlement and other customised services
of its clients’ assets. The Group will enter into custody agreements
with the customers and provide the trust and custody services for
their assets. The types of assets custodied under this business
include digital assets and fiat currencies. In general, the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits as the Group
performs. As such, revenue from trust and custody services is
recognised over time.

5
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

AT ERRIISE
—E=A=+—BILEE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (continued)

Services income from operation of USDK

OKLink does not charge the USDK Users any fees or costs for
minting, transferring or burning any USDK but instead is entitled
to receive monthly compensations based on the total USD assets
held in trust in monthly volume tiers depending on the daily closing
balance ledger of trust assets. USDK Users obtain the benefits
of the services carried out by OKLink in minting, transferring and
burning the USDK by holding the USDK in their USDK Accounts
until the USDK is transferred or redeemed. Hence revenue is
recognised over time as the USDK Users simultaneously receive
and consume these benefits provided by OKLink’s performance as
OKLink performs over time.

In respect of providing services relating to sending and receiving
USDK to and/or from USDK Accounts, OKLink does not charge
transaction fees associated with such transfers. The services
carried out by OKLink in transferring USDK to other USDK
Accounts or other Users are not distinct within the context of the
contracts with the USDK Users from the other promised services in
the contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations from
contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2021
and 2020 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as

RAMBRRIEE
Po—G=A=+—HLEE

i3S B A ~ s T
EEB S EE (&

PEREEFENZHRTRORME
MR 5E

N CE TR CETEF-F=+—H
ﬁEEE BRTEANEENRZE REMK
DAREM) KRFERRRW GBI T

follows:

Foundation, building

construction works

and ancillary services
MEMEFRETIREREERS
2021 2020
=2 —F —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Within one year — &R 166,395 81,006

In addition, construction wastes handling services contracts are not
included in the above analysis as the possible transaction prices
and the ultimate consideration for these contracts will depend on
the occurrence or non-occurrence of future customer usage. In
light of these basis of preparation, the above does not reflect the
expectation of the Group’s performance. The analysis is solely for
compliance with HKFRS 15 disclosure requirement in respect of
transaction price allocated the remaining performance obligations.

Technology service are for periods of one year or less. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

IESh s BEEYRERF SO EEEL
L’J}ffﬁzﬁq ERLEEENZIERZE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

—GEZA=+—ALLEE

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Operating segment information

Management has determined the operating segments based on

the reports reviewed by the directors, the chief operating decision-

maker, that are used to make strategic decisions. The directors

consider the business from a product/service perspective. Principal

activities of the segments are as follows:

(@)

Construction wastes handling services: Provision of
management and operation of public fill reception facilities,
including public fill banks and temporary construction waste
sorting facilities, for construction and demolition materials;

Foundation, building construction works and ancillary
services: Provision of site formation works, excavation and
lateral support, piling construction, pile caps or footing
construction and reinforced concrete structure works,
building construction works and ancillary services mainly
included hoarding and demolition works and lease of
machinery;

Technology services: Provision of 1) developing the USDK
smart contract, managing the USDK smart contract to
effect minting and burning of USDK, and 2) technology
development and I.T. infrastructure service;

Investment in securities;
Lending business which includes the Group’s money lending
business carried out in Hong Kong and the lending of the

Group’s digital assets; and

Trust and custody services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_Z

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Operating segment information (continued)

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent with
that in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The directors assess the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of segment results. Unallocated income,
unallocated corporate expenses, finance costs, income tax credit/
expense are not included in segment results. In the current year,
the presentation of reportable segments of the Group are revised
as detailed below as the directors believe the current reportable
segments could provide better summary to them in reviewing the
Group’s operating performance and making decision in resource
allocation. Accordingly, the comparative figures of the reportable
segments have been re-presented for the purpose of presenting
segment information.

Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and non-current
assets as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position except unallocated bank balances and cash and other
unallocated assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-
current liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position except current income tax liabilities, deferred tax
liabilities, amount due to a former subsidiary, loan from a related
party, amount due to a related party, lease liabilities and other
unallocated liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B Z "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

Operating segment information (continued)

OSSES AEB %\I%OMNIIE%ITGAINS > %ﬁ&ﬁgﬂ% (43 =

REDBER (8

Foundation,
building
Construction  construction
wastes works and Trust and
handling ancillary ~ Technology  Investment Lending custody
services se%igs services  in securities business services Total
BFEE .
BEEY IER -~ ) ik .
EIEARE RERS R HERE HEER TERS it
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSOD  HKS000  HK$'000
TET TET TART TET TAT TAT TET
Year ended 31 March 2021
Revenue
External revenue 234,297 169,913 28,171 14,814 4372 1,397 452,964
Cost of sales i (228,861) (157,810) (18,973) (67) (622) (66) (406,399)
Impairment losses on intangible assets - - - - (180) - (180)
Impairment losses on financial assets
and contract assets 140 (38,658) (150) - (8,224) - (46,892)
Segment results NEEE 5,576 (26,555) 9,048 14,747 (4,654) 1,331 (507)
Unallocated income ?&%EW 16,162
Unallocated corporate expenses FNEREIHET (104,082)
Finance costs REMA ,933)
Loss before income tax B?Fﬁﬁﬁﬁ B (96,360)
Income tax credit =i 2,505
Loss for the year FRER (93,855)
Included in segment resuts are: AN BEENES |
Depreciation of property, plant WE BENRENE
and equipment . ) 6,953 4,055 966 - - - 11,974
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ EHEEENE - - 3,334 - - - 3,334
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH - - 2,935 - - - 2,935
6,953 4,055 7,235 - - - 18,243
At 31 March 2021 {_Z_—-F=A=+-H
Segment assets NBEE 85,217 105,923 78,033 31,872 71,947 108,151 481,143
Unallocated assets FOREE 123,998
Total assets BENE 605,141
Additions to non-current asset: 3E HEERE
Segment assets ABEE - 4,165 - - - - 4,165
Unallocated assets k&R 3,399
17,564
Segment liabilities ARERE 33,860 60,911 5,872 393 83 108,151 209,270
Unallocated liabilties *nEaE 2,667
Amount due to a former subsidiary ~ FEfF—F5
At B ABTIE 10,641
Loan from a related party RE—BRERER 148,500
Amount due to a related party [Ef—aRERTE 10,244
Lease liabities EE&R 2,317
Deferred tax liabilties EEfIEEE 1,929
Total liabilties BEEE 385,568
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AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_Z
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Bk

Operating segment information (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RAMBRRIEE
——5=A=+—HLEE

Ul 7ot Bz

PEH (&

REDERE R (8

Foundation,
building
Construction  construction
wastes works and
handling ancilary  Technology Investment Lending
services seﬂrﬂviﬁes services  in securities business Total
. BFEE
BEEY IER N ) . " )
RIERRT RERD BAMIARES EHRE eSS a5
HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000
FET FAET FTET FTER FTER FEr
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE_Z_ZF
ZB=t+—HIEE
Revenue g
External revenue ShEBER 224,687 325,384 24,528 (10,044) 5,765 570,320
Cost of sales HEMA (201,728) (309,436) (15,483) (157) (924) (527,728)
Impairment losses on financial assets  EREERSNEEZ
and contract assets REEE (597) (4,651) e) - (118) (5,375)
Segment results DEEE 22,362 11,297 9,036 (10,201) 4,723 37,217
Unallocated income %%Fﬁﬂuﬁl 4,978
Unallocated corporate expenses EPEAFIHEY (91,407
Finance costs MERAK (9,131)
Loss before income tax i (68,343)
Income tax expense stk (3,259)
Loss for the year FRER (61,602)
Included in segment results are: STANBIRENES |
Depreciation of property, ME -BERRETE
plant and equipment ) N 4,048 6,542 948 - 11,638
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE = = 4,241 = = 4,241
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH - - 1,663 - - 1,663
4,048 6,542 6,852 - - 17,442
At 31 March 2020 R_B_BE=A=+—
Segment assets PHEE 65,001 173,528 123,315 31,549 102,283 495,676
Unallocated assets KOEBE 107,539
Total assets BELE 603,215
Additions to non-current asset: FRBBEERE
Segment assets NEEE 16,632 15,603 18,740 9% = 51,070
Unallocated assets RNEEE 99
51,169
Segment liabilities NEas 24,621 53,076 10,062 723 - 88,482
Unallocated liabilties A=Y 3,034
Amount due to a former subsidiary %ﬁ BRI B ARRIE 10,641
Loan from a related party HMERER 141,750
Amount due to a related party @ﬁ LEERTIE 14,776
Lease liabilities HEEE 35,978
Current income tax liabilities HEFERaE 3,256
Deferred tax liabilties EERIESE 3,255
Total liabilities =N 302,072

BT R AR AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Operating segment information (continued)

Geographical information

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is

mx s ELAtUT A ~ U 5 B2

g h
SRR D EPER

REDERE R ()

WEE

44

=)

REEZIIRERWHERHIZEEUE

presented based on location of operation is as follows: S5UTF
2021 2020
B8 TETEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
PRC =8| 28,012 22,963
Hong Kong 58 424,952 547,357
452,964 570,320

Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding
deferred tax assets) is presented based on the geographical
location of the assets:

FEBEZIFRBEE (FEEELRNESR
) BRIV REEMBUERY

2021 2020
—E—F “ECIEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FHExT

PRC F 12,630 49,891
Hong Kong 58 29,497 43,710
42,127 93,601

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 =" —F=H=+—HILFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS 5 Uyzi+ HAtHUgA - Wz K
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT BERAHEN (&
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Operating segment information (continued) RESEE R (18)
Information about major customers BRFERRNER
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total revenue REMAERKREREBIBI0%NE I
of the Group are as follows: =AM
2021 2020
B8 TETEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Customer A2 ERA N/ATR3E F° 79,966
Customer B! ZFB 234,297 198,380
Customer C2 =HEC? N/AZ 3 2 94,295
Customer D? ZRAD? 47,715 70,164
1 Revenue from construction wastes handling services. ‘ R B R EY R IR U ©
2 Revenue from foundation, building construction works and ancillary 2 KEMEBE - BFEETREAEERFHUK
services. o
3 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total 2 PR e R AN EE B U R AR BB R B IE10% ©
revenue of the Group.
FINANCE COSTS 6 RIEMZS
2021 2020
B —EC-EE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAET FET
Interest on bank overdrafts RITEZHFE 2 1
Interest on lease liabilities HESGME 1,181 2,380
Interest on loan from a related party —SAEFERHNE 6,750 6,750
7,933 9,131

REZEERERAT 211
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMEBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

7 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

7 PFRPERSTRAIESIR

2021 2020
—EC—F —EZE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHExT
Loss before income tax has been arrived ~ FREFISIRAIESIEE IR GTA)
at after charging/(crediting): UTEEZBER
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEMB & 1,150 1,150
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments 8 T 7S » B3 EE & (W75£8)
(Note 8) 111,870 92,656
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BERRBINE Hat14)
equipment (Note 14) 16,680 15,121
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15){F B & EITE (WaE15) 21,548 22,610
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16) EF. & E#H (#15£16) 2,935 1,663
Leasing expenses (Note 15) HERZ Wat15) 4,125 7,594
Share-based payment expense (Note 8) LU AR Z A (Hf:#8) 1,385 10,090
Exchange gain, net FE U 5 > S RE (399) (214)

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES,
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’

&

SEMRA% 8ES
il &

EMOLUMENTS

2021 2020
—E—F TETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and allowances e RoRRL 109,483 90,227
Share-based payment expense MEHBABERZ IR 1,385 10,090

Retirement scheme contributions IRRETEHRR
— defined contribution plan — EERHRETE 2,387 2,429
113,255 102,746

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme in Hong
Kong which complies with the requirements under the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF”) Schemes Ordinance. All assets under the
scheme are held separately from the Group under independently
administered funds. Contributions to the MPF scheme follow the
MPF Schemes Ordinance.

212  OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

A MBRRMIEE
—GEZA=+—ALLEE

= — i i
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, 8 EEREIMA: siFEF
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ B (48)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC AEBRAELILINNBARNEEES
are required to participate in a state-managed retirement benefit £ /R PR [ BT A2 (R RV B AR KB ) 51 & o
scheme operated by the PRC government. The Group is required AEBERZRKREF G EBTEEERT
to contribute a certain percentage of basic payroll costs to the BERANETEDL  UAHK KER
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation HRAKEHFE ZHE—SEABFEIER
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to PR e
make the required contributions under the scheme.
BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 9 EFE@ETRkED
DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (@) EFREFETHASME
emoluments
The remuneration of each director and the chief executive for BFEERFETHRAEREEZZ
the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 is set out below: TR IZETEF-HR=+—H
IEFENMEETINT -
Employer’s
Salaries, contribution
allowances toa
and benefits  Discretionary retirement
Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
e EN BkEHE
ik REMET BiETEAL 25N st
Year ended BE_E-_-& HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2021 =A=+—HLEE FTERT FTERT FTET FTET TET
Non-executive directors FRTES
Mr. Xu Mingxing (M. XU") (Note (i)~ #%ERE &4 (M%)
(Hrztti)) 600 - - - 600
Mr. Tang Yue (‘Mr. Tang”) (Note (i) ESEE (TESRE)) (1a2y) 420 - - - 420
Mr. Pu Xiacjiang (‘Mr. Pu’) (Note fii) BT 44 (T4
(i) 600 76 - - 676
Executive director HiTES
Mr. Ren Yunan (“Mr. Ren’) FEBEE (MERE)
(Chief executive officer) (fTBAEE) 600 3,198 666 21 4,485
Independent non-executive BIFRITES
directors
Mr. Jiang Guoliang (‘Mr. Jiang”) BERAE (BEE) 240 - - - 240
Mr. Lee Man Chiu (“Mr. Lee") FNREE (FE%E) 240 - - - 240
Mr. Li Zhouxin (“Mr. Li") FAEMEE (FEE) 240 - - - 240
2,940 3,274 666 21 6,901

BN R ERARAE
B —FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_—Z

——F=ZR=t+—HLEE

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 9 EREMAEDR (@&
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EFRFETHAEME
emoluments (continued) €=
Employer's
Salaries, contribution
allowances toa
and benefits Discretionary retirement
Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
e 2 BIREE
ik REWREF WA BEMM iazt
Year ended HE_Z_ZF HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2020 ZA=1+—-HIEE TER TER FET FET TERT
Non-executive directors FRTES
Mr. Xu (Note (i) WIE () 583 - - - 583
Mr. Pu (Note (i) B Writi) 583 268 - - 851
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Ren (Chief executive officer) R4 (TBUER) 600 3,268 - 28 3,896
Mr. Cheng Yuk (‘Mr. Cheng’) (Note () BB8fB5e4E (T8R%4 ) (Histy) 15 - - 1 16
Mr. Luo Ting (‘Mr. Luo’) (Note (i) BAE (BREE)) WaH) 379 - - 26 405
Mr. Zhu Junkan (‘Mr. Zhu) (Note (i) RERTEE (TR%4D)
(i) 237 57 - 18 312
Independent non-executive BIENTES
directors
Mr. Jiang Bk 240 - = = 240
Mr. Lee ThE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Chan King Chung BRELBE (TR
(M. Chan K.C.) (Note (i) (mz) 30 - - - 30
Mr. Ui FhE 240 - - = 240
3,147 3,593 - 73 6,813

During the year ended 31 March 2021, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office (2020: Nil). Neither the chief executive nor any of the
directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

Notes:

0] Mr. Cheng and Mr. Chan K.C. resigned as an executive director
and an independent non-executive director of the Company on 16

May 2019 respectively.

(ii) Mr. Luo and Mr. Zhu retired as executive directors of the Company

on 23 August 2019.

(iii) Mr. Xu and Mr. Pu were appointed as non-executive directors of
the Company on 11 April 2019.

(iv) Mr. Tang was appointed as non-executive director of the Company

on 20 July 2020.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 9

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals during the year ended
31 March 2021 include one (2020: one) director whose

emoluments are disclosed above. The emoluments in respect

of the remaining four (2020: four) individuals are as follows:

ESEN REx (8)

(b) AREREHMAL

BE_Z_—F=HA=+—HIF
B -hgtmaiATtaE—% C
EITF ) EE ENEE
REX-BRGTER (ZE2ZE
1 0) ALZEHBIT -

2021 2020

—E-—F —EIEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Salaries and allowances e RoRAL 11,220 9,848
Discretionary bonuses B IS TEAL 14,500 7,900
Retirement scheme contributions BRIRETEHRR 72 72
25,792 17,820

The emoluments of the highest paid individuals who are not

the directors of the Company fell within the following bands:

TWIARBEEzmRSHMALZ
BN F LT EE -

Number of individuals

A

2021 2020
BT —F T F

Emolument bands (in HK$) HENEE BT)
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 775 £2,000,0007 75 1 1
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 723,500,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 75 25,500,000 7T - 2
HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 7 75 26,000,000 7T = 1
HK$6,000,001 — HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 775 26,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$15,000,001 — HK$15,500,000 15,000,001 75 215,500,000 75 1 -
4 4

During the year ended 31 March 2021, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the above highest paid individuals as
(i) an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or (i) as

compensation for loss of office as a director or management

of any members of the Group (2020: Nil).

RBEETZ--—F=ZA=+—HL
FE > ~EEBER U LRSS
A T2 AT BN (E A () DDA A< 5 B 5 A0
AREB BRI ()EREEER
FEANEABNESNEEERIRE
BEECE-_SF 8-

Eﬁﬁé?’“ﬁzﬁﬁﬁ’z}j
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RS MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

10 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 10 FRiS# (E%) B

2021 2020
—B-—F “TIEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET

Hong Kong profits tax: SANER
— Current income tax —BIHAFT1SHR - 2,004
— Over-provision in prior years —BFFEEBREEG (1,629) )
Deferred income tax (Note 26) IRIEFTISIR (075%26) (876) 1,263
Income tax (credit)/expense Fri8is (8%) B (2,505) 3,259

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit arising in or
derived from Hong Kong for the year.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved
upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

The two-tiered profits tax rates regime is applicable to one entity
within the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for the year.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

10 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

11

(CONTINUED)

The taxation on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the

theoretical amount that would arise using the Hong Kong profits tax

A MBRRMIEE
—GEZA=+—ALLEE

10 PRSI (E%) FX (&)

KFEEFFIERATBIENNEBRERES
ASIRREMEEANEHESEENELE

rate as follows: [N
2021 2020
- —E-BE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Loss before income tax FRPTISIAIES R (96,360) (58,343)
Calculated at domestic tax rate of 16.5% FZERIRE16.5%518
(2020: 16.5%) (CEZZF :16.5%) (15,899) (9,627)
Income not subject to tax BERRAUA (3,253) (474)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 8]0 BE % 3,394 3,036
Tax effect of temporary differences not AEREEFUEERECRBEE
recognised 8,008 o
Tax losses not recognised KRR IBEEE 8,386 12,244
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BB CHI R R IEE 18
recognised (736) (395)
Over-provision in prior years BEEEBREEE (1,629) 6]
Tax concession MBEE = (60)
Different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBEEHERE
operating in other jurisdiction MEBABZ AERE (776) (1,622)
Others Hth - 165
Income tax (credit)/expense FTisiR &%) /Fx (2,505) 3,259
—p =]
LOSS PER SHARE 11 SigE5$8
(a) Basic loss per share (a) EREAREIE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss

attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$93,855,000 (2020: HK$61,602,000) and the weighted
average of approximately 5,358,951,000 ordinary shares
(2020: 5,273,150,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the

year ended 31 March 2021.

SREXAGEBLREARDES
A FEMEE5484993,855,000% 7T (=
T TWE 61,602,000 7T) KE
EZE_—F=B=+—HIEF
EREETEERZZMETHEY
#5,358,951,0000% (ZZT =4 .
5,273,150,0008% & B A%) 5T& o

BT R AR AR
B —FFR
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RS MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

11 LOSS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

(b) Diluted loss per share

—GEZA=+—ALLEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the diluted
loss per share is equal to the basic loss per share. There is

no share option as at 31 March 2021 and the share options

is not included in the calculation of diluted loss per share as

they are anti-dilutive during the year ended 31 March 2021

and 2020.

12 SUBSIDIARIES

(b)

11 EikE5E (@

Biki#EER

REE_Z - —FR_ZTE_TF=
B=+—BIFE SK#E5E
ERNERERFBB - RZT T —
F=B=+—HIEBERERR T
BEERBEFEBERIET ABR
BB RRAAEEREEZZS
T FRIZEIEF=RB=+—H
IFFEREREEER-

12 HEAT

R_E_—F=-A=+—HZFEWER

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2021:

Name

G

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity
Edt At
RiEEBRER

Principal activities and place of operation

TEEBREEMA

EIBEWT

Particulars of

issued share

Percentage of

Progressive Building & Foundation
Company Limited

Bright Access (HK) Limited

B (&) BIRAH

ol

Chung Shun Construction Limited

BERRBRAR

OKG Financial Services Limited

BRI ERESHREERAR

OKG Global Investment Limited

BRZERNREERAR

218
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Hong Kong, limited
liability company

B8 BRAE

all

Hong Kong, limited
liability company
&8 BRRF

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

&8 ARAF

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

% BRAT

Provision of foundation engineering works, building

construction works and project management
business in Hong Kong

REBRUHETR EFTRETR
RIBEEEEK

Provision of foundation business in Hong Kong

REBRGMEER

Provision of construction works, which included
foundation works and ancillary services, and
construction wastes handling services
in Hong Kong

REBRHERTR SEMETRER
RERBURBEENERRS

Money lending business

HEED

Investment holding

REZR

capital interest held
BRTRAHE Frfsma ot

2021 2020

—E--F TETRE
Ordinary share HK$100 ~ 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
EBIR100E T 100% (%) 100% (B
Ordinary share HK$100 ~ 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
ZER100%ET 100% (E#2)  100% (B#2)
Ordinary share HK$100  100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
ZER100%ET 100% (%8  100% (B#2)
Ordinary share 100% (direct) 99% (direct),
HK$136,000,000 1% (indirect)
LER136,00000087T 100% (B)  99% (BH#)°

1% (B2

Ordinary share HK$100  100% (direct) 100% (direct)
EERI100% T 100% (BEH)  100% (E#)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 =" —F=H=+—HILFE

12 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 12 B AT (@)

Place of Particulars of
incorporation and issued share Percentage of
Name kind of legal entity Principal activities and place of operation capital interest held
Edti At
NGB RiEEERER TTEBREEY BRTRAHE PR E S
2021 2020
“EC-E “RTTE
OKLink Trust Limited Hong Kong, limited Trust and custody services Ordinary share 20% (direct), 20% (direct),
liability company HK$5,000,000 80% (indirect)  80% (indirect)
BRZREFXBRAT B BRAA EEREERSE LER5,000,0008T  20% (B8 20% (B
80% () 80% (i)

OKLink Investment Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands, Investments in securities and digital assets lending  Ordinary share HK$390,000100% (direct) 100% (direct)

limited liability business
company
OKLink Investment Holdings Limited ~ BEZEE EFRERYTEENBER 3% 12390,00058 7T 100% (B#)  100% (B
BRAH
OKLink Fintech Limited Hong Kong, limited Technology services Ordinary share 100% (indirect)  100% (indirect)
liability company HK$1,000,000
OKLink Fintech Limited &5 BRRAE BARES Z4##%1,000,000% 7T 100% (%) 100% (%)
Shenzhen OKG Network PRG, limited liability Technology services HK$50,000,000 (has been 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
Technologies Co., Ltd company paid up)
AITERERGEREZERAT  FE BRAT KRS 50,000,000 7 (B4R 100% ()  100% (B
QNYN (Hainan Pilot Free Trade Zone)  PRG, limited liability Technology services RMB10,000,000 (not yet ~ 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
Network Technologies Co., Ltd company paid up)
T (EHBEER) B&RER  HE ARAR KR A #10,000,00075 100% (i#2)  100% (Ri#z)
BRAA (M)
Jiangsu OKG Network Technologies  PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB10,000,000 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
Co., Ltd. (formerly known company (RMB5,000,000 has been

as “Jiangsu QNYN Network paid up)
Technologies Co., Ltd.")

IHEREZREERRERAT  FE BRAT RKfinhR AE%10,000,0007 100% (%8 100% (B4
(RITEUIER TR RR (AE#5,000,000cE&
BIRAF) ®)

Beijing OKG Network Technologies PR, limited liability Technology services RMB20,000,000 (has been 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)

Co., Ltd company paid up)
TREREREERRERAT FE BRAF BAARTS AE#20,000,0007T
(B8R

100% (Bi#)  100% (B

SR BB AR AT
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f A,
o =]

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_—Z

AT ERRIISE

——F=ZR=t+—HLEE

12 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

13

12 B2 (&)

Place of Particulars of
incorporation and issued share Percentage of
Name kind of legal entity Principal activities and place of operation capital interest held
At
NGk Rt EERER TEEBREEDY BETRAHE PR E S
2021 2020
—ZC-& —2TEF
Shanghai QNYN Network PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB20,000,000 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
Technologies Co., Ltd company (RMB5,000,000 has been
paid up)
DETHE—SEREREERAT  FE BRAT KR AR 20,000,0007T 100% (Bi#2)  100% (i)
(AE¥5,000,0007cES
)
Beijing OKG Network Information PRC, limited liability Provision of valued-added telecommunications RMB10,000,000 (not yet  100% (controlled 100% (controlled
Co., Ltd company services and holding ICP license paid up) via contractual  via contractual
arrangements)  arrangements)
TRBRERBREESERAR FE BRAF RELEECERBRFFLHANDREEER AK10,000,0007T 100% 100%
(GES:IS) (BRENTHE (BRANTHE
i) i)
Beijing OKG Media Cutture Co., Ltd.  PRC, limited liability Media RMB1,000,000 100% (controlled -
company (RMB50,000 via contractual
has been paid up) agreements)
TREREREEEEERAT e BRAT B AR #1,000,0007 100% -
(AR™50,000ERE) (BRENTHE
i)
Beijing CAS OKG Technology PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB20,000,000 80% (indirect) -
Co., Ltd. company (not yet paid up)
TRERFRERERAS e BRAT KRR AR #20,000,0007 80% (#2) =
(GES 1)

DIVIDENDS

No interim dividend was declared for the year ended 31 March

2021 (2020 Nil).

No final dividend was proposed by the Board for the year ended 31

March 2021 (2020: Nil).

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14 ME - -BERSRE
EQUIPMENT
Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
and Leasehold and office Motor

equipment improvements  equipment vehicles Vessel Total
HE  FARE

HaRRRE MEEE RIBLAERE pat:d e @t

HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TER TAR TAR TAR TAR

Cost ﬁEZtS
At 1 April 2019 A\ZE-hENBA-H 76,472 9,242 3,300 21,646 1,719 112,379
Additions HE 14,129 4510 3,836 15,866 - 38,341
Transfer from right-of-use assets BREAFEEEE 1,950 - - - - 1,950
Written off e - (138) (142) - = (280)
Disposals HE (14,683) - - (2,794) - (17,477)
Exchange adjustments ERHE - ©) (139) - - (144)
At 31 March 2020 A\ZETZF=-A=1+-H 77,868 13,608 6,856 34,718 1,719 134,769
Accumulated depreciation REHNE
At 1 April 2019 RIZ2—NENA—H 62,715 2,367 1,944 18,042 229 85,297
Transfer from right-of-use assets BRATEEEE 1,740 - - - - 1,740
Charge for the year (Note 7) FRZH (H77) 8,343 3,551 750 2,248 229 15,121
Writen off s = (139 ©9) 5 5 (236)
Disposals HE (13,913) - - (1,930) = (15,843)
Exchange adjustments ERER - (117) (15) - - (132)
At 31 March 2020 RZE_2F=A=+-H 58,885 5,663 2,581 18,360 458 85,947
Net book value IRERE
At 31 March 2020 RZ2-FFE=A=1+-H 18,983 7,945 4,275 16,358 1,261 48,822
Cost ﬁEZ!S
At 1 April 2020 N\ZEIRENA-H 77,868 13,608 6,856 34,7118 1,719 134,769
Additions AE 1,510 550 251 2,654 - 4,965
Disposals HE (17,629) (111) (70) (12,538) - (30,348)
Exchange adjustments ERAE - 881 406 - - 1,287
At 31 March 2021 AR —FZR=1+—H 61,749 14,928 7,443 24,834 1,719 110,673
Accumulated depreciation RENE
At 1 April 2020 RZZ2-FFENA—H 58,885 5,663 2,581 18,360 458 85,947
Charge for the year (Note 7) ERZE #iz7) 6,573 4,283 1,044 4,436 344 16,680
Disposals HE (16,460) (61) (13) (10,503) - (27,037)
Exchange adjustments ERARE - 387 127 - - 514
At 31 March 2021 RZBZ-f#=A=1+—H 48,998 10,272 3,739 12,203 802 76,104
Net book value FEE)?TE
At 31 March 2021 AN ET-E=F=+—H 12,751 4,656 3,704 12,541 917 34,569
During the year ended 31 March 2021, depreciation expense of REE T F=B=1+—HLEE"
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$11,974,000 L/EN @ %EZ REHTE R X 4911,974,000
(2020: HK$11,538,000) had been included in cost of sales. B (CE-FHF 111,538,000 7T) E5t

ANIHE RS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMEBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND
LEASES LIABILITIES

15 EFRAEREEREEAE

(a) Amounts recognised in the (@) MEEESHBIRRKRERZE

consolidated statement of financial
position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

i

mEMBRKRRBERUATRER
288

2021 2020
—E-—5 —ETFHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Office premises EEYNJES 1,802 34,893
Motor vehicles RE 982 1,265
2,784 36,158

Lease liabilities HEafE

Non-current JETRED - 12,047
Current e 2,317 23,931
2,317 35,978

During the year ended 31 March 2021, additions to the right-
of-use assets were approximately HK$2,624,000 (2020:
HK$2,557,000).

The Groups leases various machinery and equipment,
motor vehicles and office premises. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 3 years, but may
have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND
LEASES LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Amounts recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income

A MBRRMIEE
—GEZA=+—ALLEE

15 EREEEREEAH

e

(b) REFEEmKMEMEENE
RHEDZEEE

2021 2020
—E-—5 —EIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use  EREEEFEMS
assets
— Machinery and equipment — R R B = 379
— Motor vehicles —RH 283 143
— Office premises /N 21,265 22,088
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGNR 1,181 2,380
Expenses relating to short-term BT HATE B R FIER T AR
leases and other leases with N ZEIEF=A=+—H
remaining lease terms ended on W AIERZ
or before 31 March 2020 HthEEHERA B 4,125 7,594
Total amount recognised in profit or 18 AFEERAVAE S 28
loss 26,854 32,584

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the total cash
outflow for leases was approximately HK$24,896,000 (2020:
HK$32,452,000).

REE_ZE_—S=H=+—H
tEE HERSREEENA
24,896,000 T (ZE &£ !
32,452,000587T) °

BN R ERARAE
B —FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B Z "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

BmELEE

Speech
emotion
Money recognition
lenders system
licence licence Total
EEEE
BEA HARR
[ 58 [& 58 Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Cost ﬁEZIS
At 1 April 2019 A ZE—NFEUA—H 430 - 430
Additions RE - 8,804 8,804
At 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 and M2 _ZEFE=F=+—QH"
31 March 2021 _7_;?@@}?! Bk
“E-—#=B=+—H 430 8,804 9,234
Accumulated amortisation and REHBHERRE
impairment
At 1 April 2019 A ZE—HFENB—H =
Amortisation for the year (Note 7) FREHE Wa7) = 1,663 1,663
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 WZE-_ZE=ZF=+—HK
“Z2TZEMA—H - 1,663 1,663
Amortisation for the year (Note 7) FREHE Wat7) - 2,935 2,935
Impairment for the year FERRE 180 - 180
At 31 March 2021 RIEZ—F=B=+—H 180 4,598 4,778
Net book value FEE5$1E73"
At 31 March 2021 —E_—%=A=+—H 250 4,206 4,456
At 31 March 2020 A ZETTF=-A=+—H 430 7141 7,571

During the year ended 31 March 2020, additions to intangible
assets of approximately HK$8,804,000 represents the
consideration paid to the Institute of Automation, Chinese Academy
of Sciences (“CASIA”) for speech emotion recognition system
licence registered under the name of CASIA pursuant to an
agreement for a term of 3 years.

224  OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_Z

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

17

Amortisation of intangible assets of approximately HK$2,935,000
had been included in cost of sales for the year ended 31 March
2021 (2020: HK$1,663,000).

The intangible asset of HK$430,000 represents direct costs
incurred for the acquisition of a money lenders licence with
indefinite useful life and is stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The money lenders licence is considered by the directors of the
Company as having indefinite useful lives because it is expected
that the money lenders licence can be renewed continuously at
minimal cost and it will contribute net cash inflows for the Group
in the foreseeable future. The money lenders licence will not be
amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite. Instead it
will be tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an
indication that it may be impaired.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group performed an impairment
assessment based on fair value less costs of disposal with
reference to valuation performed by an independent professional
qualified valuer on its money lending licence. Market comparison
approach is adopted by reference to the recent transactions and
asking price of similar licence. The above fair value measurement
is categorised into Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Based on
the assessment, impairment losses of approximately HK$180,000
(2020: Nil) was recognised.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

16

RAMBRRIEE
——5=A=+—HLEE

mEAEE (8)

HE_ S _—FZA=+—HLEE>
LB E#4492,935,0008 T (CE_E
£ 1 1,663,000/87T) Bt ASHER K o

2B E430,00078 o W g A IR B {8
RERNBREABREENERENE I
AR REREY R

TABEFBB/REAEREERAER
FH > AR EAE R URER AT
EEIT N ERRRASEEENFRE
RAFHEM ERERFHEERER
ZHED AEHBREARRETEE A2
BREF—RREEAPRERAFEFT
B UE AR RETRER

PR —F=ZA=+—H > E2EBII
HELERGEME EWRE A ERBRRET
HEE RERBEAFEREEMAE
77 RET G K2 E MR F KA LUE
BB ERRAT SR LM AFE
AEVERAFEERIE Ko RET
& BFESDIREE1E49180,000/8 T (Z&
TEFEE) o

17 ST A9 %

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost RBIE AT EEREE 375,643 365,838
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABGNEHEE
profit or loss 28,560 27,645
Total 4Ect 404,203 393,483
Financial liabilities Eodct =R
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REER A ESREE 319,890 293,951
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFEFAEZNETHEE
through profit or loss 59,023 -
Total 4Ect 378,913 293,951
HERERERAN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18 B 5 K H fth UL ARR

2021 2020
—B-—F “TIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Trade receivables B 5 EWERR 60,845 65,097
Less: Provision for impairment losses B ORERREE (6,502) (3,878)
54,343 61,219
Loan receivables EWER 28,197 42,066
Less: Provision for impairment losses R EEEREE (8,639) (1,267)
19,558 40,799
Other receivables, deposits and HEWERIE  EE RTEIRIE
prepayments 21,613 26,417
95,514 128,435
Analysed as: DA
Non-current JERED 318 1,050
Current TREN 95,196 127,385
95,514 128,435
Notes: et
(@) Trade receivables are past due when a counterparty has failed to make a (@) EHFHATEREGNIBRIZCIE B3

payment when contractually due. The credit period granted to customers

is 7 to 75 days generally.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

)

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on the date of payment
certificate issued by customers or invoice date is as follows:

A MBRRMIEE
—GEZA=+—ALLEE

18 B 5 R HEMBUART (B)

Mzt (68)

b EREFHACSREEAMRAERAHN
B SRR RE DT T

2021 2020

-5 —E2TE2F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHT

0-30 days 0Z30H 47,560 57,470
31-60 days 31E60H 621 1,801
61-90 days 61F90H 22 547
Over 90 days BiBooH 12,642 5,279
60,845 65,007

As at 31 March 2021, trade receivables of approximately HK$12,642,000
(2020: HK$5,279,000) were past due. Based on past experience and
forward-looking estimates, the amounts are considered as recoverable.

The Group’s loan receivables arise from the money lending business.
The loan receivables are mainly secured by personal guarantee. The loan
receivables of approximately HK$20,422,000 (2020: HK$42,066,000) are
not overdue based on contractual maturity date as at 31 March 2021.
All the loan receivables are entered with contractual maturity within 1 to
2 years. Loan receivables are interest-bearing at a rate range from 5% to
12% per annum (2020: from 5% to 17% per annum).

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain
impaired assets. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES

RIEBE-_—F=A=+—H0 BZEWKENR
#912,642,00058 70 (ZZ Z =4 © 5,279,000
B BA - BN BEKRRATEEGE
ZEEHRAEWE -

© AEBZEBRERREREERE - FEIR
ERTEHBEAEREBER BRERLD
20,422,000 7t (ZZZE 4 42,066,000/
TR B —FE=ZRB=1+—HREEH3
BB ARG FARKRERE—EMEN
SHHARET L o BB IR FFIFEN F5%
E12% (ZEZZF  FRENFERE1T%)
=

@ EZRAMBRERRAEMENT RS

BREEE -FEBTEFATAERMRFE
TR

19 SHEERSHNAER

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETEHF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FET

Contract assets BHEE 109,286 109,783
Less: Provision for impairment losses R EEEEE (42,257) (5,354)
67,029 104,429

Contract liabilities ==K 4,726 1,610

BT R AR AR
B —FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

f A,
o =]

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

19

AT ERRIISE
—E=A=+—BILEE

CONTRACT ASSETS AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

As at 1 April 2019, contract assets and contract liabilities amounted
to approximately HK$90,742,000 and Nil respectively.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditioned on factors other than passage of time. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional.

Included in contract assets comprises retention receivables of
approximately HK$29,978,000 as at 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$53,359,000), after recognition of impairment loss of
approximately HK$9,611,000 (2020: HK$494,000), the carrying
amount of retention receivables was approximately HK$20,367,000
(2020: HK$52,865,000).

Retention receivables represented the monies withheld by
customers of contract works fully recoverable within 1 to 2
years from the date of completion of construction contracts, in
accordance with the terms specified in the relevant contracts.
Generally, upon satisfactory completion of contract work as set out
in the contract, partial of the retention money of such contract work
will be released to the Group, while the remaining will be released to
the Group upon the expiration of the defects liability period.

The retention receivables, before recognition of impairment loss,
would be settled, based on the expiry of the defect liability period,
at the end of the reporting period as follow:

19

SHNEERSHER (@)

R TE-NFHA—R aNEEREGHN
BB RI#7390,742,0008 T K Z

BMNEETBRAEBWEE TR
BIRABHNENER RASEBER
ARTERBRELONMARME - BF
R R AEFRGES SNEERERE
B 5 IR R °

FAGHNEERBEENR_SE-_—F=
B =Z+—HEWFRE£429,978,0008 75
—ET T4 153,359,000 7T)  FAFEED
FEEE499,611,0008 T (ZE-ZF .
494,000/ 7t) B BN RECREEASDN
20,367,000 ¢ (Z& - F £ : 52,865,000
BIT) ©
ERFESEEAINENaHNIRERIE
IREREGHNTHERE—EMEANR
BABEHRTENERBHURE - — KT
= RENFE AN T IRE T
MAEBMENIRERBEEHEEMTAE
) MEREER N RESTHE R ERT

RIS RERERR  BRRBERNKRS
HRERRREENEREN  FHWNT !

2021 2020
—E-—F TETERE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Within one year —FR 19,522 23,914
After one year —FE% 10,456 29,445
29,978 53,359

Details of contract liabilities are as follows: EHaEFBaT
2021 2020
T TETTE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAET FHET

Contract liabilities arising from: BHBEEER

Technology services = T AR %S 4,726 1,610

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 =" —F=H=+—HILFE

CONTRACT ASSETS AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

SHNEERSHER (B)

TRIRERF GHNEEAMI SRR
kst N

2021 2020
T —F ZTITF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Revenue recognised that was included REM T AGHNEEEIRA
in the contract liability balance at the B
beginning of the year 1,076 -

The increase in contract liabilities was mainly due to short-term
advances received in relation to the provision of technology

BNEREEMNT T EZmRRWEE BRHEK
M AR TS = K AR ZA TR 2R

services.
4
INVENTORIES 20 786
2021 2020
—EBE-—F TE T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Digital asset inventories: HFEERSH !
Proprietary digital assets EEYFTEE 9,856 =
Digital assets held on behalf of customers EXEERFENHEFTEE 59,023 =
68,879 -

The Group mainly held stablecoins as proprietary digital assets to
facilitate the digital assets lending business. These digital assets are
asset-backed and have a market price of approximately US$1 per
unit with minimal fluctuation. As such, fair value risk in relation to
these proprietary digital assets is considered to be insignificant.

The digital assets held on behalf of customers are comprised of
Bitcoin and stablecoins that are measured at fair value less costs
to sell with a corresponding liability due to the customer recorded
(under “liabilities due to customers”).

FEFETIZRFEREBFAERHEFTEE
DiREAERRFEERBEES -ZEH
FEEDHEESRR  mEBAREGEM
ETERBMFTEM AL AMZER
BEFEEZ AT ERRBEBRBMAE
o

RERBEFPFHENBFEERLEREREBE
RAEA ZEFLERERREBR AT ER
HEMASE UHRABRNERNEES
BEMEAEFAREIEETAR -

BT R AR AR
B —FFR
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R EMBRRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

—GEZA=+—ALLEE

21 INVENTORIES DUE FROM
COUNTERPARTIES

21 BFRHFFES

2021 2020

B —F —E2TEF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAET FAET

Inventories due from the Platform (Note a) FEWTF&=FE (ffsta) 3,399 -

Inventories due from other counterparties FEWH X FHEE (#/52b)

(Note b) 9,367 -
12,766 -

Notes: st -

@ The balance represented the lending of the Group’s digital assets to the (@) ERIERAEERTEEETFE -HEE
Platform. It included Bitcoin and stablecoins, beared floating interest rates A REEE  FHFEHNENF0.4%E
ranging from 0.4% to 7.7% per annum, and was unsecured and repayable 7.7% BEIEFERBREREERE BRLE
on demand. The loan principal and interest thereon are repayable by BEREMEERABINHRFTEENHKE
delivery of the outstanding units of the digital assets. EEBEE

(b) The balance represented the lending of the Group’s digital assets to (b) ERIEBBTARAERRTEEUETE
counterparties through the Platform in forms of stablecoins being the loan BEABRASBNEAETHFH BN

principal. The loans are secured by collateral (as explained below) and they
bear a fixed interest rate ranging from 8.0% to 10.2% per annum. The loan
principal and interest thereon are repayable by delivery of the outstanding
units of the stablecoins upon maturity date of the arrangements which fall

within 6 months from the end of the reporting period.

The relevant stablecoin are asset-backed and has a market price of
approximately US$1 per unit with minimal fluctuation. As such, price risk in

relation to this balance is considered to be insignificant.

In relation to the above-mentioned loan arrangements, the counterparties
are required to deliver Bitcoin, another type of digital assets, to the
Platform as collateral to maintain the LTV ratio at a level of ranging from
55% to 65% at inception. Additional collaterals are required to deposited
to the Platform at any time if the LTV ratio is increased to 80%. The
collateral will be liquidated (i.e. the collateral will be traded on the Platform
and converted into a certain amount of relevant digital assets) when the
LTV ratio is increased to 90%. Consequently, the Group believes the credit

risk associated with these loan receivables is low.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

A MBRRMIEE
—GEZA=+—ALLEE

22 BRTEFARmZER
HE

2021 2020
e —EoEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Listed securities held for trading: FEREN LEMES
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, — BB LTRAES  RRE
at quoted price 1,485 1,650
— Equity securities listed outside Hong —BBEI LHRAES  RRE
Kong, at quoted price 8,839 2,935
Life insurance policy (Note a) ANERE (Hfata) 2,658 2,688
Wealth management products (Note b) B ESR (HaEp) 10,850 17,293
Unlisted warrants (Notes ¢ and @) R EMBREESE Watckd) 3,658 2,741
Unlisted investment fund (Note e) JEEHREES Wate) 1,070 338
28,560 27,645

Notes:

Under the life insurance policy (the “Policy”), the beneficiary and
policy holder is the Group and the total insured sum is US$750,000
(approximately HK$5,887,000). The Group paid an upfront premium for
the Policy of approximately US$326,000 (approximately HK$2,556,000)
and may surrender any time and receive cash based on the cash value of
the Policy at the date of withdrawal, which is calculated by the insurer. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the cash value of the Policy
provided by the insurance company is the best approximation of its fair

value, which is categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The Policy was pledged to secure the banking facilities granted to the

Group.

Wealth management products represent investments in short-term
financial products issued by banks in the PRC. The wealth management
products at 31 March 2021 and 2020 were redeemed by May 2021 and
2020 respectively. The change in fair value up to date of redemption was

not significant.

Mzt -

RBAFRE (MRE))  SHEARRER
BARKTERKRBIREEAT750,000% 7T (49
5,887,000 70) ° A E B FLRE L (IRTHAMR
& 49326,0003 7T (492,556,0007870) K AJ BE
RRREBENEEAHZRERSEE
WEIRE (HDHREATE) cAATE

RBH RRATREZRERSEGENNH
AFEZRENE GREFENRATER
MNE=MR) ©

RECRFUERFIERERRITER

BHERENTENRTETZEHEM
ERZRE R _Z_—HER_TB_TE=
B=+—HBzBEUERA/NNR_ZE_—F
EZE_TFERAKEL -HEBEIHE
AT EEFLREK

BT R AR AR
B —FFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B Z "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22 {#AQF iﬁa’r)\#aﬁzanﬂ
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS HE (8
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued) Wizt - (58)

(© On 24 January 2019, the Group and an unrelated entity (the “Borrower”) c) RIE—NF—BIZ+HEA  AEBHE—H

entered into agreements whereby: i) the Group would provide to the EEAEERE (BB AL 5T L )&
Borrower a loan with a principal amount of HK$23,500,000; and ii) for EERAEE ARMEAREEE%23,500,00074
a consideration of HK$1, the Borrower would grant to the Group a right T2 EB#F; KifEEABUKEIBTharE
to subscribe for certain convertible preferred shares of the Borrower (the BIRHEFRBEEANE TBRRELR
“First Warrant”). (TEPRIRER) ©
The loan bears interest at 12% per annum and interest is payable monthly. ZERBREFE12%TE > A BEEBX
The loan may be redeemed by the Group at any time three months after J-ZEBRURAERRER B EHSBEE=
the date of the loan agreement or, if not early-redeemed, repayable by 18 B HEERFEE] > S A IRAEERE Bl REE
the Borrower on 25 January 2020. The loan was repaid by the Borrower ARZEZEF—AZ+AHEN - ZEXR
during the year ended 31 March 2020. EHEEAREE_Z_ZEF=A=+—
HiEFEEHE M-
The First Warrant entitles the Group to subscribe for certain convertible BRI T A E ) % S 53.952
preferred shares of the Borrower at a price of US$3.952 per share. The ETZBRIBBEEAZETIBRKESL
total subscription for the convertible preferred shares is not to exceed % o SREE AT A B ST AG 4B ﬁﬁﬂiﬂﬁiﬁiiﬁ%’\
one-third of the loan plus any accrued but unpaid interest. The First z:ﬁz—ﬂﬂfﬂﬂﬁgﬁﬂﬁﬂiiﬁﬂg
Warrant will expire on the earlier of: i) the date of the closing of the first RREFR N EREE 7¥<’“F’]’\ﬁ & 4
firm commitment, underwritten public offering to the general public of the NHEEBEAZERNEIERR HES
ordinary shares of the Borrower where the valuation of the Borrower is no ANEEFRVRFEB ((EERBERARHE
less than a certain value (the “Qualified IPO”); or ii) 23 January 2022. E) il Z2 2 2F—AZ+=0 UKRE
ERE) B

The loan had a fair value of approximately HK$21,655,000 and the ZERAFERVEERBHENS
stand-alone warrant had a fair value of approximately HK$1,845,000 at the 21,655,0008 T R BIURKREEATFENS
date of initial recognition. 1,845,000/ 7z ©

(d  On 25 September 2019, the Group and the Borrower entered into new () RIB—NFABZ+HRB FERHEEE
agreements whereby: i) the Group would provide to the Borrower a loan AT HheE Bt AEERAEEAR
with a principal amount of HK$23,500,000; and ii) for a consideration of A £ 5EA23,500,0008 T2 B ; KiffEE
HK$1, the Borrower would grant to the Group a right to subscribe for an ARUAKEI B TAAER R HEFRERE
additional Warrant (the “Second Warrant”, together the First Warrant, the Sh—EBEEREE (TE TR RERR - &R
“Warrants”). BB ARRRRER)

£

The loan bears interest at 6% per annum and interest is payable monthly. ZEREFEFE6%T B RAIBEAZ (T
The loan may be redeemed by the Group at any time after the Borrower ZERAIHAEBRREE A B WEH —
has received a new round of financing of not less than US$20 million or, if R E AR/ H220,000,000% ST & KE B BE (D] > o}
not early-redeemed, repayable by the Borrower on 25 September 2020. HARAELR AREEARZZEZ2F
Subject to a certain period advanced notice provided by the borrower, NWBZ+HEBEG REEARE—TH
the Group may also request redemption for certain days following the FRAIERIBAMMIER T > AEBETFAIRIE
drawdown date. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the loan has IHEENETERERBLE -NBE_SR
been partially repaid and the unpaid principal has been extended to 25 —f,z B=+—BLEE SBoEMREHE
September 2021. BOARAYNAEBRELEREZZ_—FNA
:+£ He
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZEZ

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(@

The Second Warrant entitles the Group to subscribe for certain preferred
shares of the Borrower at a price of US$3.57 per share. The total
subscription for the preferred shares is not to exceed one-third of the loan
plus any accrued but unpaid interest. The Second Warrant will expire on
the earlier of: i) the date of a Qualified IPO; or ii) 25 September 2022.

The loan had a fair value of approximately HK$21,251,000 and the
stand-alone warrant had a fair value of approximately HK$2,249,000 at the

date of initial recognition.

On 25 September 2020, after a negotiation between the Group and the
Borrower, the exercise price of the Warrants was adjusted to US$2.3718
per share and the expiration date was also extend to the earlier of: i) the
date of a Qualified IPO, or ii) 25 September 2023.

The fair value is based on the net asset value of the investment fund as of

the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2021, the Company would subscribe for further
US$830,000 (approximately HK$6,474,000) (2020: US$950,000
(approximately HK$7,410,000)) of the fund.

22 BN
B

haE

# (s

RAMBRRIEE
To—&=p=+ALER

AF(ES AR S0

(8

“:mmk%ﬁﬁ%$$§%ﬂ&aksw
EZBRIABEBEAZETELER-
%@%k@@TT&LM;ﬂZ—ﬁzf
MERESHERZATH B o B 17 B AEE
B EERERABEERMH; Hi)=
::Ehﬁ:+£ﬁ(u&$%%ﬁ)mﬁo

RERIBZEH ZERQATELSS
21,251,000 7t & S L SRR E B A FEA S
2,249,000 73 °

RIEZZFABI+HB KREEHRAG
BAEEE RREEZTHEECHAEES
R 172.3718% 7 BIHARTERE )& E
REXAHEEEMS i) "2 2=F1A
Z+HEH UREELRE) -

AFEDREREREPRREESZE
EFESE-

AR —F=A=+—H XA HES
Sh a8 A8 E £830,000E 7T (496,474,00078 7T)
(ZZ = Z4F : 950,000% 7T (497,410,0007%

7o) °

BT R AR AR
B —FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMEBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

23 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT/TRUST
BANK BALANCE HELD ON BEHALF
OF CUSTOMERS/BANK BALANCES
AND CASH

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a pledged bank deposit of
approximately HK$6,753,000 which carry interest rate at 2.4%
per annum. The bank deposit was pledged to secure the banking
facilities granted to the Group.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group held trust bank balance of
approximately HK$49,128,000 (2020: Nil) on behalf of customers.

N _ECEF=—RA=+—H XxEEEE

BMENZE2. 4%t EZ BBTFRITERY
6,753,000/ 7 ° IRTTIEA EE I LR A
E@EERIRTES-

A _E T —F=-HA=+—H AxEBEMRREK
HEFHRELIRIT4ERR449,128,00058 7T
(CEZZHF | o

e

2021 2020
—E-—F ZETEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET
Cash at banks R1TIRE 209,960 176,596
Deposits at banks RITER 26,592 62,561
Cash on hand FERS 183 414
236,735 239,571
By maturity: R 248
Bank balances IRITHEER 209,960 176,596
Deposits at banks WITER
— non-pledged fixed deposits maturing —R=1E 8 A EH Z KR
within three months EHAER 25,092 61,061
— non-pledged fixed deposits maturing —R=ES BRI FmIKH
over three months EHIER 1,500 1,500
236,552 239,157

Cash at banks earns interest of floating rates based on daily bank
deposits rates.

The carrying amount of bank balances and cash were denominated
in the following currencies:

IRITIRERBEARTERI RIS
IESIISE

RITHEB AR ZREENTI G
&:

2021 2020
—B-—F —BIEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FET

HK$ BT 214,414 227,105
RMB AR 13,240 4,275
us$ E7T 8,139 7,770
Singapore dollars N TT 942 421
236,735 239,571

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZE_Z

BANK BALANCE HELD ON BEHALF
OF CUSTOMERS/BANK BALANCES
AND CASH (CONTINUED)

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,

under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations,

the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for the other currencies

through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

23

RAMBRRIEE
——5=A=+—HLEE

% (K%
BRE®
& (@)

KAERT
FBZ
TESER

g0
AT
it

=\

ARBETEERRBAEMEY A
R4 AR B A st S BE B IR ARG RERE FTE
BERECEIIEXZHRITRARER
M HMER-

SHARE CAPITAL 24 Rg7s
Number of Share
shares capital
e E f&4s
HK$'000
FAT
Authorised: ETE
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, AZE—AFEEB—H-
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021, “EETFE=ZHA=4+—H-
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each “ECEFNA—HBR
B2 —F=ZA=+—H
SR EE0.0058 T2 EiER 20,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
At 1 April 2019 A _E—-NEMNA—H 5,262,000,000 26,310
Issue of ordinary shares upon exercise of ~ F{TEEERRIEB 21T ZiENR
share options (Note a) (Hizta) 63,870,000 319
At 31 March 2020 W_ZE_EF=H=+—H 5,325,870,000 26,629
At 1 April 2020 RIZEZZEFME—H 5,325,870,000 26,629
Issue of ordinary shares upon exercise of ~ F{TEEERRIEB 21T
share options (Note b) ZEi Hiate) 52,710,000 264
Repurchase and cancellation of ordinary &[0l K 5T 88 & 3@ A& (Wa2c)
shares (Note c) (8,070,000) (40)
At 31 March 2021 A B —F=H=+—H 5,370,510,000 26,853
D\ﬂﬁ;ﬁé?"“ﬂzﬁ@@j

—FER

_-q_
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

24

25

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2020, 63,870,000 share options were
exercised at a subscription price of HK$0.205 per share, resulting in the
issue of 63,870,000 new shares at par value of HK$0.005 each for a
total cash consideration of approximately HK$13,093,000. Approximately
HK$12,774,000 representing the difference between the subscription price
and the par value was added to share premium. In addition, approximately
HK$2,811,000 representing that portion of the share-based payments
reserve in relation to the exercise of the share options during the year
ended 31 March 2020, was transferred from the share-based payments

reserve to share premium account.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2021, 52,710,000 share options were
exercised at a subscription price of HK$0.205 per share, resulting in
the issue of 52,710,000 new shares at par value of HK$0.005 each for
a total consideration of approximately HK$10,806,000. Approximately
HK$10,542,000 representing the difference between the subscription
price and the par value was added to the share premium. In addition,
approximately HK$2,299,000 representing that portion of the share-based
payments reserve in relation to the exercise of the share options during
the year ended 31 March 2021, was transferred from the share-based

payments reserve to share premium account.

(c) On 19 October 2020, the Company repurchased a total of 8,070,000
shares on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration (excluded
expenses) of HK$1,161,000, and these shares were cancelled on 1
December 2020. Accordingly, the issued share capital of the Company
was reduced by HK$40,000, representing the nominal value of these
shares.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 12 August 2015 as to attract
and retain the best available personnel and to provide additional
incentive to the eligible participants under the Scheme.

Under the Scheme, the directors of the Company may at their
absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme,
grant options to any employees (full-time or part-time), directors,
substantial shareholders, consultants or advisors, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or
service providers of the Group, to subscribe for shares of the
Company. The eligibility of any participants to the grant of any
options shall be determined by the directors from time to time on
the basis of the directors’ opinion as to their contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 =" —F=H=+—HILFE

25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(CONTINUED)

The aggregate number of the Company’s shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share options
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the Company’s
shares in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under
the Scheme or any other share options schemes of the Company
if this will result in the limit being exceeded. The maximum number
of shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
as from the adoption date must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of all the shares in issue upon the date on which the shares are
listed and permitted to be dealt in the Stock Exchange. The 10%
limit may be refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of the
Company’s shareholders in general meeting provided that the total
number of Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share options schemes of the Company must not exceed 10% of
the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshed limit.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Scheme or any other share
option schemes of the Company in any 12-month period up to
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue. Where any further grant of options to a participant under the
Scheme would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the shares in issue, such
further grant must be separately approved by shareholders of the
Company in general meeting with such participant and his/her close
associates abstaining from voting.

25 FahatestEl (48)

RABRBZF B RAREEFNAEMBR
BB ERHBHKRITENAEHRITE
BB AR IE 1T (B P AE BT RURR D AR BT
RBBEX QB NEFEITRMDEERIZ0% -
HEENBBZ LR ARG REZE
WAREMEREMEB R BRI B
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AREAEMEBRESE S FTRUNFAR
ERREMAITFETHNRNBELRE &
HABBHRRG LT REEREFE
BEEAZAEETRNNI0%Z10% L
[RAJBERIREAEERATRERAER
FUEH  ERRBEZFE R REEM
HifERET RN ZFrABREEITE
MBJEE T2 AR RMNER > FEBH
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25

AT ERRIISE
—E=A=+—BILEE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(CONTINUED)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-executive directors of
the Company (excluding any independent non-executive director
who is the grantee). Where any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Company, or any of their respective close associates would
result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company to such
person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue and having an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5 million must be approved by the Company’s shareholders
at the general meeting of the Company, with voting to be taken by
way of poll.

The offer of a grant of share options might be accepted in writing
within 7 days from the date of the offer. An option may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during
a period as the directors may determine which shall not exceed
ten years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early
termination thereof. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of the grant of an option with a remittance in favour
of the Company within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 7 days from the date of the offer).

The subscription price shall be a price solely determined by the
board of directors of the Company and notified to a participant
and shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the offer date, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing prices of the Company’s shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business
days immediately preceding the offer date; and (i) the nominal
value of the Company’s share on the offer date.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on 12 August 2015, subject to early termination
provisions contained in the Scheme.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 =" —F=H=+—HILFE

25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME 25 BERGHESTEI (48)
(CONTINUED)

The following tables disclose movements in the Company’s share TRIFEBEANCIERETZIETBERER
options under the Share Option Scheme during the years ended 31 HE KR ZFFEZRA=+—
March 2021 and 2020: HiEFE
Number of share options
FEREYE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
Exercise at 1 April during the during the during the  at 31 March
Date of grant price  Exercisable period 2020 year year year 2021
RZEZEF KIZZ—F
mA—H =B=+—H
bichicg=hC B AT W RITHE FREL FERTE FEREH HRTE
Mr. Cheng - former employee  18.10.2019 HK$0.205 18.10.2019 - 17.10.2020 500,000 = (500,000) = S
of the Group (former
executive director)
BrE-~&EES 2% 0205%7w —E-hAETATN\HE
FHITES) +A+N\H "2 2E+A+TEH
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.01.2020 - 17.10.2020 2,000,000 - (2,000,000) - -
2-NE 020587T —E-ZE—F+/\HE
+A+TAH T RE+HATEH
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.04.2020 - 17.10.2020 2,000,000 = (600,000) (1,400,000) S
2% 02058 Z—EZZEME+/\BZE
+B+/N\H “2TZE+A+tH
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.07.2020 - 17.10.2020 2,000,000 - - (2,000,000) -
-3 020587 —BIBETA+/\HE
+A+TAH T RE+HATEH
Former employees of the 18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.10.2019-17.10.2020 23,835,000 - (2,190,000)  (21,645,000) -
Group
KAEEFIRE 2% 0205%7w —EB-hAETATN\HE
+B+/N\H “2TZE+A+tH
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.01.2020 - 17.10.2020 41,045,000 = (13,070,000) (27,975,000 -
2-NE 020587 —E-ZE—F+/\HE
+A+TAH T RE+HATEH
18.10.2019 HK$0.205 18.04.2020 - 17.10.2020 63,625,000 - (21,125,000)  (42,500,000) =
2% 02058 ZEZZEME+\BZE
+B+/N\H “2TZE+A+tH
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.07.2020 - 17.10.2020 63,625,000 = (13,225,000)  (50,400,000) -
2-NE 020587t —BEETA+/\HE
+A+TAH T RE+HATEH
Total 198,630,000 = (52,710,000)  (145,920,000) =
Aast
Exercisable at 31 March 2021 _
AR_E_—#=B=1+-H
oy
Weighted average exercise HK$0.205 - HK$0.205 HK$0.205 -
price
MEFHETEE 0.205%7T - 0.20587C 0.205%7T -

BRI B IER AR AR
- —EER
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 ZE " —F=-H=+—HIFE

25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(CONTINUED)

25 FahatestEl (48)

Number of share options
EREYE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
Exercise at 1 April during the during the during the at 31 March
Date of grant price  Exercisable period 2019 year year year 2020
RZE-NF -
mA—H =B=+-H
REEH TE  wiTEs i RITRE FREH ERTTHE FREXH BRATHE
Mr. Cheng - current employee 18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.10.2019 - 17.10.2020 - 2,000,000 (1,500,000) - 500,000
of the Group (former
executive director)
BrRE-FEERES —B2—hE 02058 —B-NETA+TNHE
FHITES) +A+N\H T 25+A+tH
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.01.2020 - 17.10.2020 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
2% 020581 —ZZZHF—-F+/\HE
+B+N\R B2 FF+A+R
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.04.2020 - 17.10.2020 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
—Z-NE 020587t _—EZENA+/\HE
+B+/N\H “Z2ZF+A+tH
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.07.2020 - 17.10.2020 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
2% 0205871 —ZEZELBE+N\HE
+B+N\R B2 BF+A+R
Current employees of the 18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.10.2019 - 17.10.2020 - 63,625,000  (39,790,000) - 23,835,000
Group
xEERES “B2—hE 02058 —B-NETA+TNHE
+B+/N\H “Z2ZF+A+tH
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.01.2020 - 17.10.2020 - 63,625,000  (22,580,000) - 41,045,000
2% 0205871 —ZE-ZE—FB+/\HE
+B+N\R B2 FF+A+tR
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.04.2020 - 17.10.2020 - 63,625,000 - - 63,625,000
—Z-NE 020587 _—E_ZENA+/\HE
+B+/N\H “ZZF+A+tH
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.07.2020 - 17.10.2020 - 63,625,000 - - 63,625,000
2% 02058 —ZZZHEtE+N\HE
+B+N\R “B2FF+A+tR
Total - 262,500,000  (63,870,000) - 198,630,000
A&t
Exercisable at 31 March 2020 67,380,000
AR_E_BF=R=1+-H
(ox:d
Weighted average exercise - HK$0.205 HK$0.205 - HK$0.205
price
MEFHTEE - 0.205% 7T 0.205% 7T = 0.205%7¢

The fair value of the options determined at the date of grant

using the Binomial option pricing model was approximately
HK$11,475,000 on the date of grant of share options on 18

October 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 =" —F=H=+—HILFE

25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME 25

(CONTINUED)

The following assumptions were used to calculate the fair values of
share options at the date of grant on 18 October 2019:

fsRetEstal (@)

UTMRRANRSEBRERELBER
E-NE+A+NR) ZAFE:

18 October

2019

—E—-hE

+B+NH

Grant date stock price RHBHRE 0.200

Exercise price T E 0.205

Expected volatility (Note a) TERR RIS (Hfata) 57.98%

Dividend vyield RN E 0%

Life to expiration (Note b) [ERER (H1atb) 1 year or less

—FFUT

Risk-free interest rate (Note ¢) R A= (fzte) 1.77%

Employee turnover rate (Note d) BERKE Batd) 5.25%

Early exercise multiplier RETHEH 2.20
Notes: Kzt

(@) Estimated based on the normalised historical volatility of the Group’s share (@) REAEBRRBEFTFEZREZERES

price over the previous year.

(b) Being the period of 1 year or less commencing on the date of grant based

on the contractual terms of the share options.

(c) Being the yield of HKD Hong Kong Sovereign Curve with a maturity life

equal to the life to expiration on the valuation dates.

(d) Being the employee turnover rate published by The Hong Kong Institute of

Human Resource Management.

The Binominal option pricing model has been used to estimate
the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions used
in computing the fair value of the share options are based on
the independent professional valuers’ best estimate. Changes in
variables and assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of
the options.

The Group recognised the total expense of approximately
HK$1,385,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$10,090,000) in relation to share options granted by the
Company.
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RS MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B Z "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

26 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the year are as follows:

26 RIERIAEE (AR

FA o RG] ﬁ‘k#ﬂ%ﬁﬁa’dﬁ’JLLﬁlﬁ
BE/ (B WAEMSBOREZSHMT

Depreciation ECL
allowances provision Total

BHEE
ERE BiERE izt
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) EERBEEE/ (BF) HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TET FTET
At 1 April 2019 RZZ—-NFEA—H (2,387) 845 (1,542)
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (Note 10) (0kR) /st AR (Ba£10) (2,153) 890 (1,263)

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-ZE-ZE=ZA=+—-AK

E£-LEMA—H (4,540) 1,735 (2,805)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss (Note 10) DU\/ (40F%) & Frzz10) 1,530 (654) 876
At 31 March 2021 RZE2Z-F#=B=+—H (3,010) 1,081 (1,929)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purpose:

ARESMBRREAZS & TIELER
BEERBECIEHE AU BHRBENF
B2 REIRIRAEER DA AOT -

2021 2020

—E—F ZEIEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Deferred tax assets LL%QIE BE - 450
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBE (R (1,929) (3,255)
(1,929) (2,805)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$127 million (2020: HK$63 million)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised
tax losses are losses of approximately HK$30 million (2020: HK$21
million) that will expire within 5 years. Other losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.
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A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 =" —F=H=+—HILFE

27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27 B 5 REtEE(TERER
2021 2020
—B-—F —BIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Trade payables (Note a) B ERMR (Wata) 83,246 55,714
Accruals and other payables FE 5T B A R H A FE (S BRTR 15,814 35,092
99,060 90,806
Note: WEE -
(@) Payment terms granted by suppliers are generally 15 to 80 days from the (@) HEFEFTHNNRER—REEREBEE
invoice date of the relevant purchases. & Z HEAEET15E808 A ©
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date is as RIFZZHEANE 5 ECRRERE DTN
follows: ik
2021 2020
& TETEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
0 - 30 days 0ZE30H 41,559 28,750
31 - 60 days 31E60H 11,870 2,072
61 — 90 days 61E90H 7,070 1,276
Over 90 days BiBo0H 22,747 23,616
83,246 55,714

28 LIABILITIES DUE TO CUSTOMERS 28 EIERARE

2021 2020
—E-—F TETEF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHET FET

Liabilities due to customers ENERERE
Fiat currency liabilities FEEEBEE 49,128 =
Digital assets liabilities BFEEEE 59,023 =
108,151 -

R E IR A R A T
TeoCiky M3
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28

29

30

31

AT ERRIISE
—E=A=+—BILEE

LIABILITIES DUE TO CUSTOMERS
(CONTINUED)

Liabilities due to customers arise in the ordinary course of the
Group’s trust and custody business. Based on the respective rights
and obligations of the Group and its customers under the custody
agreement, digital assets and trust bank balance held by the Group
are recorded as assets of the Group with a corresponding liability
due to the customer recorded. The measurement of such digital
assets is based on their fair values with changes in fair values were
recognised in the “liabilities due to customers”.

AMOUNT DUE TO A FORMER
SUBSIDIARY

The amount due was non-trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest
bearing and had no fixed terms of repayment.

AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO A RELATED
PARTY

The amount due from a related party was non-trade in nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The amount due to a related party was non-trade in nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

LOAN FROM A RELATED PARTY

Included in loan from a related party is a principal portion of
approximately HK$135,000,000 which was unsecured, interest
bearing at 5% per annum and payable within one year and
an interest portion of approximately HK$13,500,000 (2020:
HK$6,750,000). The loan has been extended to 29 December
2021 during the year ended 31 March 2021. The loan is subject to
review at any time and to the lender’s overriding right of withdrawal
and immediate repayment on demand. The related party is a
company controlled by the directors of certain subsidiaries of the
Company for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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EitER&E (@)

BNERaBEENAERNEERTE
EBNEBEBBER -REAEERE
ERREERRRTNERENREE
FEEFENRTEE KR EERITERK
TEATEEHEREERERRENE
E-REYUFEERATEFERHERT
BN EAZTFRaEINESE

FE A — e A Bt B 22 B) 7R I8

ZENRIBERFEZEE  BIEE 5t
B EE EEMRIER

FEYs 13— RAE S I

Bl —RRESMERFEZEE  EIE
T ERBEREREER -

EN—GRESRERIFEZME ER
RSt R RAREREE-

—HRAERTEM

—RBIER EROERIERREN %
FEREBER—FREEZASERDH
135,000,0007% 7t K ] 2 88 434913,500,000
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A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

32 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED HeRERERME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of loss before income (@) FRFAISIRAIESIERKEFRS
tax to net cash generated from/(used / (FRA) ZREFEHIR
in) operations
2021 2020
S BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAT
Loss before income tax PRETISIAIES B (96,360) (58,343)
Adjustments for: TR IERE .
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - BiRE &R EHITE 16,680 15,121
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 21,548 22,610
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH 2,935 1,663
Written off of property, plant and equipment iS5 % ~ BB K & & - 44
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME BB R E 2 W
equipment (1,362) (797)
Gain on early termination of lease and REZIIHERERAERR
modification of lease (2,277) -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERBASZEE -
Impairment loss of intangible assets B EEZRERBE 180 -
Impairment loss on financial assets and THMEERGHNEEZRERBE
contract assets 46,892 5,375
Net (gain)/loss on change in fair value of BAFEFABRZEMEE
financial assets at fair value through profit NEES (8% /HE3E
or loss (954) 429
Interest income FBUA (636) (3,009)
Interest expense FERZ 7,933 9,131
Share-based payment expense MR AERZ IRFEL 1,385 10,090
Operating (loss)/profit before working SEESBIHCE (58 E5H
capital changes (4,036) 2,321
Decrease/(increase) in trade and B REMEWERTURLD /(L)
other receivables 23,357 (4,963)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BHEERLD (M) 497 (19,768)
Increase in inventories FEEMm (68,879) -
Increase in inventories due from EWHFHEEEM
counterparties (12,766) -
Increase in financial assets at BATEF ABRZ SR AL
fair value through profit or loss (5,739) (4,585)
Increase in trust bank balance held REREPFE ZETRITARRIEGMN
on behalf of customers (49,128) -
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B3 REMBELRIIEM, (L)
other payables 7,831 (3,170)
Increase in contract liabilities BHEEEM 2,892 1,570
Increase in liabilities due to customers AR aEEM 108,151 —
Net cash generated from/(used in) operations #&& P18,/ () 2IRE 24 2,180 (28,595)

NERERERAT
BeoCiky M
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_—Z

32 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

financing activities

——F=ZR=t+—HLEE

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

SaRERERME (B

(b) MEESHEEZAEZHR

As at As at
1 April Cash Non-cash Exchange 31 March
2020 flows changes adjustments 2021
RZIZZ® RZEZ—§
mAE—HB HERE ERSEH EREE =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FHET FAET
Loan from a related party —2LEERER
(Note a) (Hfzta) 141,750 - 6,750 = 148,500
Amount due to a related party FE{—% REE I 14,776 (5,551) 1,019 10,244
Lease liabilities (Note b) HE&E (W) 35,978 (20,771) (14,354) 1,464 2,317
Total liabilities from financing RAEEZENELZ
activities BER%E 192,504 (26,322) (7,604) 2,483 161,061
As at As at
1 April Cash Non-cash Exchange 31 March
2019 flows changes  adjustments 2020
RIZB—NE A\ TERIERE
mAE—H Reng FREEH ERAEE ZA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TR TR FRT TAT
Loan from a related party —2EERER
(Note a) (Hizta) 143,438 (8,438) 6,750 - 141,750
Amount due to a related party FE{S—%RHEH A - 14,404 - 372 14,776
Bank borrowings RITEE 25 (25) = = =
Lease liabilities (Note b) HESE (ztp) 58,456 (24,858) 4,937 (2,557) 35,978
Total liabilities from financing FAEZEELZ
activities BEREE 201,919 (18,917 11,687 (2,185) 192,504
Notes: Wit -
(a) Non-cash changes represent accrued interests on the outstanding (@) RS EEISE R AT ERIEH MRS
principal balance. FE e
(b) Non-cash changes represent addition to lease liabilities, interest (0) FRLEHEREREEE HER

arising from lease liabilities, early termination of lease and

modification of lease.
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A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 &2 "2 - —F=B=+—HIFE

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control,
jointly control or exert significant influence over the other party
in making financial or operational decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common control or
joint control. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

(@ In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group entered into the following
transaction with its related party in the ordinary course of
business during the year:

33

RER3RS

REHAZERRENES B EHNE
TEH AR A R B RE W H M 51T E
HENMALT - HZ BEE\,\HWE o Bk
SEGD THGARBES -BERAAE
AHEAMERS -

@ MBEeMBRREMMAAIRES
BRAN RER AEBRBHEHRER
R—RREBBETETUTRRS .

2021 2020
=2 —F “ECE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHT
A company controlled by HETHBAR —REFEG AT
a director of certain subsidiaries
— Repayment of lease liabilities —EEHEAaR 614 614

(b) The emoluments of the directors and senior executives
(representing the key management personnel) during the year
are disclosed in Note 9.

34 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group, in the ordinary course of its business, is involved
in various claims, suits, investigations, and legal proceedings
that arise from time to time. Although the Group does not
expect that the outcome in any of these legal proceedings,
individually or collectively, will have a material adverse effect on
its financial position or results of operations, litigation is inherently
unpredictable. Therefore, the Group could incur judgements or
enter into settlements of claims that could adversely affect its
operating results or cash flows in a particular period.

34

b BEERSHKRITHRAR BIEZEEEA
B) RERBIF I IO EE

EARE

AEETHABREBBARPIBIIRE
ERR S BAEREERF BEARE

?Eﬁﬂf?cﬁuiﬁxiéﬁrﬁ']m%(TIE'J_}Z
B R TeHEMBR ISR EXEE
EZE?(T\%‘J%Z%"\ﬁ&'@&rm%%&uﬁ
Ko AL REBPIEEEH RBEH R
BRBE S EA M R R M ol sE AR EE (T
AREREANCEXEHREREEMT
lEE-3

Eﬁiﬁ?’“ﬁxﬁﬁﬁ’&j
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35 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 35 HE—MMEBAE
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group disposed the HEZZTZF-_B=1+—HLEFE &
entire equity interests of Win Target Engineering Limited (“Win E B/ LIRS E4£2,980,000/8 TE A A T
Target”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, for cash HTHBARZz RHEZTHERETRES
considerations of approximately HK$2,980,000 to a director of Rar (& > KRB Z2EWBAR)
certain subsidiaries of the Company. ZEERRERE -
The aggregated net assets of the subsidiary as at the date of RHERR WBRAREEFERIERT
disposal are set out as follows: [N
2020
TETERE
HK$’000
FAET
Net assets disposal of: FTHEEEFE
Trade and other receivables B 5 kB EW AR 3
Contract assets BHEE 2,663
Cash and bank balances & R IRITAERR 338
Trade and other payables B 5 K EMEN IR ®)
Amount due to the Group FE{S A EERIE (12)
Net assets BEEFE 2,987
2020
ZEIERF
HK$'000
FET
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—BHBATEIE !
Cash consideration receivable fEW—REEB S 2 IRERE (B5£30)
from a related party (Note 30) 2,980
Net assets disposal of FTHEEEFE (2,987)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMEBAREE (7)

248 OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2021 Annual Report



35

36

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 =" —F=H=+—HILFE

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY
(CONTINUED)

Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of
the disposal of a subsidiary:

35 HE—RIMBAT (48)

MEE—RBNBARARMZREERREE
BYFREZ DM

2020
—EoEE
HK$ 000
FH7

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary FTHENBARRERIREEEY

disposed of

(338)

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents HERREEEWERE (338)

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 7 May 2021, the Group announced that Glory Port International
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as a vendor
(the “Vendor”), and Mr. Ip Ying Chau, a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company, as the purchaser (the “Purchaser”)
entered into the sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which
the Vendor agreed to sell and the Purchaser agreed to acquire
the three ordinary shares of Jia Jian Global Limited (the “Disposal
Company”), being the entire issue share capital of the Disposal
Company, for the consideration of approximately HK$8.0 million.

36 HEHMEIIE

R_E_—FRaRBtH xEHEEM R
BERARAR AR Z2ENRBEAR
EnBEn (BA))) REEMNLEE (ERE
ETWBRBZER 1FRER (BAY)
SUBEEWE Bt BEHREHEME
FERWEERRKAERAR ((HEA
) z=kEERK HEATZ25E
BiTRA EBEHNRB.0REET

EiR EEERARAE
B —FFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

—GEZA=+—ALLEE

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position

37 zgﬁﬁﬁtﬁﬂkiﬂﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ

(@) MHBRAER

2021 2020
—E_—F —Z2TEHF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Jiok=3 FET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Interests in subsidiaries RB AT NER 91,040 157,832
Current assets REMEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K ELthFEURBR R 693 678
Amounts due from subsidiaries & W & A B 7018 100,338 99,475
Bank balances and cash IRTTHERKRIRE 67,906 68,043
168,937 168,196
Total assets BEHEE 259,977 326,028
EQUITY L
Capital and reserves B K HEE
Share capital Rg 7 26,853 26,629
Reserves EE 37(b) 192,008 263,616
Total equity R 4EEE 218,861 290,245

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 B2 =" —F=H=+—HILFE

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 37 EAE MR R KRR
POSITION AND RESERVE 28 (&)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
(a) Statement of financial position (@) BB RET (@
(continued)
2021 2020
—E-—F TETERE
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FAERT FAET
LIABILITIES afE
Current liabilities wREaE
Trade and other payables B 5 K E BN IRR 2,550 2,834
Amount due to a former FE —REIBIM B A BRIA
subsidiary 10,641 10,641
Amounts due to subsidiaries  FE{T I B AT RIE 27,925 22,308
41,116 35,783
Total equity and liabilities 1%k & {E42%E 259,977 326,028
Net current assets BRBEE 127,821 132,413
Total assets less current BEEREBRTEBAR
liabilities 218,861 290,245
The Company’s statement of financial position was approved KRB ZHBRARBENR ZEZ—F/<A
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 THNHESEESHERIRERNE > Wl
June 2021 and are signed on its behalf by: THANTREREE .
Mr. Ren Yunan Mr. Pu Xiaojiang
EEBE BT d
Director Director
£ EZE

R R ERARAT
e rigy 2
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 HEZ_Z—

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

(b) Reserve movement

—GEZA=+—ALLEE

37 BB MBI AR HE

s

/2N
21 (

i

)

(b) fHEEH

Retained
Share-based earnings/
Share payment Capital Special (accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses) Total
U8 2
Btz RERFH,/
R EE INER= LN LRl (RetEH) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FER TET THET TER FTET
Balance at 1 April 2019 RIS-NFNE BN 212,067 - 7,922 94,795 349 315,133
Loss and total comprehensive loss R EREEESEEE
for the year - - - - (74,381) (74,381)
Share option expense ERERS - 10,090 - - - 10,090
Exercise of share options TEERE 15,585 2,811) - - = 12,774
Balance at 31 March 2020 RIBZZE=A=1+—BH
Ha 207,652 7,279 7,922 94,795 (74,032) 263,616
Balance at 1 April 2020 RIZZSFNA—-BNER 227,652 7,279 7,922 94,795 (74,032) 263,616
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ EREERZEESEEE
for the year - - - - (82,414) (82,414)
Share-based payment expenses DURHAERZ MHEZ - 1,385 - - - 1,385
Exercise of share options ITfeRERL 12,841 (2,299) - - = 10,542
Lapse of share options R R - (6,365) - - 6,365 -
Repurchase and cancellation of shares f&[E] K sE 851217 (1,121) - - - - (1,121)
Balance at 31 March 2021 RZE-—£=A=+—0AK
EeT 3 239,372 - 7,922 94,795 (150,081) 192,008
Special reserve R

Special reserve represents the difference between the fair

value of the shares of a subsidiary of the Company acquired

pursuant to the reorganisation in prior years over the nominal

value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefore.
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Five Years Financial Summary

I FMBHE

Year ended 31 March
BHE=B=1+—HL=EE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ZEZ-F ZITHE ZENAF ZEZE-NF ZZ—tHF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAET FET FET FET
Revenue Wz 452,964 570,320 364,906 298,625 353,038
Cost of sales tHE A (406,399) (527,728)  (334,423)  (227,943)  (312,746)
Gross profit EF) 46,565 42,592 30,483 70,682 40,292
Other income, gains and losses HAMUg A~ s R B8 16,162 4,978 4,011 2,740 5,155
Fair value change on investment X E¥)ZE A FEESH)
properties - = S = (834)
Administrative and other operating 17U EL{thAS & B =%
expenses (104,082) (91,407) (53,302) (38,758) (29,543)
Impairment losses on intangible  $E L& E R E 12
assets (180) - - - -
Impairment losses on financial TREERGNEERE
assets and contract assets 1B (46,892) (5,375) (2,367) - -
Operating (loss)/profit i (518) /A (88,427) (49,212) (21,175) 34,664 15,070
Finance costs BhE A A (7,933) (9,131) (6,868) 2,917) (1,087)
(Loss)/profit before income tax  FRFF{SHiEI (5518) &F (96,360) (58,343) (28,043) 31,747 14,033
Income tax credit/(expense) FriSMIER,/ %) 2,505 (3,259) 808 6,379) (5,674)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (51R) /EF (93,855) (61,602) (27,235) 25,368 8,359
BN TR AR AR

B —FFR
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Five Years Financial Summary

HFRBHHE

Year ended 31 March
BHE=B=1+—HLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
B E2CE2F “Z-NEFE ZZ2-N\EFE ZZ2—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET TFHET FHET FAET
Other comprehensive (loss)/ B2 mE (B58) WA
income
ltem that may be reclassified BREoJjEEM THEE
subsequently to profit or loss: EBmzBH
Exchange differences arisingon ~ EBINEFEEZ
translation of foreign operations PE = RE 1,255 (2,120) 1,490 = =
Total comprehensive (loss)/ FRzZE @EE) WA
income for the year 4E%E (92,600) (63,722) (25,745) 25,368 8,359
Basic and diluted (loss)/ BREXREE (55i8)
earnings per share gt
(HK cents) CEAL) (1.75) (1.17) (0.52) 0.48 0.17
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Five Years Financial Summary

AERBRE
As at 31 March
®H=BR=+—H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
g BT EZ—hF B-N\FE E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET TR TR FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BB R R E 34,569 48,822 28,033 29,020 62,718
Investment properties i a=LYES - - - - 21,300
Intangible assets BREE 4,456 7,571 430 430 430
Right-of-use assets FREEE 2,784 36,158 = = =
Prepayment SEINE O 318 1,050 - - -
Deferred tax assets RLERIEE E - 450 663 - -
42,127 94,051 29,126 29,450 84,448
Current assets RENEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 M HMEUWERR 95,196 127,385 124,410 169,187 152,829
Contract assets BNEE 67,029 104,429 90,742
Gross amounts due from ElREREHNTRE
customers for contract work FIEMEEE - - - 35,922 43,891
Inventories =& 68,879 = = = =
Inventories due from
counterparties EWHFAHEE 12,766 = = = =
Financial assets at fair value BATEFABRZ /M
through profit or loss BE 28,560 27,645 9,044 1,194 82,571
Amount due from a related party ~ FEU—&REAE S FIAE 1,980 2,980 = = =
Tax recoverable BILEE 2,741 401 2,230 179 14
Pledged bank deposit BIRIRRITER - 6,753 6,611 6,500 -
Trust bank balance held on behalf &R ZE L FE 2 550IRIT
of customers Ry 49,128 = = = =
Bank balances and cash IRITEGRKRIRE 236,735 239,571 332,495 330,638 52,061
563,014 509,164 565,532 543,620 331,366
Total assets BEEHE 605,141 603,215 594,658 573,070 415,814
EQUITY i
Capital and reserves B RHEE
Share capital i 26,853 26,629 26,310 26,310 26,310
Reserves (i 192,720 274,514 315,372 344,118 318,750
Total equity HEm4a%E 219,573 301,143 341,682 370,428 345,060

BRI B IER AR AR
- —EER
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Five Years Financial Summary

h FREEE
As at 31 March
“=A=+—A
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ZEZ-F ETTEFE “ET-hE E-N\E ZtH
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FExT FET FET
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities JEREEE
Borrowings Ef=] - - 153 192 4,333
Lease liabilities HEaE - 12,047 = = =
Deferred tax liabilities REILRIARE 1,929 3,255 2,205 3,550 5,848
1,929 15,302 2,358 3,742 10,181
Current liabilities TEaE
Trade and other payables B R EMEMERR 99,060 90,806 92,772 43,880 29,287
Contract liabilities aNER 4,726 1,610 = = =
Gross amounts due to customers  FEI A B4 TER
for contract work TE48%E - - - 1,981 431
Liabilities due to customers ENEREaE 108,151 = = = =
Amount due to R —RERi B AR
a former subsidiary ;I8 10,641 10,641 10,641 = =
Loan from a related party —SAESFER 148,500 141,750 143,438 136,688 =
Amount due to a related party e —RBaE A IE 10,244 14,776 = = =
Borrowings Bl - - 179 4,819 29,888
Lease liabilities HEaE 2,317 23,931 = = =
Current income tax liabilities BERFr SR as - 3,256 3,588 11,532 967
383,639 286,770 250,618 198,900 60,573
Total liabilities BREE 385,568 302,072 252,976 202,642 70,754
Total equity and liabilities EEkBEEE 605,141 603,215 594,658 573,070 415,814
Net current assets BREBEE 179,375 222,394 314,914 344,720 270,793
Total assets less current BEBRERRDEE
liabilities 221,502 316,445 344,040 374,170 355,241
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